### Patient-centered care in Swiss acute care hospitals: addressing challenges in patient experience measurement and provider profiling

### Inauguraldissertation

zur

Erlangung der Würde eines Dr. sc. med. vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Basel

von

### **Stefanie Bachnick**

aus Rostock, Deutschland

Basel, 2018

Originaldokument gespeichert auf dem Dokumentenserver der Universität Basel edoc.unibas.ch

# Genehmigt von der Medizinischen Fakultät auf Antrag von

Prof. Dr. Michael Simon Dr. Dietmar Ausserhofer Prof. Dr. Marianne Baernholdt Prof. Dr. Evridiki Papastavrou

Basel, 3. Oktober 2018

Dekan Prof. Dr. Primo Leo Schär

## Contents

	List	of Abbreviations	7
	Ack	nowledgements	8
	Sum	mary	9
1	Intr	oduction	13
	1.1	Patient-centered care	14
		1.1.1 Definition $\ldots$	14
		1.1.2 Conceptualization $\ldots$	14
	1.2	Providing PCC in hospital settings: A conceptual model .	17
	1.3	Challenges to the provision of PCC	17
	1.4	Theoretical reflection: How quality improvement could steer	
		PCC	19
		1.4.1 Quality improvement through change	20
		1.4.2 Quality improvement through selection	20
	1.5	State of research in the field of PCC	21
		1.5.1 Measurement of PCC	21
		1.5.2 The association between PCC and outcomes	22
		1.5.3 What improves the provision of PCC	23
		1.5.4 PCC in Switzerland – What is the current state?	23
	1.6	Research gap and rational of this dissertation	25
	1.7	References	26
2	$\mathbf{Stu}$	dy aims	33
3	Mai	tching Registered Nurse services with changing care	
U	den	ands (Match <sup><math>RN</math></sup> ): study protocol of a natural	
	exp	eriment multi-centre study	35
	3.1	Abstract	36
	3.2	Introduction	37
	3.3	Background	37
		3.3.1 Quality of the Swiss Healthcare System	37
		3.3.2 Implementation of the DRGs in Switzerland	37
		3.3.3 Effects of DRGs	38
	3.4	Aims	39

		3.4.1	Conceptual framework	39
	3.5	Design	n and methodology	40
		3.5.1	Setting and sample	41
		3.5.2	Variables and measurement	42
		3.5.3	Data collection	44
		3.5.4	Data analysis	44
		3.5.5	Ethical considerations	45
		3.5.6	Validity and reliability	46
		3.5.7	Stakeholder involvement	46
	3.6	Discus	ssion	46
		3.6.1	Limitation	46
	3.7	Concl	usion	46
	3.8	Ackno	wledgement	47
	3.9	Fundi	ng	47
	3.10	Confli	ct of interest	47
	3.11	Autho	or contributions	47
	3.12	Suppo	rting information	47
	3.13	Refere	ences	47
4	Pati Imp	ient-C licit F	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care	1 Ə
4	Pati Imp	ient-C licit F	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care	1 9 70
4	Pati Imp Hos	ient-C licit F pitals:	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care a cross-sectional multi-center study	54
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care a cross-sectional multi-center study act	<b>53</b> 54 55
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care a cross-sectional multi-center study act	<b>53</b> 54 55 56
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act         act         luction         ods         Design	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57 57
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act          act          buction          butter          butter <td><b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57 57 57</td>	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57 57 57
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6 Data o	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act         act         buction         buction	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57 57 57 57
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6 Data o Data o	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act         act         luction         bds         Design         Design         Variables and measurement         Outcome variable-patient experiences         Predictor variables: nurses work environment and         implicit rationing of nursing care         Control variables: Patient characteristics and         hospital characteristics         collection and management         collection and management	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57 57 57 57 57 57 57
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6 Data a Result	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act         act         buction         buction	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57 57 57 57 57 57 57 59 60
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6 Data a Data a Result 4.6.1	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act         act         button	<b>53</b> 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 57 57 57 57 57 57 57 59 60 60
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.3	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6 Data a Result 4.6.1 4.6.2	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act	1         2         53         54         55         56         56         56         56         56         56         57         57         57         58         59         60         60         60         60
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.3 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6 Data a Result 4.6.1 4.6.2 Discus	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act	1         2         53         54         55         56         56         56         56         56         56         57         57         57         58         59         60         60         60         63
4	Pati Imp Hos 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.3 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	ient-C licit F pitals: Abstra Introd Metho 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.3.6 Data a Result 4.6.1 4.6.2 Discus 4.7.1	entered Care, Nurse Work Environment and         Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care         a cross-sectional multi-center study         act         act         buction         buttor         butt	1         2         53         54         55         56         56         56         56         56         56         56         56         57         57         57         58         59         60         60         63         64

	4.9	Funding	65
	4.10	Conflict of interests	65
	4.11	Ethical approval	65
	4.12	References	66
5	Insu	ifficient variance between providers with patient	
	exp	erience surveys: methodological considerations and	
	find	ings from a Swiss multicenter study	<b>71</b>
	5.1	Abstract	72
	5.2	Introduction	73
	5.3	Materials and methods	75
		5.3.1 Intra-class correlation 1 (variance) $\ldots$ $\ldots$	75
		5.3.2 Intra-class correlation 2 (reliability)	75
		5.3.3 Risk adjustment	76
		5.3.4 Material	76
		5.3.5 Design $\ldots$	76
		5.3.6 Data source and study population	76
		5.3.7 Outcome variables for provider profiling	77
		5.3.8 Control variables for risk adjustment	77
		5.3.9 Ethical Considerations	78
		5.3.10 Analyses	78
	5.4	Besults	78
	0.1	5.4.1 Sample describtion	78
		5.4.2 Variance and reliability for unadjusted and adjusted	10
		models	78
	5.5	Discussion	82
	5.6	Conclusion	84
	5.0 5.7	Acknowledgments	8/
	5.8	References	8/
	0.0		04
6	Pre	ferences matter when measuring patient experiences	
	witł	h hospital care – A cross-sectional multi-center study	89
	6.1	Abstract	90
	6.2	Introduction	91
	6.3	Methods	92
		6.3.1 Design	92
		6.3.2 Setting and sample	92
		6.3.3 Variables and measurement	92
		6.3.4 Outcome variable: Patient perceptions of PCC levels	93
		6.3.5 Explanatory variables: Patient preferences	93
		6.3.6 Control variables: patient and hospital characteristics	03
		s.s.s Control variables, patient and nospital characteristics	50

	6.4	Data collection and management	93
	6.5	Analyses	93
	6.6	Results	94
		6.6.1 Sample description	94
		6.6.2 Descriptive analysis	94
	6.7	Discussion	99
	6.8	References	101
-	<b>C</b>	thesis and discussion	105
(	<b>5yn</b> 7 1	Synthesis of key findings	105
(	<b>5yn</b> 7.1	Synthesis of key findings	105 106
1	5yn 7.1	Synthesis of key findings	105 106 106
1	<b>5yn</b> 7.1 7.2	Synthesis of key findings	105 106 106 111
1	<ul><li>Syn</li><li>7.1</li><li>7.2</li><li>7.3</li></ul>	Synthesis of key findings	106 106 111 111
(	<b>Syn</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	Synthesis of key findings	106 106 111 111 112
(	<b>Syn</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5	Synthesis of key findings	106 106 111 111 112 114
1	Syn           7.1           7.2           7.3           7.4           7.5           7.6	Synthesis of key findings	106 106 111 111 112 114 115

### List of Abbreviations

AHRQ	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality							
ANQ	Nationaler Verein für Qualitätsentwicklung in Spitälern und Kliniken							
-	(Swiss National Association for Quality Development in Hospitals and							
	Clinics)							
APDRGs	All Patient Diagnosis-Related Groups							
β	Beta Coefficient							
BERNCA	Basel Extent of Rationing in Nursing Care							
CEO	Chief Executive Officer							
CHOP Schweizerische Operationsklassifikation (Swiss operation prod								
	classification)							
CI	Confidence Interval							
DCPs	Department case-based payments							
DRGs	Diagnosis-Related Groups							
EQ-5D-3L	EuroQol-5 dimension-3 levels scale							
GS-PEQ	General Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire							
HCAHPS	Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems							
	survey							
HMD	Health and Medicine Division							
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision							
ICC	Intra-class correlation							
IOM	Institute of Medicine							
LOS	Length of stay							
$Match^{RN}$	Matching Registered Nurse services with changing care demands							
MICE	Multiple imputation by chained equations							
MSN	Master of Science in Nursing							
NHS	National Health Service							
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development							
PCC	Patient-centered care							
PES-NWI	Practice Environment Scale–Nursing Work Index							
PLT	Prozess-Leistungs-Tarifierung							
PREM	Patient reported experience measures							
PSIs	Patient safety indicators							
RN	Registered Nurse							
RN4CAST	Nurse Forecasting: Human Resources Planning in Nursing							
SAMS	Swiss Academy of Medical Sciences							
SAQ	Safety Attitude Questionnaire							
SCQ	Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire							
SD	Standard deviation							
SwissDRGs	Swiss Diagnosis-Related Groups							
WHO	World Health Organization							

#### Acknowledgements

The completion of this doctoral dissertation has only been possible with the support of several people.

Firstly, I would like to thank my principal supervisor Prof. Dr Michael Simon for the opportunity to undertake this PhD. Four years ago, when I was sitting in his office at the Insel Spital for my first interview he said "Ms Bachnick, at the moment you are a miracle bag for me. I do not know what is inside!" Thank you so much for believing in me and my capabilities and seeing me through from the beginning to the end of this project. His motivational and optimistic attitude has been infectious and carried me through when I doubted myself. In the end Michael, you were right: everything will be fine. I would also like to thank Prof. Michael Simon once again, for suggesting Dr. Dietmar Ausserhofer and Prof. Marianne Baernholdt to complete my PhD committee.

Dr. Dietmar Ausserhofer has guided me through the PhD with much helpful advice regarding the formalities using his insider knowledge from his time as PhD student at the Institute of Nursing Science (INS). Many thanks for all the feedback: the articles and the dissertation has really benefitted from his restructuring and critical questioning regarding quality of care.

I would like to thank Prof. Marianne Baernholdt, for her international expertise on my PhD project. During my one-month stay at the University of Richmond, I was so appreciative of her support and engagement, and for the networking opportunities with international researchers. On a personal level, I felt so welcome in her house among your family. The input from input Prof. Marianne Baernholdt and her advice regarding career planning has inspired me to feel relaxed and optimistic about the future.

Many thanks to Prof. Dr. Evridiki Papastavrou for taking up the appointment as my external reviewer.

I also wish to thank all my colleagues at the INS and in particular Prof. Dr. Sabina de Geest. She has given me the opportunity and allways supprted me in the PhD. Thanks a lot the members of the Match<sup>RN</sup> team and its stakeholders that make the study project possible. A special thanks to Stella Dunn and Rachel Bunger for managing the second Match<sup>RN</sup> data collection which gave me the freedom to focus on my thesis. I am grateful to the A-team (Cornelia Kern, Brenda Marcus, Greet Van Malderen and Michael Huber) for the administrative support and IT knowledge. Many thanks to my PhD student peers especially to Thekla Brunkert, Kornelia Basinksa and Sarah Musy for living "A problem shared, is a problem halved". Additionally, many thanks to Sonja Beckmann and Karin Zimmermann who–drawing on their own experiences–mentored me to avoid so many potential mistakes and obstacles.

My sincere thanks go to my family and friends. Critical questioning and pragmatism as well as mental and physical contributions supported me in different ways to sustain my internal motivation and willpower. Last but not least, a very special thank you to my life partner Frank, for taking care of me during the last months, for supporting me to socialize. Many thanks for the countless hours in the train from Jena to Bern giving me the needed emotional support doing my PhD.

Stefanie Bachnick, July 2018

#### Summary

Hospitals are under continuous pressure to enable and provide care that is safe, effective, timely, efficient, equitable and patient-centered. To assess the overall quality of the care they deliver, patient experience measures are commonly used across health care settings, countries and patient populations. While these measures are widely employed, though, their impact on quality improvement remains questionable. The analyses of the dissertation indicates that, in addition to lacking a clear conceptualization of the measured construct (e.g., patient-centered care (PCC) or patient satisfaction), the psychometric properties of the most widely-used and influential quality of care instruments are inadequate to ensure reliable assessment of the target criteria. For example, patient experience questionnaires commonly suffer from ceiling effects, resulting in their failure to differentiate between providers scoring above a certain level. Still, the resulting data are incorporated in the steering mechanisms intended to improve quality of care, and weigh heavily on hospital ranking and profiling systems. Based largely on inadequate rating models, then, health care administrators identify hospitals as positive and negative deviants, i.e., high or low performers. Following the logical principle that quality-based selection will lead to long-term quality improvement, higher-ranked hospitals are selected to provide more services and receive more funding. However, at the questionnaire development level, the basic methodological weaknesses noted above preclude accurate quality measurement. If the instruments used in provider profiling lack the capacity to distinguish meaningfully between providers, it follows that the fairness of decisions based on those instruments' data is dubious at best.

Besides quality improvement through selection, improvement through change is discussed. Effective measurement of organizational processes and structures illuminated which areas worked well and which could benefit from improvement. Still, studies found that individual staff factors such as communication and relationship building skills clearly improve PCC, the effects of structures and processes at the unit and hospital levels were less clear.

One vital task in quality assessment and improvement is to determine how instruments can be improved to fully assess their underlying constructs. Moreover, with consideration for individual patient preferences, every instrument requires both the sensitivity and the reliability to differentiate meaningfully between levels of quality of care.

This dissertation aims to assess PCC and its association with institution-level structures and processes in Swiss acute care hospitals. Beyond that, its target is to improve PCC measurement by including patient preference ratings. By providing a much-needed frame of reference regarding patient care ratings, thereby increasing between-provider variances to usable levels, this addition is intended to improve the care quality measurement process. The included studies are embedded in the Matching Registered Nurse Services with Changing Care Demands (Match<sup>RN</sup>) study. The dissertation is organized in seven chapters.

Chapter 1 gives an overall introduction to PCC. Focusing on the definition and conceptualization of PCC, it provides a conceptual model for PCC provision in the hospital setting. With the description of challenges in PCC provision, two improvement pathways – selection and change – are discussed. An overview of the current state of research on PCC in acute care hospitals, its measurement and its associations not only with patient-related, clinical and economic outcomes, but also with health care policy, is presented. The chapter ends by summarizing the gaps in the literature, alongside this dissertation's contribution to bridging those gaps.

Following this introduction, Chapter 2 describes the dissertation's aims. The findings of the four component studies are reported (Chapter 3 to Chapter 6).

Chapter 3 explains the  $Match^{RN}$  study protocol. It provides a general introduction to

the Match  $^{RN}$  study's background, rationale and aims, design and methodology, including measurement techniques.

Chapter 4 reports on the first of the dissertation's studies, which describes the level of PCC in Swiss acute care hospitals and its associations with the nursing work environment and rationing of nursing care. In its sample of 2073 patients and 1810 registered nurses in 23 Swiss acute care hospitals with 123 units, patients reported generally high levels of PCC. Based on four items assessing PCC, the large majority reported that they easily understood the nurses (90%) and felt the treatment and care they received were adapted to their situations (91%), four-fifths (82%) received sufficient information, whereas one-third (30%) felt insufficiently involved in treatment and care decisions. Further, the analysis identified PCC-associated structural and process factors. Generalized Linear Mixed Models for analysis, including individual-level patient and nurse data aggregated to the unit level, identified positive associations between PCC and the nurse work environment: higher staffing and resource adequacy was associated with higher levels of all four items, with sufficient information ( $\beta 0.638 [95\%$ -CI: 0.30 - 0.98) and adapted treatment and care  $(\beta 0.456 [95\%-CI: 0.04 - 0.87])$  yielding the highest correlations. Higher leadership ratings were associated both with sufficient information ( $\beta 0.403$  [95%-CI: 0.03 – 0.77]) and with adapted treatment and care ( $\beta 0.462$  [95%-CI: 0.04 – 0.88]). Negative associations were found between implicit rationing of nursing care and three PCC dimensions: adapted treatment and care ( $\beta$  -0.912 [95%-CI: -1.50 – -0.33]), sufficient information ( $\beta$  -0.764 [95%-CI: -1.27 - -0.26]) and easy understanding ( $\beta$  -0.781 [95%-CI: -1.41 - -0.15). No associations were found between PCC and adjusted staffing. To improve PCC, the nurses' work environment and the level of implicit rationing of nursing care should be taken into consideration.

Chapter 5 discusses the need for to consider intra-class correlations (ICCs), i.e., ICC1 (levels of random variation) and ICC2 (measurement error due to "noise") as prerequisites for provider profiling. For the measurement and comparison of performance (e.g., PCC levels) between providers (e.g., hospitals), "noise" (also referred to as statistical uncertainty, chance or random variation) has to be filtered out to assess "true" variation. To apply provider profiling, patient survey data (n=1716-1863) assessing patient hospital stav experiences from the Match<sup>RN</sup> 2015/2016 data collection were used. To gauge variations between providers and the reliability of current profiling methods, this study used mixed effect models to calculate ICC1 and ICC2 at the unit (n=123) and hospital (n=23) levels. Via analytical approaches including plots, permutation tests, and the application of a 95% confidence interval to the ICC1 value, between-provider variance was examined for all nine patient experience items. While ICC1 values for both unit (0.013 to 0.059 [mean: 0.03]) and hospital levels (0.009 to 0.035 [mean 0.023]) indicated little to no between-provider variability, the ICC2 indicated moderate to good reliability on the unit (0.62 to 0.885 [mean 0.691]) and hospital (0.176 to 0.454 [mean 0.345]) levels. In addition to the low ICC1 values providing a compelling argument against the use of patient experience data as a quality indicator, this analysis emphasizes the benefits of the applied analytical approaches for provider profiling.

As described in Chapter 5's study, provider profiling measurements need to be improved regarding their between-profiler variances. Chapter 6 presents the results of an explorative study examining patient preferences as predictor variables of between-provider variance in hospital profiling, while also examining the extent to which hospitals are able to meet patient preferences and needs. This study used data from the second Match<sup>RN</sup> data collection (2017/2018), which included a sample of 2159 patients in 142 units in 25 Swiss hospitals. The findings indicate an imbalance between patients' perceptions of PCC levels and their preferences in all 13 assessed care aspects, i.e., for every tested aspect of care, overall patients' ratings of their perceived care levels where considerable lower than their overall preference levels. The greatest differences concerned whether patients received detailed information about the side effects of prescribed medications: while 87% of the patients reported this as very important, slightly more than one-third (31.4%) reported always receiving sufficient information. With results such as these, growth targets can be defined and improvement initiatives designed accordingly. Likewise, resources can be optimized to develop and implement improvement strategies where they are most needed. Further, the inclusion of patient preferences yielded readily discernible inter-provider differences regarding PCC performance. Between-provider variances increased in all 13 models incorporating patient preferences as predictor variables: of those 13, the 9 adjusted to test preference variables yielded the highest between-provider variances. This study concludes that patient preferences are important predictor variables, and should be included in assessments both of patient hospital stay experiences and of provider profiling analyses.

Finally, Chapter 7 both synthesizes the major findings of the dissertation's individual studies and discusses the methodological strengths and limitations of the dissertation as a whole. Moreover, implications for further research, clinical practice and policy are recommended.

Overall, this dissertation highlights six major findings. First, high levels of PCC are apparent in the studied sample. Still, the data highlighted potential for improvement regarding patient involvement in decisions regarding their treatment and care could be identified. As a key element of PCC, patient involvement builds the basis for equal partnerships between clinicians and patients. Second, structure- and process-related factors need to be considered in PCC improvement. While this applies especially strongly to PCC's correlations first with increased staffing and resource adequacy's and second with reduced levels of implicit rationing of nursing care, it was also significant regarding leadership's associations with patient perceptions of PCC delivery. Surprisingly, though, adjusted staffing was not associated in any of the four tested PCC dimensions. Third, provider profiling based on patient experience items such as PCC perceptions currently fail due to lack of between-provider variance. Fourth, to fully assess and examine between-provider variance, both calculated (i.e. ICC1 values) and visualized (i.e. empirical Bayes) analytical approaches should be used. Fifth, to improve measurement of patients' PCC perceptions, preference ratings have to be included in provider profiling analyses, as they increase between-provider variance to usable levels. Sixth, to assess the extent to which hospitals meet the need for patient-specific care, patient preferences need to be assessed and included in analyses.

This dissertation contributes to the existing literature by providing primary evidence regarding the influence of patient preferences on the measurement of quality of care. Future research should explore further opportunities to improve PCC measurement. Chapter 1

## Introduction

The US National Academy of Medicine (NAM [formerly the Institute of Medicine (IOM)]) defines six key elements of quality of care: safety, effectiveness, timeliness, efficiency, equitable care and patient-centeredness [1]. Over the last decade, because patient-centered care (PCC) may improve patient-reported, clinical and economic outcomes, it has attracted increasing interest from stakeholders [2-4]. However, due to different conceptualizations, measurement of PCC is neither clear nor consistent. Additionally, related constructs such as patient satisfaction are often used interchangeably with PCC, although patient satisfaction is an outcome of PCC.

PCC falls within the category of patient experiences with care–an increasingly important resource for quality improvement in health care [5-7]. Firstly, following assessment, improvement potential can be identified via patient experience ratings and targeted interventions developed and implemented. Secondly, patients' PCC ratings serve as a steering mechanism to improve quality of health care in all health care settings, particularly in pay-for-performance programs [8, 9]. For example in the U.S., comparison of Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) data guides the distribution of funds. Of each hospital's total performance score, roughly a quarter is based on patient HCAHPS ratings [10].

Considering the weight this places on PCC ratings in funding decisions, it is vital that those ratings be fair and reliable. Therefore, this dissertation focuses on gaps in the conceptualization, operationalization, measurement and analysis of PCC.

#### 1.1 Patient-centered care

#### 1.1.1 Definition

The NAM's most widely used and accepted definition of PCC is "care that is (1) respectful of and responsive to individual patients' preferences, needs, and values and (2) ensuring that patients' values guide all decisions" [1 p.3]. This definition is focused on two main aspects of PCC: (1) every patient has personal preferences; and (2) these are the basis of the entire caring process. PCC is also known as negotiated and individualized care [12]. Other variations include "person-centered care", "people-centered care", "person-focused care", "patient-focused care", "client-centered care" or "whole-person-centered care", and may also refer to the family, e.g., "patient and family centered care", are used in the literature [13]. Whatever their names, though, all concepts are essentially based on NAMs definition. Unfortunately, as a construct PCC is inconsistently operationalized, with varying dimensions [14].

#### 1.1.2 Conceptualization

Since PCC was first defined, numerous aspects and frameworks have been discussed, resulting in uncounted models. One definition that predates NAM was Gerteis et al.s reference to care "through the patients eyes" [15]. Gerteis describes seven dimensions of patient centeredness: (1) respect for patients' values, preferences, and expressed needs; (2) coordination and integration of care; (3) information, communication and education; (4) physical comfort; (5) emotional support; (6) involvement of family and friends; and (7) continuity and transition [15].

Other research groups adapted and added to Gerteis' definition to fit their foci. The non-profit Picker Institute added an eighth dimension: *access to care* [16]. The Health Foundation focused only on four dimensions: (a) *focus on patients preferences*; (b) *patient communication*; (c) *patient involvement*; and (d) *patient empowerment* [13]. Similarly, Morgan and Yoder (2012) developed a theoretical model of PCC consisting of four key attributes (*holistic care, individualized care, respectful care and empowering care*) [17], while Scholl's (2014) systematic review identified 15 dimensions of PCC: divided into three classes: enablers (coordination, continuity and integration of care, clinician-patient communication, teamwork, access to care), principles (patient as a unique person, biopsychosocial perspective, characteristics of the clinicians, clinician-patient relationship) and activities (physical and emotional support, information, patient as well as family involvement and empowerment) [18]. Greene et al. (2012) stratified their dimensions onto three levels: clinical, structural, and interpersonal [19]. Noting the complexity both of the PCC construct and of its provision, Greene took a bird's-eye view of the entire system and all its actors. This viewpoint was supported by Kitson et al. (2013), whose review summarized the dimensions relating to policy, medicine and nursing literature that underpin the interdisciplinary nature of the PCC construct [20].

From the diverse conceptualizations named here emerged equally diverse sets of PCC dimensions and details. Table 1.1 outlines the dimensions most consistently used in common models and key references in the PCC literature. Whatever changes have been made, though, every model still includes versions of the NAM's original two dimensions ("the patient as a unique person and "patient are involved in decisions/share decision making (SDM)"). Further, seven of the nine sources include an "information" dimension, and six each include dimensions of "communication", "empowerment" or both. Thus, the five most used dimensions are: (1) patient as a unique person; (2) patient involvement in care/decision making; (3) patient information; (4) clinical-patient communication; and (5) patient empowerment [21).

The first of these refines the NAM's definition that "individual patients' preferences, needs, and values" guide the care process, making it essential to PCC. The patient has to be treated as unique, with individual feelings, experiences and preferences [15, 21]. The second dimension focuses on patients' involvement in decisions relevant to their treatment and care [21]. To be involved in such processes, patients need information about diagnoses, treatment options, or alternate care processes. In line with the first dimension, the provided information needs to be tailored to patient needs in terms of comprehensibility and detail [15, 21]. Therefore, the clinician-patient communication dimension, which acknowledges the value of verbal and non-verbal communication skills, plays an important role [21]. Together with these four dimensions, patient empowerment (dimension 5) encourages patients to self-manage their conditions and increase their self-care ability [15, 21].

For this dissertation, therefore these five dimensions were chose to operationalize PCC, as they were most consistently described within the reviewed sources. This decision is supported by Scholl et al.'s systematic review [18], which identified 15 PCC dimensions and used a Delphi method to rank them by relevance and clarity.

				-	-					
	De Silva, 2014	IAPO, 2007	Mead & Bower, 2000	Picker Institute	Mirzaei et al., 2013	Greene et al., 2012	Stewart et al., 2000	Scholl et al., 2014	Gerteis et al., 1991; NAM, 2001	Frequency of dimensions
Unique person	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	9
Relationship	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	5
Communication	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	6
Information	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	7
Involvement/share decision making	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	9
Empowerment	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	6
Coordination/continuity	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	5
Physical comfort	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	4
Emotional comfort	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	4
Take into account family/friends	-	-	-	+	-	+	-	+	+	4
Access to care	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	4

Table 1.1: Sources describing the key dimensions of PCC

#### 1.2 Providing PCC in hospital settings: A conceptual model

In a hospital setting, PCC can be adapted, delivered and supported on various levels. Guided by The Joint Commission's clinical microsystems approach [22] and Donabedian's structure-process-outcome model [23], for this dissertation an adopted and developed conceptual model is used. Figure 1.1 provides an general overview of PCC provision in in-patient health care settings.

Depending on one's focus, the hospital setting involves micro-, meso- and macro-level factors. The micro level is where the individuals are located, including the patients and hospital staff; the meso level focuses on structures and processes, i.e., unit and hospital factors. The macro level involves health care policies and the healthcare system. These three levels impact the provision of PCC independently, but are interrelated. Further, for every level, various factors influence PCC [24, 25]. On the micro level, factors stem both from hospital staff, e.g., years of training and experience, and from individual patients. For patients, age, gender, education and other demographic characteristics can have varying levels of significance; in the PCC context, however, their preferences regarding their care delivery are both extremely important and widely unexplored [26-28]. For hospital staff, one determinant of how well they provide PCC is their interpersonal skills, especially regarding communication and relationship building [29, 30].

At the meso level, PCC influencing unit and hospital factors include processes and structures including the work environment, leadership strategies, teamwork levels, ownership status or the number of beds [31, 32]. This level is also influenced by both individual- and macro-level factors, e.g., health policies affect payment schemes and funding systems. The macro level influences PCC only indirectly, through its influence on the meso level. The final part of the model shows the different outcomes PCC can have depending of the targeted level. Detailed information on PCC's outcomes is available in section 1.5.2 below.

#### 1.3 Challenges to the provision of PCC

Figure 1.1 shows the multi-dimensional nature of PCC, the provision of which is broadly recognized as challenging [16, 33]. Challenges arise from two main sources: (1) the complexity of PCC provision; and (2) the heterogeneity of most patient populations.

#### Complexity

Because of the broad range of PCC's dimensions, providing it adequately usually requires complex strategies targeting multiple levels. While the patient (micro level) is always at the center, as indicated by Greene (2012), meso- and macro-level factors both also demand consideration. At the micro level, interpersonal factors often require improvement [19]. For instance to treat each patient as unique, with individual preferences and needs, the clinician needs to use advanced communication and patient-clinician relationship building skills. These allow assessment of the preferences that will guide all PCC-related decisions during the patient's stay. To foster trust and cooperation between clinician and patient, patient-tailored communication techniques including information sharing are further essential aspects of PCC, and the building blocks for patients' involvement in their care [33]. Micro-level factors such as these are basic elements of PCC.

At the meso level, PCC is influenced by organizational factors such as health care processes and structures that apply to wards, departments, or the entire hospital. The modification of processes such as patient involvement, coordination and continuity of care can improve health care outcomes significantly. For example, clinical pathways to improve care coordination for patients with comorbidities, bedside shift reporting in cooperation with patients, PCC-focused information technology measures have been



Figure 1.1: Different levels influencing PCC in hospital setting

successfully implemented to improve patients' clinical outcomes [34, 35].

Structural factors such as the nurse work environment also influence PCC outcomes. A recent qualitative study emphasized the value of strong leadership for improving PCC [31]. Optimal PCC provision requires a supportive work environment and leadership support at the level of the CEO and board of directors [36]. However, regarding the relationship between PCC and patients' perceptions of the care they receive, research results are inconsistent. Following an intervention aimed at improving teamwork, Kohler et al. found no significant differences in patient perceptions of PCC [37].

Various studies have examined the impact of work environment on patient satisfaction but not PCC. E.g., a US-based multi-center study confirmed that reduced patient to nurse ratios were associated with increased patient satisfaction following improvements to information exchange based on patient-tailored communication [38]. Further, patients are more likely to recommend hospitals with lower patient/nurse ratios [38-40]. Cross-sectional studies examining the association between the nurse work environment and patient satisfaction have found higher satisfaction levels where nurses practiced in higher-rated work environments [39, 40].

Additionally, hospital structures and processes have to be developed to enable coproduction within a culture of PCC, i.e., to create partnerships between patients and health care professionals [41]. Recognizing PCC's importance regarding high-quality healthcare, several organizations have supplied recommendations on how to develop PCC-focused interventions at the structural level [42, 43]. The Picker Institute (2008) published a PCC improvement guide with strategies to support PCC, e.g., by defining the role of leadership in providing PCC [25]. Furthermore, they describe strategies for building a patient-centered culture via communication, personalization and continuity of

care. However, few of their recommendations are based on evidence about the proposed strategies' effectiveness.

On the macro level, PCC-related measures commonly focus on pay-for-performance and provider profiling policy. Provider profiling is the comparison between providers (e.g., hospitals, units or individual clinicians) with the aim of ranking them by performance [44]. Their rankings then serve as the basis for allocation of funds and performance-based pay. However, the patient experience surveys used for profiling–often PCC measurements–tend to yield very low between-provider variance [114], i.e., they distinguish very poorly between higher- and lower-performing hospitals. Therefore, the accuracy of any rankings based on their results is dubious [114].

#### Heterogeneity

The measurement of PCC provision is complicated by numerous confounders, including heterogeneity in health care settings (hospitals, nursing homes), service lines (medicine, geriatric, pediatric, psychiatric), types of care provided (admission, discharge) and inpatient characteristics (age, diagnosis). For example, in hospital units for patients with dementia, the PCC activities required obviously differ substantially from those in a pediatric acute care unit. Although the two core elements ((1) respect for patients' preferences and (2) decision-making based on patients' values as the basis for the caring process) are represented in both examples, other care principles and processes vary. Furthermore, depending on the focus of the intervention (e.g., on one or more PCC dimensions), both the intervention itself and its outcomes naturally vary.

Patient characteristics also play a key role in PCC provision. For example, a recent German cross-sectional study investigated the factors influencing patients' perceptions of individualized nursing care. In line with previous patient satisfaction research, better self-rated health status and educational level  $\leq 9$  years were associated with higher individualized nursing care ratings [28]. However, when an American secondary data analysis of patient PCC perceptions using the Oncology Patients' Perceptions of the Quality of Nursing Care Scale to focus on patient characteristics' influence on care ratings, the researchers found no associations between either gender or age and nursing care ratings; however, educational levels showed contradictory influences on patient ratings of PCC in oncology [26]. In addition, Krupat et al. (2001) found that male patients, patients with high school degrees or less and patients aged 60 and older experienced less patient-centeredness than younger, more educated, and female groups [27]. Apart from these demographic factors, patient preferences and expectation of their hospital stay displayed normal inter-patient heterogeneity.

One plausible explanation for these results is that, while patients base their preferences and expectations on their beliefs, values and needs, these are also influenced by their demographics [45]. For example, older patients tend to have fewer unmet expectations than younger ones [46]. Wherever patients' expectations originate, though, the more of them are met, the more positively they rate their experiences with care [47, 48].

#### 1.4 Theoretical reflection: How quality improvement could steer PCC

Berwick et al.'s quality improvement framework is a key structure regarding this dissertation, as it presents a map linking PCC measurement with improved care practices [49]. Between the two, Berwick describes two pathways: (1) improvement through selection (pathway I) and (2) improvement through change (pathway II) (see Figure 1.2). Both paths include provider performance assessments (i.e., hospitals) and have the same overall aim-the improvement of PCC-but work in different ways. Optimally, they should



be seen in combination rather than "either/or" options. To follow the chronological order of the papers in the dissertation, this section deals with pathway II first.

Figure 1.2: Berwick et al.'s quality improvement framework (2003)

#### 1.4.1 Quality improvement through change

Along the *change* pathway, PCC measurement is aimed at gaining knowledge and understanding regarding relevant organizational (e.g., hospital) structures and processes. Effective measurement provides answers regarding which areas work well and which could benefit from improvement.

Providing and improving PCC involves two levels of change: (a) organizational change [25]; and (b) cultural (structural) change [49]. Cultural change means moving from a paternalistic (top-down) view of care to partnerships (lateral relationships) between care providers and patients [41]. Organizational changes focus on meso-level factors, i.e., department- or hospital-wide processes and structures. To improve these, it is first necessary to assess them. For example, while relevant structural variables include hospital characteristics such as size, ownership status and type, they also include work environment factors such as leadership. Culture change comes later, and is accompanied and supported by structures such as timely review and assessment, strong leadership and inclusion of external stakeholders [49, 50]. Naturally, a clear understanding of the hospital structures and processes relevant to the change pathway is useful for pathway selection.

#### 1.4.2 Quality improvement through selection

Besides reshaping clinical practice itself via adjustment of structures and processes, Berwick discusses another pathway to improved quality of care: *selection*. Based on measurement/ranking of providers (e.g., hospitals) according to their performance, the higher-ranked provider will be selected to provide more services, along with more funding. Ranking information is useful to stakeholders such as patients, purchasers and health care policy makers [49]. For example, while health insurance providers will be more interested in the change route, as it leads to optimization of structures and processes, thereby controlling care-related expenditures, well-informed patients will use performance data to select the hospital that best fits their situation. The process of comparing providers is known as provider profiling and is commonly used for benchmarking. It can also help to identify positive and negative deviants, i.e., high (positively) or low (negatively) performing providers. Using the positive deviant approach [51, 52], lower ranked hospitals receive the opportunity to learn from their higher-ranked peers.

Via the selection pathway, quality of care is not improved directly, but rather by motivating institutions to develop steering mechanisms to improve the quality of their health care. In theory, rank-based selection is an excellent long-term path to improvement. However, improving quality through selection presupposes the ability of the measurement system to detect differences between providers. In the case of patient experience ratings – the metric currently used to assess quality indicators – between-provider variance is limited; therefore, this capacity is not yet clear.

#### 1.5 State of research in the field of PCC

#### 1.5.1 Measurement of PCC

Examining current levels of PCC, thereby determining both starting points for change and bases for selection, demands well-defined outcome measures. However, no standard measurement instrument is yet available [13]. Some versions use questionnaire surveys to measure PCC in different health care settings; others depict the overall concept [53, 54]; still others focus only on selected dimensions [13, 55, 56]. While most measure patients' PCC experiences from patient perspectice [53, 57-59], also clinician's perspective [60] or the combination of both patient and clinician data [13, 61] is available. Many of these instruments have been tested psychometrically in specific settings but require adaptions for different diseases and countries [26, 62-64]. The popularity of instruments assessing PCC on various levels, for different populations and in diverse health care settings has even led to a range of instruments which are labeled or referred to as PCC questionnaires, but which focus primarily on patients' experiences in general. One example is the HCAHPS [65], which was developed to measure patients' experiences in general in various settings. Even though it does not include vital dimensions of PCC, e.g., patient individual preferences or involvement in treatment and care decisions, many researchers refer to it as a PCC survey [66].

Notwithstanding the above, even while patient experiences in general are known to be sub-optimal for gauging PCC performance, they are widely used to assess improvement potential for quality of care. This is particularly true in the US, where the HCAHPS survey is very popular. In the UK, the most commonly accepted performance measure is the National Health Service (NHS) Adult Inpatient Survey. Based on the Picker Patient Experience Questionnaire (PPE-15) [58, 67, 68], the NHS survey is driven by PCC principles [42], but still omits any measure of patient preferences. In Switzerland, it is common for patient experience surveys to include items from the HCAHPS and the PPE-15 [69-72]. In fact, however broad a range of stakeholders are discussing PCC, measuring PCC and developing interventions intended to improve PCC, none of the most used PCC instruments measure patient preferences.

Evaluating whether patients' needs are met requires two elements: an assessment of their preferences and a comparison between those and their ratings of the care they actually received. A balance between these two parameters indicates provision of high levels of PCC; an imbalance indicates that patient needs were not met, i.e., that lower levels of PCC were delivered. As this approach allows individual patients to register their preferences, its use will both shed light on a core PCC dimension and correct a major shortcoming of current PCC conceptualization. A further problem is the limited evidence upon which to base selection of patient experience instruments for profiling purposes. Although validity (content, construct or structural) and reliability (internal consistency, measurement errors) are commonly tested [69, 73], none of these indicate a test's capacity to distinguish between low- and high-performing hospitals, units or clinicians. Especially when used as macro-level tools to benchmark hospitals or units, sufficient between-provider variability is essential to ensure fair and reliable results.

#### 1.5.2 The association between PCC and outcomes

As shown in Figure 1.1, PCC is associated with different outcomes at the macro, meso and micro levels.

#### Patient-related outcomes (micro level)

The provision of PCC improves patient experiences with health care and is positively associated with increasing levels of patient satisfaction [3, 12]. However, the evidence is inconsistent regarding its relationship with other patient reported outcomes. Studies of diverse patient populations show no increase in self-efficacy following PCC provision [74, 75]; others have examined the improvement in self-efficacy for diseases such as type 2 diabetes and acute coronary syndrome [63, 75, 76]. For patient quality of care, research is similarly inconsistent [74, 77, 78].

#### Clinical and economic outcomes (meso level)

Conflicting results are also common regarding clinical and economic outcomes. On the one hand, systematic reviews and individual studies assessing the effects of PCC interventions find reductions in unplanned visits and re-admission rates in their intervention groups [4, 76, 79-81]. On the other, studies correlating PCC with mortality rates have produced varying results [3, 4, 74]. Because clinical outcomes influence economic outcomes, the evidence is similarly inconclusive regarding PCC interventions' relationship with cost effectiveness: some studies report that cost reductions accompany PCC interventions [4, 81, 82]; others reject such claims [77, 83].

#### Policy outcomes (marco level)

Policy (macro-level) outcomes cannot be measured directly. Instead, micro- and meso-level intervention outcomes are commonly used to assess and gauge their success, i.e., for institutional benchmarking and accreditation. For example, routine patient experience ratings regarding their hospital stay are used as one basis for hospital performance comparisons. On these grounds, hospitals are categorized as high- (positive deviants) or low performing (negative deviants). The resulting classifications influence how health care policies such as pay-for-performance programs are implemented. For example, 25% of hospitals' total performance scores are based on patient experiences (assessed via the HCAHPS) [10], determining 1.75% of overall hospital payments from Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services [11].

Further, programs such as the American Nurses Credentialing Center's Magnet Recognition Program use hospital provider profile data to promote quality improvement regarding not only patient reported outcomes, processes and structures but also economic outcomes [84, 85]. Magnet hospital research is a practical example of how benchmarking in health care can lead to quantifiable improvements in the quality of health care, e.g., significantly lower thirty-day mortality and failure to rescue [85, 86].

Additionally to benchmarking, micro- and meso-level outcome data are used for hospital accreditation in over 70 countries, including Switzerland [87]. The central aim of hospital accreditation is the improvement of health care quality via adherence to standards and guidelines [31, 87, 88]. In the U.S., hospital accreditation also influences healthcare reimbursement; and in Switzerland, health care providers need to fulfill specific quality standards (e.g., safe surgery and safe medication) to receive reimbursement [88].

#### 1.5.3 What improves the provision of PCC

Following Berwick's conceptual framework, improvement can occur along two pathways: via changes in clinical processes and structures or via quality-based selection, which would lead both to quality promotion incentives and to quality-focused steering mechanisms.

Previous studies have identified the influences processes and structures exert on patient outcomes: changes, e.g., in staffing levels or leadership strategies, can improve patient outcomes. Regarding the implementation of PCC culture, studies have revealed the importance not only of appropriate leadership [31, 32], but of sufficient teamwork [32] and adequate staffing and resources [89, 90]. It is undisputed that both dynamic leadership and staffing and resource adequacy increase patient satisfaction [91, 92]. Conversely, the negative influence of rationing of nursing care on patient outcomes has been investigated and confirmed in several studies [93-95]. However, these studies focused primarily on patient satisfaction rather than on the PCC construct as a whole.

Alongside change, improvement through selection can be enacted via benchmarking and hospital comparison. For example, since 2009, the Swiss Swiss National Association for Quality Development in Hospitals (ANQ) measure has been used to assess patient hospital stay experiences. However, since 2009, the results show neither trends nor significant changes; with few exceptions, hospitals receive extremely high patient experience ratings [96]. If such low variability indicates converging quality of care and generally top-class health care practice, it is clearly a desirable outcome. However, if it simply indicates that the measure is not sufficiently sensitive to detect between-provider differences, the measure requires improvement.

In order to determine the measure's capacity to distinguish performance differences beyond noise, the within- and between-provider variance levels it returns are extremely important. Quality indicators used for provider profiling also need to withstand methodological challenges. A range of assessment criteria are important to determine the suitability of a quality measure such as patient experience, e.g., whether the measure fulfills stakeholder needs or can deal with a range of risk profiles [97].

Furthermore, all indicators have to meet methodological requirements. Common psychometric assessments, i.e., validity and reliability, are essential for all items. However, for the development, application and analysis of quality indicators (including questionnaire items) to be used for provider profiling, both between-provider variance and signal-to-noise ratio must also be assessed to indicate whether relevant differences can be detected. The results of such assessments need to be included as standard components of provider profiling publications.

#### **1.5.4** PCC in Switzerland – What is the current state?

Switzerland's health care system is ranked among the highest in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) [98]. This is reflected in overall health indicators for Switzerland. Together with Spain, Switzerland has Europe's highest life expectancy at birth (assessed in 2014) – 83.3 years, compared to a mean of 80.9 years for all EU member states [99]. In addition to positive quantitative assessments of clinical outcomes in Switzerland, national-level perceptions of overall health are very high: in 2016, 79% of Swiss residents rated their health status as 'good' or 'very good' [99]. Ranked behind only Ireland and Sweden among European health care systems, Switzerlands overall ratings class it as a positive deviant [99].

Furthermore, national and international studies clearly indicate that Swiss patients are very satisfied with their hospital care. The cross-sectional multi-country RN4CAST

study confirms a high level of care [100]. Of almost 1000 hospitalized patients included in the analyses, 60% gave their hospital the highest possible rating (on a scale of 0-10), while 78% would definitely recommend their hospital to family and friends [38]. Compared to the other eight participant countries, these gave Switzerland the highest recommend hospital and second-highest high score ratings for satisfaction with hospital stay [38]. Similarly, high national-level assessments by the Swiss National Association for Quality Development in Hospitals and Clinics and the Rationing of Nursing Care in Switzerland study (RICH Nursing study) confirm high levels of patient satisfaction in Switzerland [96, 101].

In 2017, the Swiss ANQ used their self-developed "ANQ patient satisfaction short survey". This questionnaire currently consists of six questions asking for general ratings of care quality, perceived communication and information (including the possibility of asking questions, receiving understandable answers, and receiving information about medication), and discharge preparation including the length of hospital stay [96]. Although the ANQ questionnaire assesses the PCC dimensions of "communication" and "information", it omits those of "patient as a unique person", "patient involvement in care" or "patient empowerment". Nevertheless, patients ratings for these questions are mostly very positive. Reasons for the positive results are diverse, e.g., with few constraints, patients have free choice of and access to service providers (e.g., general practitioners and specialists, hospital care) [98]. However, nurses' high ratings of their working environments in acute care hospitals confirm adequate staffing and resources, enabling clinicians to provide high quality care, clearly add to the patients' positive ratings [93, 102]. Another reason for such high health care ratings is the amount of money Switzerland spends on its health care system. Switzerland's annual per capita health care expenditures are almost double the OECD average (\$US 4003) [102].

In 2012, with the aim of simultaneously improving the quality, transparency and efficiency of hospital care, Switzerland adopted a diagnostic-related group (SwissDRGs) system of calculating charges for acute care hospital services [103]. In the interests of long-term financial sustainability, policymakers also hoped to decrease health care expenditures – first, by simplifying the comparison of inputs and outputs regarding the services they provided, and either increasing the number of cases treated or (2) reducing the services per case. [103]. At least one benefit of the SwissDRGs' introduction is readily discernible: the average length of hospital stay decreased from close to 10 days in 2002 to 5.4 in 2016 [104]. While this represents considerable savings, not all costs fell: in acute care, the average cost per day of hospitalization increased from approximately 1500 CHF (2002) to more than 2000 CHF in 2016 [104].

In its choice of implementing DRGs, Switzerland capitalized on other countries' experience: the US introduced DRGs in 1980; Germany introduced them in 2003. While learning from the American and German experiences, Switzerland can adapt the system to fit its setting. In addition to improving economic outcomes by stabilizing health care expenditures, DRGs should foster increased efficiency and quality of hospital care [103, 105, 106]. In Switzerland, research on the introduction of SwissDRGs is still underway. Ongoing studies focus on nurse outcomes such as moral distress and workload, and on patient hospital stay experiences [107, 108]. This brings the discussion back to PCC. Areas of improvement need to be identified, both through peer comparison (beginning with reliable measurement) and through identification of processes and structures that improve PCC provision.

#### 1.6 Research gap and rational of this dissertation

This dissertation will address two major research gaps in the international health care literature: (i) the lack of information about which structure- and process-related factors are associated with PCC; and (ii) the lack of adequate PCC measures (including patient preference items) for fairly and reliably benchmarking hospital providers.

First, on the meso and micro levels, as the majority of available studies use heterogeneous methodologies and diverse measurements, it is difficult to generalize or compare their results [79, 83]. Understanding the effects of PCC on selected outcomes will require high quality intervention studies using standardized instruments and methodologies [3, 37, 74, 83]. While national and international studies primarily focus on staff-level interventions to improve PCC (e.g., communication skills and relationship building), the literature is unclear regarding the effect of meso-level PCC measures [29, 30]. No study has yet examined the associations between meso-level factors, (i.e., hospitaland unit-wide processes and structures) and PCC. To improve the provision of PCC via Berwick's change pathway, possibilities for change must first be identified. Therefore, the assessment of hospital structures and processes that potentially influence PCC delivery and patient perceptions of it are important. To date, a number of studies have explored the association of structure- and process-related factors with patient satisfaction, but not with PCC. Such evidence will be crucial to inform quality improvement strategies and interventional research on potential facilitating factors or barriers to implementing PCC strategies in hospitals and units.

As noted above, PCC can also be improved through the pathway of quality-based selection. For this to be reliable, though, adequate PCC-focused measures for hospital provider benchmarking, i.e., comparison and categorization of hospitals, must be developed to accurately differentiate between low and high performing care providers. While previous studies have used patient experience items for benchmarking to identify positive and negative deviants for various purposes, no study has yet assessed whether the items are suitable for profiling purposes, i.e., whether they are adequate to identify and differentiate between positive and negative deviants. Because PCC items are also used for benchmarking based on levels of PCC in hospitals, it is also necessary to investigate whether those items are appropriate for profiling purposes.

Perhaps most importantly regarding PCC provision, the current conceptualization of PCC is far too vague, resulting in unclear measurements and unusable survey data resulting in unclear measurements and unreliable profiling data. While researchers have acknowledged the importance of gauging patient experiences against their preferences for almost two decades, preferences are still not considered in any widely-used patient perception assessments regarding PCC [109]. The assessment of patient preferences is a prerequisite to any understanding of how fully they have been met. It is essential to consider them as a predictor variable while assessing PCC levels.

#### 1.7 References

- 1. Institute of Medicine. Improving the 21st-century Health Care System. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A new Health System for the 21st Century. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.2001. p. 39-54.
- 2. Rathert C, Wyrwich MD, Boren SA. Patient-centered care and outcomes: a systematic review of the literature. Med Care Res Rev. 2013;70(4):351-79.
- Goldfarb MJ, Bibas L, Bartlett V, Jones H, Khan N. Outcomes of Patientand Family-Centered Care Interventions in the ICU: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Crit Care Med. 2017;45(10):1751-61.
- 4. Fiorio CV, Gorli M, Verzillo S. Evaluating organizational change in health care: the patient-centered hospital model. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):95.
- 5. Doyle C, Lennox L, Bell D. A systematic review of evidence on the links between patient experience and clinical safety and effectiveness. BMJ Open. 2013;3(1).
- Elliott M, Lehrman WG, Goldstein E, Hambarsoomian K, Beckett MK, Giordano L. Do Hospitals Rank Differently on HCAHPS for Different Patient Subgroups? Medical Care Research and Review. 2010;67(1):56-73.
- Fung CH, Lim YW, Mattke S, Damberg C, Shekelle PG. Systematic review: the evidence that publishing patient care performance data improves quality of care. Ann Intern Med. 2008;148(2):111-23.
- Smith PC, Mossialos E, Papanicolas I, Leatherman S. Principles of performance measurement. In: P. C. Smith, E. Mossialos, I. Papanicolas, Leatherman S, editors. Performance Measurement for Health System Improvement: Experiences, Challenges and Prospects. Cambridge University Press; 2010. p. 3-24.
- 9. Rau J. Medicare Penalizes Group Of 751 Hospitals For Patient Injuries. The Washington Post. 2017;Sect. Health & Science.
- 10. Medicare.gov. Hospital Compare Baltimore (MD): Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; [Available from: https://www.medicare.gov/ hospitalcompare/search.html.
- Papanicolas I, Figueroa JF, Orav EJ, Jha AK. Patient Hospital Experience Improved Modestly, But No Evidence Medicare Incentives Promoted Meaningful Gains. Health Aff (Millwood). 2017;36(1):133-40.
- 12. Wolf DM, Lehman L, Quinlin R, Zullo T, Hoffman L. Effect of patient-centered care on patient satisfaction and quality of care. J Nurs Care Qual. 2008;23(4):316-21.
- 13. De Silva D. Helping measure person-centred care: A review of evidence about commonly used approaches and tools used to help measure person-centred care. 2014.
- 14. International Alliance of Patients' Organizations. What is Patient-Centered Healthcare? A Review of Definitions and Principles 2007. p. 2-37.
- 15. Gerteis M, Edgman-Levitan, Daley J, Delbanco TL. Introduction: Medicine and Health from the Patient's Perspective. Through the Patient's Eyes: understanding and promoting Patient-Centered Care. San Francisco: Jossy-Bass Publishers; 1991. p. 1-13.
- 16. Picker Institute. [10.02.2016]. Available from: http://cgp.pickerinstitute. org/.
- 17. Morgan S, Yoder LH. A concept analysis of person-centered care. J Holist Nurs. 2012;30(1):6-15.
- Scholl I, Zill JM, Harter M, Dirmaier J. An integrative model of patient-centeredness

   a systematic review and concept analysis. PLoS One. 2014;9(9):e107828.

- 19. Greene SM, Tuzzio L, Cherkin D. A framework for making patient-centered care front and center. Perm J. 2012;16(3):49-53.
- 20. Kitson A, Marshall A, Bassett K, Zeitz K. What are the core elements of patient-centred care? A narrative review and synthesis of the literature from health policy, medicine and nursing. J Adv Nurs. 2013;69(1):4-15.
- Zill JM, Scholl I, Harter M, Dirmaier J. Which Dimensions of Patient-Centeredness Matter? - Results of a Web-Based Expert Delphi Survey. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0141978.
- 22. International Alliance of Patients' Organizations. What is Patient-Centered Healthcare? A Review of Definitions and Principles. 2007. p. 2-37.
- 23. Mead N, Bower P. Measuring patient-centredness: a comparison of three observation-based instruments. Patient Educ Couns. 2000;39(1):71-80.
- 24. Mirzaei M, Aspin C, Essue B, Jeon YH, Dugdale P, Usherwood T, Leeder S. A patient-centred approach to health service delivery: improving health outcomes for people with chronic illness. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:251.
- 25. Stewart M, Brown JB, Donner A, McWhinney IR, Oates J, Weston WW, Jordan, J. The impact of patient-centered care on outcomes. J Fam Pract. 2000;49(9):796-804.
- Nelson EC, Batalden PB, Huber TP, Mohr JJ, Godfrey MM, Headrick LA, Wasson JH. Microsystems in health care: Part 1. Learning from high-performing front-line clinical units. Jt Comm J Qual Improv. 2002;28(9):472-93.
- 27. Donabedian A. Evaluating the quality of medical care. The Milbank Memorial Fund quarterly. 1966;44(3):Suppl:166-206.
- 28. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Patientcentred care: Improving quality and safety through partnerships with patients and consumers. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2011.
- 29. Frampton S, Guastello S, Brady C, Hale M, Horowitz S, Bennett Smith S, Stone S. Patient-Centered Care Improvement Guide. Camden: Picker Institute; 2008.
- 30. Radwin LE. Cancer patients' demographic characteristics and ratings of patient-centered nursing care. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2003;35(4):365-70.
- 31. Krupat E, Bell RA, Kravitz RL, Thom D, Azari R. When physicians and patients think alike: patient-centered beliefs and their impact on satisfaction and trust. J Fam Pract. 2001;50(12):1057-62.
- 32. Koberich S, Feuchtinger J, Farin E. Factors influencing hospitalized patients' perception of individualized nursing care: a cross-sectional study. BMC Nurs. 2016;15:14.
- 33. Dwamena F, Holmes-Rovner M, Gaulden CM, Jorgenson S, Sadigh G, Sikorskii A, Lewin S, Smith RC, Coffey J, Olomu A. Interventions for providers to promote a patient-centred approach in clinical consultations. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;12:CD003267.
- 34. McMillan SS, Kendall E, Sav A, King MA, Whitty JA, Kelly F, Wheeler AJ. Patient-centered approaches to health care: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Med Care Res Rev. 2013;70(6):567-96.
- 35. Bokhour BG, Fix GM, Mueller NM, Barker AM, Lavela SL, Hill JN, Solomon JL, Lukas CV. How can healthcare organizations implement patient-centered care? Examining a large-scale cultural transformation. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):168.
- 36. Gabutti I, Mascia D, Cicchetti A. Exploring "patient-centered" hospitals: a systematic review to understand change. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):364.

- 37. Luxford K, Piper D, Dunbar N, Poole N. Patient-Centred Care: Improving Quality and Safety by Focusing Care on Patients and Consumers Discussion paper Draft for public consultation. Sydney: Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care; 2010.
- 38. Rotter T, Kinsman L, James E, Machotta A, Willis J, Snow P, Kugler J. The effects of clinical pathways on professional practice, patient outcomes, length of stay, and hospital costs: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. Eval Health Prof. 2012;35(1):3-27.
- 39. Finkelstein J, Knight A, Marinopoulos S, Gibbons MC, Berger Z, Aboumatar H, Wilson RF, Lau BD, Sharma R, Bass EB. Enabling Patient-Centered Care Through Health Information Technology. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality: Evidence Report/Technology Assessment No. 206. (Prepared by Johns Hopkins University Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No. 290-2007-10061-I.); 2012.
- 40. Shaller D. Patient-centered care: What does it take?: The Commonwealh Fund; 2007.
- 41. Korner M, Luzay L, Plewnia A, Becker S, Rundel M, Zimmermann L, Muller, C. A cluster-randomized controlled study to evaluate a team coaching concept for improving teamwork and patient-centeredness in rehabilitation teams. PLoS One. 2017;12(7):e0180171.
- 42. Aiken LH, Sermeus W, Van den Heede K, Sloane DM, Busse R, McKee M, Bruyneel L, Rafferty AM, Griffiths P, Moreno-Casbas MT, Tishelman C, Scott A, Brzostek T, Kinnunen J, Schwendimann R, Heinen M, Zikos D, Sjetne IS, Smith HL, Kutney-Lee A. Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. BMJ. 2012;344:e1717.
- 43. Kutney-Lee A, McHugh MD, Sloane DM, Cimiotti JP, Flynn L, Neff DF, Aiken LH. Nursing: a key to patient satisfaction. Health Aff (Millwood). 2009;28(4):w669-77.
- 44. Bruyneel L, Li B, Ausserhofer D, Lesaffre E, Dumitrescu I, Smith HL, Sloane DM, Aiken LH, Sermeus W. Organization of Hospital Nursing, Provision of Nursing Care, and Patient Experiences With Care in Europe. Med Care Res Rev. 2015;72(6):643-64.
- 45. Batalden M, Batalden P, Margolis P, Seid M, Armstrong G, Opipari-Arrigan L, Hartung H. Coproduction of healthcare service. BMJ Qual Saf. 2016;25(7):509-17.
- 46. Picker Institute. http://cgp.pickerinstitute.org/
- 47. Luxford K, Safran DG, Delbanco T. Promoting patient-centered care: a qualitative study of facilitators and barriers in healthcare organizations with a reputation for improving the patient experience. Int J Qual Health Care. 2011;23(5):510-5.
- 48. Normand S-LT, Shahian DM. Statistical and Clinical Aspects of Hospital Outcomes Profiling. Statistical Science. 2007;22(2):206-26.
- 49. Rowe G. Psychometric properties of the new Patients' Expectations Questionnaire. Patient Experience Journal. 2014;1(1):111-30.
- Shawa E, Omondi L, Mbakaya BC. Examining Surgical Patients' Expectations of Nursing Care at Kenyatta National Hospital in Nairobi, Kenya. European Scientific Journal, ESJ. 2017;13(24).
- 51. Abdel Maqsood AS, Oweis AI, Hasna FS. Differences between patients' expectations and satisfaction with nursing care in a private hospital in Jordan. International journal of nursing practice. 2012;18(2):140-6.

- 52. Bowling A, Rowe G, McKee M. Patients' experiences of their healthcare in relation to their expectations and satisfaction: a population survey. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine. 2013;106(4):143-9.
- 53. Berwick DM, James B, Coye MJ. Connections between quality measurement and improvement. Med Care. 2003;41(1 Suppl):I30-8.
- 54. Scott T, Mannion R, Davies HT, Marshall MN. Implementing culture change in health care: theory and practice. Int J Qual Health Care. 2003;15(2):111-8.
- 55. Lawton R, Taylor N, Clay-Williams R, Braithwaite J. Positive deviance: a different approach to achieving patient safety. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(11):880-3.
- Marsh DR, Schroeder DG, Dearden KA, Sternin J, Sternin M. The power of positive deviance. BMJ. 2004;329(7475):1177-9.
- 57. Davis S, Byers S, Walsh F. Measuring person-centred care in a sub-acute health care setting. Aust Health Rev. 2008;32(3):496-504.
- Charalambous A, Chappell NL, Katajisto J, Suhonen R. The conceptualization and measurement of individualized care. Geriatr Nurs. 2012;33(1):17-27.
- 59. Phillips NM, Street M, Haesler E. A systematic review of reliable and valid tools for the measurement of patient participation in healthcare. BMJ Qual Saf. 2015.
- 60. Hudon C, Fortin M, Haggerty JL, Lambert M, Poitras ME. Measuring patients' perceptions of patient-centered care: a systematic review of tools for family medicine. Ann Fam Med. 2011;9(2):155-64.
- Suhonen R, Papastavrou E, Efstathiou G, Tsangari H, Jarosova D, Leino-Kilpi H, Patiraki E, Karlou C, Balogh Z, Merkouris A. Patient satisfaction as an outcome of individualised nursing care. Scand J Caring Sci. 2012;26(2):372-80.
- 62. Jenkinson C, Coulter A, Bruster S. The Picker Patient Experience Questionnaire: development and validation using data from in-patient surveys in five countries. Int J Qual Health Care. 2002;14(5):353-8.
- 63. Tzelepis F, Sanson-Fisher RW, Zucca AC, Fradgley EA. Measuring the quality of patient-centered care: why patient-reported measures are critical to reliable assessment. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2015;9:831-5.
- 64. Sullivan JL, Meterko M, Baker E, Stolzmann K, Adjognon O, Ballah K, Parker V. A.. Reliability and validity of a person-centered care staff survey in veterans health administration community living centers. Gerontologist. 2013;53(4):596-607.
- 65. Suhonen R, Efstathiou G, Tsangari H, Jarosova D, Leino-Kilpi H, Patiraki E, Karlou C, Balogh Z, Merkouris A. Patients' and nurses' perceptions of individualised care: an international comparative study. J Clin Nurs. 2012;21(7-8):1155-67.
- 66. Suhonen R, Berg A, Idvall E, Kalafati M, Katajisto J, Land L, Lemonidou C, Schmidt LA, Valimaki M, Leino-Kilpi H. Adapting the Individualized Care Scale for cross-cultural comparison. Scand J Caring Sci. 2010;24(2):392-403.
- 67. Cheng L, Sit JWH, Choi KC, Chair SY, Li X, Wu Y, Long J, Tao M. Effectiveness of a patient-centred, empowerment-based intervention programme among patients with poorly controlled type 2 diabetes: A randomised controlled trial. Int J Nurs Stud. 2017;79:43-51.
- Edvardsson D, Sandman PO, Rasmussen B. Swedish language Person-centred Climate Questionnaire - patient version: construction and psychometric evaluation. J Adv Nurs. 2008;63(3):302-9.
- 69. AHRQ. CAHPS Hospital Survey (H-CAHPS) [Available from: https://www.cahps. ahrq.gov/.

- Cleary PD. Evolving Concepts of Patient-Centered Care and the Assessment of Patient Care Experiences: Optimism and Opposition. J Health Polit Policy Law. 2016;41(4):675-96.
- 71. DeCourcy A, West E, Barron D. The National Adult Inpatient Survey conducted in the English National Health Service from 2002 to 2009: how have the data been used and what do we know as a result? BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12:71.
- 72. Leatherman S, Sutherland K. A Quality Chartbook: Patient and Public Experience in the NHS. 2007.
- 73. Garratt A, Solheim E, Danielsen K. National and Cross-National Surveys of Patient Experiences: A Structured Review. NIPH Methods Resources. Oslo, Norway2008.
- 74. Ausserhofer D, Schubert M, Desmedt M, Blegen MA, De Geest S, Schwendimann R. The association of patient safety climate and nurse-related organizational factors with selected patient outcomes: a cross-sectional survey. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):240-52.
- 75. Bachnick S, Ausserhofer D, Baernholdt M, Simon M, Match<sup>RN</sup> resreach group. Patient-centered care, nurse work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals: A cross-sectional multi-center study. Int J Nurs Stud. 2017;81:98-106.
- Bovier PA, Charvet A, Cleopas A, Vogt N, Perneger TV. Self-reported management of pain in hospitalized patients: link between process and outcome. Am J Med. 2004;117(8):569-74.
- 77. Beattie M, Murphy DJ, Atherton I, Lauder W. Instruments to measure patient experience of healthcare quality in hospitals: a systematic review. Syst Rev. 2015;4:97.
- Chiang CY, Choi KC, Ho KM, Yu SF. Effectiveness of nurse-led patient-centered care behavioral risk modification on secondary prevention of coronary heart disease: A systematic review. Int J Nurs Stud. 2018;84:28-39.
- 79. Pirhonen L, Olofsson EH, Fors A, Ekman I, Bolin K. Effects of person-centred care on health outcomes-A randomized controlled trial in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Health Policy. 2017;121(2):169-79.
- Okrainec K, Lau D, Abrams HB, Hahn-Goldberg S, Brahmbhatt R, Huynh T, Lam K, Bell CM. Impact of patient-centered discharge tools: A systematic review. J Hosp Med. 2017;12(2):110-7.
- Uittenbroek RJ, van Asselt ADI, Spoorenberg SLW, Kremer HPH, Wynia K, Reijneveld SA. Integrated and Person-Centered Care for Community-Living Older Adults: A Cost-Effectiveness Study. Health Serv Res. 2018.
- Suhonen R, Valimaki M, Katajisto J, Leino-Kilpi H. Provision of individualised care improves hospital patient outcomes: an explanatory model using LISREL. Int J Nurs Stud. 2007;44(2):197-207.
- 83. Deek H, Hamilton S, Brown N, Inglis SC, Digiacomo M, Newton PJ, Noureddine S, MacDonald PS, Davidson PM, Family Project Investigators. Family-centred approaches to healthcare interventions in chronic diseases in adults: a quantitative systematic review. J Adv Nurs. 2016;72(5):968-79.
- 84. Bertakis KD, Azari R. Patient-centered care is associated with decreased health care utilization. J Am Board Fam Med. 2011;24(3):229-39.
- 85. Anhang Price R, Elliott MN, Zaslavsky AM, Hays RD, Lehrman WG, Rybowski L, Edgman-Levitan S, Cleary PD. Examining the role of patient experience surveys in measuring health care quality. Med Care Res Rev. 2014;71(5):522-54.

- 86. Stone S. A retrospective evaluation of the impact of the Planetree patient-centered model of care on inpatient quality outcomes. HERD. 2008;1(4):55-69.
- 87. Olsson LE, Jakobsson Ung E, Swedberg K, Ekman I. Efficacy of person-centred care as an intervention in controlled trials a systematic review. J Clin Nurs. 2013;22(3-4):456-65.
- 88. Friese CR, Xia R, Ghaferi A, Birkmeyer JD, Banerjee M. Hospitals In 'Magnet' Program Show Better Patient Outcomes On Mortality Measures Compared To Non-'Magnet' Hospitals. Health Aff (Millwood). 2015;34(6):986-92.
- 89. Kutney-Lee A, Stimpfel AW, Sloane DM, Cimiotti JP, Quinn LW, Aiken LH. Changes in patient and nurse outcomes associated with magnet hospital recognition. Med Care. 2015;53(6):550-7.
- McHugh MD, Kelly LA, Smith HL, Wu ES, Vanak JM, Aiken LH. Lower mortality in magnet hospitals. Med Care. 2013;51(5):382-8.
- 91. Greenfield D, Braithwaite J. Developing the evidence base for accreditation of healthcare organisations: a call for transparency and innovation. Qual Saf Health Care. 2009;18(3):162-3.
- 92. Thurneysen N, Plank T, Boes S. Analysis of costs and benefits of a re-accreditation of a Swiss acute care hospital. BMC Safety in Health. 2016;2(2).
- 93. Jarrar M, Rahman HA, Minai MS, AbuMadini MS, Larbi M. The function of patient-centered care in mitigating the effect of nursing shortage on the outcomes of care. Int J Health Plann Manage. 2018.
- 94. Zhu J, Dy SM, Wenzel J, Wu AW. Association of Magnet Status and Nurse Staffing With Improvements in Patient Experience With Hospital Care, 2008-2015. Med Care. 2018;56(2):111-20.
- 95. McGillis Hall L, Doran D, Baker GR, Pink GH, Sidani S, O'Brien-Pallas L, Donner GJ. Nurse staffing models as predictors of patient outcomes. Med Care. 2003;41(9):1096-109.
- 96. Wong CA, Cummings GG, Ducharme L. The relationship between nursing leadership and patient outcomes: a systematic review update. J Nurs Manag. 2013;21(5):709-24.
- 97. Aiken LH, Sloane DM, Bruyneel L, Van den Heede K, Sermeus W, Consortium RC. Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):143-53.
- 98. Ausserhofer D, Zander B, Busse R, Schubert M, De Geest S, Rafferty AM, Ball, J, Scott A, Kinnunen J, Heinen M, Sjetne IS, Moreno-Casbas T, Kozka M, Lindqvist R, Diomidous M, Bruyneel L, Sermeus W, Aiken LH, Schwendimann R, RN4Cast consortium. Prevalence, patterns and predictors of nursing care left undone in European hospitals: results from the multicountry cross-sectional RN4CAST study. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(2):126-35.
- 99. Schubert M, Ausserhofer D, Desmedt M, Schwendimann R, Lesaffre E, Li B, De Geest S. Levels and correlates of implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals–a cross sectional study. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):230-9.
- 100. Nationaler Verein für Qualitätsentwicklung in Spitälern und Kliniken (ANQ). Patientenzufriedenheit Akutsomatik, Erwachsene Nationaler Vergleichsbericht Messung 2016. Bern; 2017.
- 101. Simon M, Bachnick S, Schubert M. Mit Qualitätsmessung die Praxis verbessern. Krankenpflege- Soins infirmiers - Cure infermieristiche. 2016;11/2016: 32-3.
- 102. OECD/WHO. OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Switzerland. OECD Publishing; 2011.

- 103. OECD/EU. Health at a Glance: Europe 2016: State of Health in the EU Cycle. Paris,; 2016.
- 104. Sermeus W, Aiken LH, Van den Heede K, Rafferty AM, Griffiths P, Moreno-Casbas MT, Busse R, Lindqvist R, Scott AP, Bruyneel L, Brzostek T, Kinnunen J, Schubert M, Schoonhoven L, Zikos D, RN4Cast consortium. Nurse forecasting in Europe (RN4CAST): Rationale, design and methodology. BMC Nurs. 2011;10:6.
- 105. Schubert M, Glass TR, Clarke SP, Aiken LH, Schaffert-Witvliet B, Sloane DM, De Geest S. Rationing of nursing care and its relationship to patient outcomes: the Swiss extension of the International Hospital Outcomes Study. Int J Qual Health Care. 2008;20(4):227-37.
- 106. OECD. Health at a Glance 2017: OECD Indicators. Paris; 2017.
- 107. Geissler A, Quentin W, Scheller-Kreinsen D, Busse R. Introduction to DRGs in Europe: Common objectives across different hospital systems. In: Busse R, Geissler A, Quentin W, Wiley M, editors, editors. Diagnosis-Related Groups in Europe: Moving towards transparency, efficiency and quality in hospitals. Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press; 2011. p. 9-22.
- 108. Federal Statistical Office. Health: Pocket Statistics 2017. In: (FDHA) SCFDoHA, editor. Neuchâtel: Federal Statistical Office (FSO); 2017.
- 109. Or Z, Häkkinen U. DRGs and quality: For better or worse? . In: Busse R, Geissler A, Quentin W, Wiley M, editors. Diagnosis-Related Groups in Europe: Moving towards transparency, efficiency and quality in hospitals. Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press; 2011. p. 115-29.
- 110. Zrelak PA, Utter GH, Sadeghi B, Cuny J, Baron R, Romano PS. Using the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality patient safety indicators for targeting nursing quality improvement. J Nurs Care Qual. 2012;27(2):99-108.
- 111. Kleinknecht M, Frei IA, Spichiger E, Müller M, Martin JS, Staudacher D, Spirig R. Daten vor und nach der DRG-Einführung. Krankenpflege– Soins infirmiers Cure infermieristiche. 2011;02/2011: 16-9.
- 112. Match<sup>RN</sup> study group. http://www.matchrn.unibas.ch/. Nursing Science, University of Basel; 2015.
- 113. Crow R, Gage H, Hampson S, Hart J, Kimber A, Storey L, Thomas H. The measurement of satisfaction with healthcare: implications for practice from a systematic review of the literature. Health Technol Assess. 2002;6(32):1-244.
- 114. Bachnick S, Ausserhofer D, Baernholdt M, Simon M. (2018). Insufficient variance between providers with patient experience surveys: methodological considerations and findings from a Swiss multicenter study. To be submitted to Medical care

Chapter 2

## Study aims

The overall aim of this dissertation is (1) to identify structures and processes associated with PCC, (2) to identify potential differences in PCC provision between units and hospitals via advanced statistical methods and (3) to explore opportunities to improve PCC measurement. Furthermore, the evidence provided within this dissertation can be used to begin the process of identifying quality improvement strategies for both change and selection improvement pathways. These contributions are applicable nationally and internationally.

As this dissertation is embedded in the Matching Registered Nurse services with changing care demands (Match<sup>RN</sup>) study, the study protocol is included in this dissertation. It describes the rationale, aims, design and methodology, including setting and sample, as well as the relevant variables, measurements and data collection techniques of the Match<sup>RN</sup> study (Chapter 3).

Based on the gaps identified in the scientific literature, this dissertation examines the following specific aims:

Patient-centered care, the nurse work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care in the Match<sup>RN</sup> sample (Chapter 4)

- To describe the level of PCC in Swiss acute care hospitals;
- To examine the associations between PCC, the nurse work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals.

Insufficient variance between providers using patient experiences surveys: methodological considerations and findings from a Swiss multicenter study (Chapter 5)

- To describe the computation of the two types of the intra-class correlation to assess between-provider variability and reliability;
- To calculate both intra-class correlations in an empirical example of patient experience data in a national sample of Swiss acute care hospitals;
- To evaluate the appropriateness of several items in the empirical example.

Preferences matter when measuring patient experiences with hospital care - A cross-sectional multi-center study (Chapter 6)

- To assess levels of PCC in Swiss acute care hospitals;
- To assess patient preferences for selected care aspects in Swiss acute care hospitals;
- To examine between-provider variance for patients experience with PCC by controlling for patient preferences and patient and hospital characteristics.

### Chapter 3

## Matching Registered Nurse services with changing care demands (Match<sup>RN</sup>): study protocol of a natural experiment multi-centre study

Stefanie Bachnick<sup>1</sup> MSN, RN; Dietmar Ausserhofer<sup>1,2</sup> PhD, RN; Jean-Marie Januel<sup>3</sup> PhD, RN, Maria Schubert<sup>1,4</sup> PhD, RN; René Schwendimann<sup>5</sup> PhD, RN; Sabina De Geest<sup>1,6</sup> PhD, RN; Michael Simon<sup>1,4</sup> PhD, RN

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Nursing Sciences, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

- $^{2}$ Claudiana College of Health-Care Professions, Bolzano, Italy
- <sup>3</sup> EHESP–School of Public Health, University Sorbonne Paris City, France
- <sup>4</sup> Inselspital Bern University Hospital, Nursing Research Unit, Bern, Switzerland
- <sup>5</sup> Patient Safety Office, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland

 $^{6}$  Department of Primary Care and Public Health, Academic Center for Nursing and Midwifery, KU Leuven, Belgium

Published in Journal of Advanced Nursing (2017), 73(7), 1735-1746. doi: 10.1111/jan.13287

#### 3.1 Abstract

**Aim.** The aim of this study was to examine how patient safety indicators and processes and structures of nursing care have changed since the 2012 introduction of Swiss Diagnosis-Related Groups.

**Background.** Diagnosis-Related Groups have been implemented worldwide; yet, research findings regarding their impact on efficiency and quality of care remain inconsistent. The Matching Registered Nurse Services with Changing Care Demands study will assess how structures, processes and patient and nurse outcomes have changed in Swiss acute care hospitals since the introduction of Swiss Diagnosis-Related Groups.

**Design.** A multi-centre observational study nested in a natural experiment. Methods. To explore the effect of implementing Diagnosis-Related Groups in Switzerland we will compare nurse and patient survey data from 2010 with data from 2015 and eventually from 2017. Initially, we will match survey data from 78 medical and surgical units of 21 hospitals that participated in 2010 and 2015. Study variables related to structures and processes of nursing care (e.g. staffing/ skill mix level, nurse work environment, rationing of nursing care), as well as patient and nurse outcomes, were assessed with well-established instruments. In 2017, a follow-up survey will be conducted to explore long-term implications. Furthermore, 6 years' medical and surgical patient discharge data (collected 2010–2015) will be analysed to assess changes in the severity of patient illness, length of stay and selected patient safety indicators.

**Discussion.** This study's results will provide evidence regarding Diagnosis-Related Groups influences on Swiss nursing services and patient safety outcomes.
## 3.2 Introduction

For more than 30 years, activity-based funding systems such as Diagnosis-Related Groups (DRGs) have been implemented in healthcare systems worldwide to improve transparency, efficiency and quality of hospital care. Increased transparency is achieved by grouping patient health conditions and medical diagnostic or treatment procedures into categories, thereby allowing comparison of provided services' inputs and outputs. Increased efficiency is expected because DRGs incentivize hospitals to increase their financial sustainability either: (1) by increasing the number of patient cases treated; or (2) by reducing the services per case [1]. Improved quality of care, including patient safety [2, 3] is also expected because hospitals, in their efforts to become more efficient, attempt to improve clinical processes and care management [4]. However, clear evidence with consistent results regarding DRGs' effects and impacts on efficiency and quality of care are lacking. This study protocol describes the Match<sup>RN</sup> study, which will examine how, alongside processes and structures of nursing care, patient and nurse outcomes have changed since the DRGs were introduced in Switzerland.

## 3.3 Background

In 2012, Swiss Diagnosis-Related Groups (SwissDRGs) were implemented nationally for acute care hospital services in Switzerland. This implementation can be considered a natural experiment, i.e. an event neither planned nor manipulated by researchers, yet reflecting an independent variable influencing one or more dependent variables [5]. Because the implementation decision was made at the cantonal and federal levels, two major criteria of an experimental trial-random assignment and a researcher- controlled intervention, are unattainable.

## 3.3.1 Quality of the Swiss Healthcare System

Whether observed on its own or in comparison with other countries, the Swiss health system operates at a high level, e.g. regarding patient access to care, health workforce staffing [6-8]. In 2010, Switzerland participated in the international RN4CAST study. A total of 488 acute care hospitals in 11 European countries and 617 more in four US states were included in the sample. In Switzerland, roughly 1600 nurses and 1000 patients from 35 hospitals were surveyed. By international standards, Swiss hospitals demonstrate high quality of nursing care or high levels of patient safety and a good work environment quality, with high overall nurse work satisfaction [6, 7]. On a scale of 0 (worst) – 10 (best), 60% of participating patients rated their hospitals 9 or 10, with 78% reporting that they would recommend their hospitals to their families and friends [6]. The Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey (2011) found that, in a sample of 1500 sicker adults, 69% were satisfied with the Swiss care system [8]. Switzerland's nurse to patient ratio, which averages one registered nurse per 7 9 patients, is high compared with other countries, leading to high patient satisfaction [6]. All results above are based on studies conducted before the introduction of SwissDRGs in 2012.

## 3.3.2 Implementation of the DRGs in Switzerland

Before the implementation of SwissDRGs in Switzerland's 26 Swiss cantons in 2012, four different payment schemes were in use [9]. The first, 'process- and performance-based pricing' (PLT, Prozess-Leistungs-Tarifierung), stipulated a fixed amount to be paid prospectively per admitted patient per day. The second, 'All Patient Diagnosis-Related Groups' (APDRGs), was a prospective payment per case system similar to DRGs, but with an 'additional per diem rate to cover nursing and catering services' [9, p. 77]. Compared

with PLT, APDRGs allowed more precise resource calculation because of specific case weight consideration [9]. Third, 'department case-based payments' (DCPs), like PLT, used a fixed prospective amount per patient according to the involved department, without the additional per diem rates charged with APDRGs. Fourth, per diem reimbursement' was also a prospective system based on the days the patient stayed in hospital. Concerning the characteristics of these payment systems, they could be grouped into two main categories: (1) payment per case (APDRG and DCP); and (2) payment per day (PLT and per diem).

### 3.3.3 Effects of DRGs

Although international research on the effects of DRGs is available, there is no clear evidence on their impact on healthcare structures, processes and outcomes. A systematic review investigate the impact of active-based funding systems on patient mortality, hospital readmission rates and discharge to post-acute care settings (e.g. homecare), along with hospital patients' severity of illness and volume of care, compared with that of non-active-based funding systems [10]. Sixty-five studies (59 with before/after designs, three parallel groups designs, three with before/after and parallel designs) were included in the review. No differences were found regarding mortality; however, where active-based funding systems were used, the authors found increased patient discharges to post-acute care settings as well as higher levels of illness severity in hospital patients [10]. The findings on increased severity of illness indicate that hospitals reduced length of stay (LOS), i.e. by treating patients only during periods of acute illness. Several studies support this finding, including a pre-post study in 297 US hospitals, which pooled data from over 14,000 patients with congestive heart failure, acute myocardial infarction, pneumonia, cerebrovascular accident, or hip fracture and compared patient outcomes before and after the implementation of DRGs. While that study found no differences regarding mortality rates, it did indicate a 24%. LOS reduction following implementation of DRGs [11]. Similar reductions in LOS have been reported by other American [12, 13] and European studies [1, 14]. However, results regarding patient satisfaction are inconsistent. For example, of three studies examining the effects of DRGs on patient satisfaction with quality of care, two reported lower satisfaction following DRG implementation [15, 16], with the third reporting no change [14].

Few studies have investigated DRGs' impacts on nursing care structures and processes. A before/after study examined the effects of the German-DRG system on nurses' practice environments, job satisfaction and emotional exhaustion levels over a period of 10 years [17]. In addition to decreases in nurse staffing issues, their results indicated that, while the quality of collaboration between nurses and physicians increased overall, it decreased concerning perceived respectful and cooperative relationships between the two groups. In addition, following the implementation of DRGs, emotional exhaustion among nurses doubled (from 15% to 30%) and dissatisfaction with the nursing profession increased by 40% [17]. Furthermore, three consecutive nurses surveys – from 2003, 2006 and 2008 – found similar results in Germany and confirmed increasing incongruity between nurses' perceptions of high quality care and the actual care they could provide [18]. Although research examining the effects of DRGs is limited, the available evidence suggests negative effects on nurse-sensitive patient outcomes and possibly on patient safety.

For Switzerland, few studies have investigated the potential impact of SwissDRGs' introduction, little evidence exists on DRGs' impacts on structures, processes and outcomes relevant to nursing care quality. As the few available studies are limited by their use of parallel group designs before the national introduction [19, 20], small organizational-level samples [16, 21], or descriptive cross-sectional designs investigating professionals' perception [22, 23], they permit no sound conclusions regarding changes in

the outcomes of interest.  $Match^{RN}$  will examine how processes and structures of nursing care, as well as patient and nurse outcomes, have changed following the implementation of DRGs in Switzerland and how services can be organized to best respond to changing care demands.

## 3.4 Aims

The four specific aims of  $Match^{RN}$  are:

- To describe how the structure of Swiss nursing services (e.g. staffing) and the nursing work environment (e.g. leadership) changed following the introduction of SwissDRGs;
- To describe how processes of nursing care (e.g. rationing of nursing care) changed following the introduction of SwissDRGs;
- To explore how the case mixes of nursing departments (e.g. severity of illness) and nurse-sensitive patient safety indicators (e.g. postoperative complications) changed following the introduction of SwissDRGs; and
- To explore the impact on nursing structures and processes and on outcomes for nurses (e.g. job satisfaction) and patients (e.g. patient safety indicators) following the introduction of SwissDRGs.

#### 3.4.1 Conceptual framework

This study's conceptual framework (see Figure 3.1) is based on structural contingency theory [24], Donabedians Quality Framework [25] and principles of Lean Management [26]. How organizations respond to a major health policy change such as the implementation of DRGs can be described via structural contingency theory [24]. This perspective assumes that organizations fit with their environments (e.g. hospitals fit into the healthcare system), although close fits require adjustments to those environments. In the healthcare context, the quality of an organization's fit is expressed by its performance, e.g. a hospital's level of safety and quality of the care (nurse and patient outcomes) and the efficiency of its service (i.e. on the levels of structure and process) [27].

Considering research from other countries using DRGs, one expected consequence of the SwissDRG implementation is that patient case mixes will include increasing levels of illness severity, reflecting reductions in LOS. As open systems, hospitals have functional mechanisms to fit them to their environments, i.e. they develop diverse structures and processes to adapt and attain the required performance levels.

Performance in healthcare is commonly described using Donabedian's Quality Framework, which includes three dimensions of care quality: structures, processes and outcomes [25], overlapping somewhat with structural contingency theory. On the structural dimension, cost containment measures could lead to an overall reduction of nurse staffing, or replacement of qualified staff with less qualified staff [28]. Nurse staffing, including skill mix, has been associated with patient outcomes including mortality, failure to rescue and patient experience with hospital care [29, 30]. Different models of nursing care organization, e.g. the functional or professional model, have been linked to patient safety outcomes such as medication errors or falls [31]. On the process dimension of care quality, organizational efforts to develop new processes or redesign existing ones are very likely.

One way of describing processes in health care is via the principles of lean management, e.g. value, flow and perfection [26]. Value is represented by a service's levels of accessibility and patient-centredness [32]. Flow refers to the smoothness of the

service's operations, which can be measured by waiting times. For example, failures in level scheduling can lead to rationing of nursing care, which has been associated with negative patient outcomes [33]. Finally, perfection reflects the attitudes and behaviours of nurses to prevent errors, which is expressed, e.g. by the patient safety climate [34].

Hospitals need to adapt to the DRG introduction by re-organizing their structures and processes of nursing care. Work environment factors, such as organizations readiness and behaviour in response to change [35] and a supportive nursing practice environment, including, e.g. strong leadership and inter-professional collaboration [36], are important to maintain or regain fit to their changing environments. Adaptations of nursing service structures and processes are associated with patient outcomes [37] and processes, structures and work environment factors are associated with nurse outcomes such as burnout [38] and intention to leave [39], which have long-term consequences regarding healthcare work-force sustainability.



Figure 3.1: Conceptual model of DRG impact on nursing services' structures, processes and outcome

## 3.5 Design and methodology

Match<sup>RN</sup> is a 4-year health service research project (2015-2018) to evaluate the effects of SwissDRG implementation in a national sample of acute care hospitals. The study is observational, with multiple data collection periods (2010, 2015 & 2017) and approaches the introduction of SwissDRGs as a natural experiment. Regarding the various reimbursement systems used prior to the nation-wide SwissDRG implementation (see Table 3.1), hospitals were classed as either under 'DRG-treatment or as control.

Payment system in 2010	Hospital	Units	Nurses	Patients
APDRG	8	32	970	1350
DCP	1	4	280	200
PLT	10	34	1475	1850
Per diem	2	8	315	560
Total identical RN4CAST & Match <sup><math>RN</math></sup>	21	78	NA	NA
Total in $Match^{RN}$	23	124	3,040*	$3,\!960$

Table 3.1: Swiss payments system in 2010 with the number of hospitals, units (divided in identical with RN4CAST and all together in Match<sup>RN</sup>) and expected nurse and patient questionnaires for Match<sup>RN</sup>

 $\label{eq:approx} APDRG \mbox{ All Patient Diagnosis-Related Groups, $DCP$ department case-based payments, $PLT$ process- and performance-based pricing, $RN4CAST$ data collection in 2010, $Match^{RN}$ data collection in 2015, * expected$ 

Because of variations in cantonal health policy, the assignment to the two groups followed an 'as if randomization. Match<sup>RN</sup> combines 2010 (pre-DRG implementation) patient and nurse survey data from the Swiss arm of the RN4CAST study [40] with post-DRG implementation follow-up data collected for Match<sup>RN</sup> in 2015 and 2017. The resulting datasets will allow examination of short- and long-term post-implementation changes in structures, processes and outcomes of nursing care. Moreover, Match<sup>RN</sup> uses – and will use – routine discharge data provided by the Swiss Federal Statistical Office to assess changes in levels of severity of illness, LOS and patient safety indicators (PSIs), e.g. central line-related bloodstream infections of postoperative sepsis, between 2010, 2015 and 2017. Figure 3.2 provides an overview of how the study's four aims and various ongoing data sources are interrelated and will inform one another (data collection from 2017 in Figure 3.2 excluded).



Figure 3.2: Study aims and relationships between data sources (data collection and sources for 2017 not yet extant).

#### 3.5.1 Setting and sample

The study takes place on medical and surgical hospital units. These units serve the highest numbers of patients and the science of measuring structures and outcomes in nursing services is the most advanced in their service lines [41].

Baseline (pre-SwissDRG implementation) nurse and patient survey data from 2010 were originally collected for the Swiss arm of the RN4CAST study [40]. To collect DRG

post-implementation data, we surveyed nurses and patients in the same units and hospitals in 2015. In Switzerland, the RN4CAST study applied a quota sampling strategy to include 35 hospitals across the German, French and Italian language regions, representing all types of acute care hospital ranging from small rural hospitals to large university hospitals [42]. In each hospital, the RN4CAST researcher selected a random sample of medical and surgical units (N=132 units). For Match<sup>RN</sup>, we invited all of the RN4CAST studys 35 participating hospitals, of which 21 (60%) agreed to participate. Of these facilities 132 eligible units, 59% (78 units) agreed to participate. In addition, two other hospitals and 46 units volunteered to participate and were included in the study, but were excluded from specific analyses focusing on the before/after aspects of the study. Because of the RN4CAST study's wide range of variables of interest and pre-determined sample, no formal power analysis could be conducted.

Table 3.1 shows the various reimbursement systems used prior to SwissDRG implementation and the number of hospitals and units that contributed to the RN4CAST 2010 data collection. Regarding the two reimbursement categories we used, nine hospitals, including 36 eligible units, used per-case payment, while 12 hospitals with 42 participating units used per-day payment systems. In addition, Table 3.1 depicts the expected number of patient and nurse questionnaires, as well as the total sample of hospitals participating in Match<sup>RN</sup>. All nurses on the participating units, e.g. registered nurses, certified nurses and nurse aides, were asked to complete the survey. All patients on these units at the time of data collection were also asked to participate, provided they fulfill the inclusion criteria, i.e. they are aged 18 years or older, in sufficiently healthy to participate, have been hospitalized at least 24 hours, understand German, French or Italian, or have not already completed the questionnaire. Nurses of the respective units recruit the patients, while hospital and unit managers collect administrative data in participating units and hospitals. Furthermore,  $Match^{RN}$  uses patient discharge data recorded by all hospitals in Switzerland from 2010 to 2015. On the basis of analyses of the RN4CAST studys 2010 data, we expect to include dis- charge data from approximately 300,000 patients for each year (N = 1,800,000 patients). In 2017, a further survey of patients and nurses in the same hospital units will be conducted.

## 3.5.2 Variables and measurement

 $Match^{RN}$  uses variables and measurements from the following six data sources:

#### Nurse survey

The Match<sup>RN</sup> survey is based on the RN4CAST survey [40], with modified scales and additional items. For example, quality of the nurse work environment is measured via a modified version of the Practice Environment Scale of the Nursing Work Index [43] and Safety Culture with the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) hospital survey on patient safety culture [44], the Safety Organizing Scale [45] and the Safety Attitude Questionnaire (SAQ) [46]. In addition, the sur- vey asks for social demographic data (age, gender, professional experience). The nurse survey contains 177 items across 15 different scales, along with several items revised, adopted and otherwise developed by the Match<sup>RN</sup> study team. Details can be found in Table S1. The scales used have undergone validity and reliability testing and have been used successfully in previous national and inter- national outcome studies [38, 40].

## Patient survey

Match<sup>RN</sup> assesses patient satisfaction via a revised version of the Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) survey [47], reflecting patient experiences with nursing care and overall hospital care. Our version includes 12 items, reflecting four domains: (1) nurses care; (2) experiences in the hospital including pain management and communication about medications; (3) received discharge information; and (4) general hospital-related recommendations. Psychometric evaluation of the HCAHPS demonstrated excellent validity (e.g. internal structure) and reliability (e.g. internal consistency) [48]. To reflect patient views on patient-centredness of care processes, we use a revised version of the General Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS-PEQ) with 14 items on patient experiences [49]. In the Match<sup>RN</sup> study, we will test further psychometric properties of the GS-PEQ. In addition, the patient survey gathers demographic information (age, gender, educational level). Furthermore, with the permission of the EuroQol Executive Office, we included the EQ-5D-3L scale with the five dimensions (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, or anxiety/depression) and three answer options (no problems, some problems, extreme problems) to assess patient functional status [50]. In total, the patient questionnaire includes 37 items from five different item sources and scales, which were also partly revised and adopted from the Match<sup>RN</sup> study team. Details of the scales can be found in Table S2.

#### Unit survey

The self-developed nine-item unit survey assesses organizational characteristics of the participating units, such as size (bed count) and service line.

#### Hospital survey

The hospital survey (13 items) assesses hospital level characteristics such as staffing, grade mix and staff turnover rates.

#### Hospital statistics

Hospital statistics provided by the Swiss Federal Statistical Office (Bundesamt für Statistik) will provide information about the facility profile including its bed size, ownership status (e.g. privat, not for profit, public) and type (i.e. district, general, teaching hospitals).

#### Patient discharge data

We will use routine hospital discharge data collected from all Swiss hospitals between 2010-2015 by the Swiss Federal Statistical Office. Although the necessary data are available in two standard versions, researchers are required to negotiate data use agreements to obtain the data with certain specifications. The planned analyses will be dependent on these data use agreements. Hospital data are anonymized concerning both administrative information on patients (e.g. gender, age) and comprehensive healthcare information, e.g. medical diagnoses and interventions during hospital inpatient stays, as well as discharge information. Match<sup>RN</sup> will investigate three areas of interest from discharge data:

LOS: the number of inpatient days will be measured by the difference between the discharge and admission dates +1 day. Severity of illness will be measured using the Charlson comorbidity index for ICD-10 codes and the Elixhauser comorbidity index [51]. The c-statistic will be used to select the most valid measure for the PSIs.

PSIs of AHRQ will be assessed using those indicators found most nursing sensitive [3]: (a) central line-related bloodstream infection; (b) postoperative sepsis; (c) postoperative deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism; (d) postoperative respiratory failure and (e) pressure ulcers. The measurement of PSIs is based on an algorithm using International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision (ICD10) codes, including a selection of secondary diagnoses in the numerator (to identify potentially relevant hospital-related adverse events) and DRG, ICD or/and procedure codes (CHOP) in the denominator to define the population at risk [52]. The population at risk in the PSI denominator may vary according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria of the

respective PSIs (e.g. for pressure ulcers, patients with LOS <5 days, with a diagnosis of skin disease in any coding field and who are admitted with the principal diagnosis of pressure ulcer, will be excluded from the denominator).

#### Survey translation and validity testing

Original English language scales and items, which are not available in German, French or Italian, have been translated first into German using a modified Brislin protocol, a systematic translation process [53]. French and Italian language versions were translated from the German version using forward-backward translation. After this, an expert panel review of bilingual clinical and research nurses fluent in each target language reviewed each item regarding cultural adaptations. To ensure comprehensibility and to check for response patterns, the entire German and French versions of the nurse questionnaire were pilot tested with nurses with a range of educational levels. Likewise, the full German and French language versions of the patient questionnaire were pilot tested with patient volunteers. Experienced nurses reviewed the Italian language versions. For all language versions of both the nurse and patient questionnaires, adaptations were made as necessary for wording and clarity.

#### 3.5.3 Data collection

The data collection followed the same procedures as used in the RN4CAST study [42]. Between September 2015–January 2016, all participating hospitals and units received the questionnaires, including postage-paid return envelopes. Completed questionnaires were either returned directly to the study team by normal post or first collected in boxes placed on each unit, then returned by the unit coordinator.

For the nurse survey, the unit coordinators distributed the questionnaire to all nurses of the participating units. To allow follow-up of response rates and posting of reminders, we asked all participating hospitals to provide the number of nurses employed on each participating unit. For the patient survey,  $Match^{RN}$  took a day census approach. In each unit, on two randomly selected working days (with an interval of at least 2 weeks) during the study period, the contact person (e.g. the unit coordinator or a nurse specialist) invited all eligible patients to complete the questionnaire. Each questionnaire included a unit-specific code, allowing us to check response rates. For the patient survey, on units with fewer than 10 responses after two data collection days, a third randomly selected data collection day was permitted.

The unit and hospital managers completed the surveys for their respective organizational levels. A data entry service will manually enter all questionnaire data into a database. Further data collection for the Match<sup>RN</sup> study will be conducted in 2017 on the same hospital units. Furthermore, we will use hospital statistics and hospital routine discharge data from all Swiss hospitals between 2010 and 2015. This data will be obtained directly from the participating hospitals or from the Swiss Federal Statistical Office after concluding a data privacy contract.

#### 3.5.4 Data analysis

To deal with risks inherent in natural experiments, e.g. 'selection on observables', we will use a regression analysis or propensity score matching approaches. In contrast, 'selection on unobservables risk refers to situations when variable that cannot be observed directly are associated with the dependent variable but unevenly distributed across the groups (pre-post-SwissDRG implementation). In these situations, instrumental variable, regression discontinuity or difference in differences approaches are suggested [5]. Regression discontinuity designs require a clearly defined step change, which did not occur

with the SwissDRG introduction. Changes to care structures and processes are likely to evolve over longer periods with no clearly defined step change; and some Swiss cantons introduced SwissDRGs before their national implementation in 2012. Another alternative would be instrumental variables [54], which proved difficult to identify in the context of this study. Therefore, a difference in differences approach, which compares changes over time in exposed (SwissDRG) and unexposed (non-SwissDRG) groups, offers the most promising strategy to overcome possible selection bias on unobservables. Consequently, the comparison of changes of severity of illness, LOS, PSIs and nurse outcomes will be possible between cantons with DRGs already implemented in 2010 (parallel design in RN4CAST data) and those that waited for the national implementation in 2012 (RN4CAST data vs. Match<sup>RN</sup> data).

In accordance with our study aims,  $Match^{RN}$  involves the following descriptive and inferential statistics:

#### Aims 1 and 2

We will compute descriptive statistics to describe the sociodemographic and professional characteristics of nurses and variables related to the structure of nursing services and the quality of the nurses' work environment. For these analyses, the study team will complete two basic steps: (1) genetic propensity score matching with balance optimization [55]; and (2) hidden bias assessment with Rosenbaum bounds [56]. The matched analysis will account for clustering at the unit and hospital levels via multilevel analysis [57].

#### Aim 3

Considering the sample and the types of changes involved in this natural experiment, two types of variation are expected in this study: (1) those between pre- and post-SwissDRG periods; and (2) those between hospitals as random-effect variations. The evaluation examines potential measurement variations that could be explained by various fixed-effect factors related to case mix (e.g. gender, age) and hospital characteristics (e.g. hospital size). We will use hierarchical generalized linear models-an extension of generalized linear models that allows the dependent variables a variety of error structures, including normal, binomial and Poisson distributions.

## Aim 4

Using hierarchical generalized linear models,  $Match^{RN}$  will assess potential associations between structures and processes of nursing care and three types of outcomes: (1) LOS; (2) PSIs and (3) nurse outcomes (i.e. job satisfaction, burnout and turnover intentions). For statistical analyses we will use open source software R Version 3.3.2 for Mac OS X.

## 3.5.5 Ethical considerations

Because of the Match<sup>*RN*</sup> study's observational and anonymous data collection approach, it received exempt status approval from all ethics committees responsible for the 23 participating hospitals, all of which their provided informed consent to participate. Nurse and patient participants received the questionnaire with a covering letter introducing the studys purpose, explaining and guaranteeing the protection of their anonymity and emphasizing that participation is voluntary. To protect the anonymity of all individual participants, we will apply relevant protection mechanisms (e.g. coded dataset numbers, secured data storage). Participation in both the nurse and the patient survey is voluntary; filling out and submitting the questionnaire will be considered as informed consent. Patient discharge data will be requested from the Swiss Federal Statistical Office. As these data are not linkable to any patient names, anonymity is fully guaranteed.

## 3.5.6 Validity and reliability

Several steps have been taken to ensure the validity and reliability of the study. First, data collection employed established or pre-tested instruments. For scales used for the first time in Switzerland, we will test reliability e.g. using factor analyses and Cronbach's alpha. For translation of the scales, we conducted a systematic backward-forward translation process. For all language versions of questionnaires, we asked experts for feedback to explore face validity. In addition, the questionnaires were pilot tested with appropriate target groups. Second, to deal with common problems of observational studies, the omission of important confounders (e.g. unobserved confounders in one group and the strength of the effect of the unobserved confounder), we will conduct sensitivity analyses to determine the robustness of effects [58] and the extent to which plausible changes of assumptions affect conclusions [56].

## 3.5.7 Stakeholder involvement

Match<sup>RN</sup> will build on the RN4CAST project's established stakeholder group, with 'the ultimate goal ... [of] engaging stakeholders to create a common understanding by soliciting knowledge, experience, judgment and values [59, p. 5]. Since the start of this research project, we have established a panel of more than 15 stakeholders, including regional and national level representatives of nursing, consumer and healthcare organizations.

## 3.6 Discussion

Benefiting stakeholders in the Swiss healthcare system, including policy makers, hospital managers, healthcare professionals and the general public,  $Match^{RN}$  will provide new knowledge on how care has changed in Swiss hospitals since the implementation of SwissDRGs. Such knowledge will provide the basis for policy briefs, deliberative dialogues, public discussions and organizational learning based on the strategies of 'best performing hospitals.

Despite several studies on the implementation of the SwissDRG policy, levels of certainty remain low concerning how DRGs have influenced the overall quality of hospital care regarding structures, processes or outcomes of nursing services. Match<sup>RN</sup> will help to address this knowledge gap by identifying both changes in nursing practices and how those changes have influenced the quality of patient care. Beginning with a clear perspective on nursing services, including the nursing work environment and patient outcomes, the results will inform the health policy community about DRGs' impact on the quality and safety of Swiss patient care.

## 3.6.1 Limitation

Because of its natural experiment design and the resulting lack of random assignment, concurrent control groups and researcher-controlled interventions,  $Match^{RN}$  has a risk of selection bias (i.e. selection on observables and unobservables). We will address this potential bias by following the Medical Research Councils recommended strategies, including multiple pre/post measures, the use of multiple exposed and unexposed groups, measurement of con- founders and combinations of these methods, as well as analytical approaches, e.g. propensity score matching and difference in differences analysis [60].

## 3.7 Conclusion

 $Match^{RN}$  is a highly relevant and timely health service research project that investigates the impact of the 'natural experiment' of SwissDRG implementation. Based on a large multi-centre sample of more than 21 hospitals across Switzerlands German, French and Italian regions, the proposed research project will contribute to the literature on DRGs and will allow the expansion of research capacities and collaboration in health services and nursing research.

## 3.8 Acknowledgement

We would like to thank all participating patients and nurses as well as the hospital and unit coordinators.

## 3.9 Funding

This study was funded by the participating hospitals of  $Match^{RN}$ .

## 3.10 Conflict of interest

No conflict of interest has been declared by the authors.

## **3.11** Author contributions

All authors have agreed on the final version and meet at least one of the following criteria [recommended by the ICMJE (http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/)]:

- substantial contributions to conception and design, acquisition of data or analysis and interpretation of data;
- drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content.

## 3.12 Supporting information

Additional supporting information may be found online in the supporting information tab for this article.

## 3.13 References

- Geissler A, Quentin W, Scheller-Kreinsen D, Busse R. Introduction to DRGs in Europe: Common objectives across different hospital systems. In: Busse R, Geissler A, Quentin W, Wiley M, editors, editors. Diagnosis-Related Groups in Europe: Moving towards transparency, efficiency and quality in hospitals. Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press; 2011. p. 9-22.
- 2. Blegen MA. Patient safety in hospital acute care units. Annu Rev Nurs Res. 2006;24:103-25.
- 3. Zrelak PA, Utter GH, Sadeghi B, Cuny J, Baron R, Romano PS. Using the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality patient safety indicators for targeting nursing quality improvement. J Nurs Care Qual. 2012;27(2):99-108.
- 4. Or Z, Häkkinen U. DRGs and quality: For better or worse? . In: Busse R, Geissler A, Quentin W, Wiley M, editors. Diagnosis-Related Groups in Europe: Moving towards transparency, efficiency and quality in hospitals. Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press; 2011. p. 115-29.

- 5. Craig P, Cooper C, Gunnell D, Haw S, Lawson K, Macintyre S, Ogilvie D, Petticrew M, Reeves B, Sutton M, Thompson S. Using natural experiments to evaluate population health interventions: new Medical Research Council guidance. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2012;66(12):1182-6.
- 6. Aiken LH, Sermeus W, Van den Heede K, Sloane DM, Busse R, McKee M, Bruyneel L, Rafferty AM, Griffiths P, Moreno-Casbas MT, Tishelman C, Scott A, Brzostek T, Kinnunen J, Schwendimann R, Heinen M, Zikos D, Sjetne IS, Smith HL, Kutney-Lee A. Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. BMJ. 2012;344:e1717.
- 7. RN4CAST study Results from Switzerland [Internet]. 2012.
- Busse R, Geissler A, Aaviksoo A, Cots F, Hakkinen U, Kobel C, Mateus C, Or Z, O'Reilly J, Serden L, Street A, Tan SS, Quentin W. Diagnosis related groups in Europe: moving towards transparency, efficiency, and quality in hospitals? BMJ. 2013;346:f3197.
- 9. Meyer S. Payment schemes and cost efficiency: evidence from Swiss public hospitals. International Journal of Health Economics and Management. 2015;15:73-97.
- 10. Palmer KS, Agoritsas T, Martin D, Scott T, Mulla SM, Miller AP, Agarwal A, Bresnahan A, Hazzan AA, Jeffery RA, Merglen A, Negm A, Siemieniuk RA, Bhatnagar N, Dhalla IA, Lavis JN, You JJ, Duckett SJ, Guyatt GH. Activity-based funding of hospitals and its impact on mortality, readmission, discharge destination, severity of illness, and volume of care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e109975.
- Kahn KL, Keeler EB, Sherwood MJ, Rogers WH, Draper D, Bentow SS, Reinisch EJ, Rubenstein LV, Kosecoff J, Brook RH. Comparing outcomes of care before and after implementation of the DRG-based prospective payment system. JAMA. 1990;264(15):1984-8.
- 12. Schwartz MH, Tartter PI. Decreased length of stay for patients with colorectal cancer: implications of DRG use. J Healthc Qual. 1998;20(4):22-5.
- 13. Gillen R, Tennen H, McKee T. The impact of the inpatient rehabilitation facility prospective payment system on stroke program outcomes. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2007;86(5):356-63.
- 14. Farrar S, Yi D, Sutton, M, Chalkley M, Sussex J, Scott A. Has payment by results affected the way that English hospitals provide care? Difference-in-differences analysis. British Medical Journal. 2009;339:1-8.
- 15. Ljunggren B, Sjoden PO. Patient reported quality of care before vs. after the implementation of a diagnosis related groups (DRG) classification and payment system in one Swedish county. Scandinavian journal of caring sciences. 2001;15(4):283-94.
- 16. Thommen D, Weissenberger N, Schuetz P, Mueller B, Reemts C, Holler T, Schifferli JA, Gerber M, Hug BL. Head-to-head comparison of length of stay, patients' outcome and satisfaction in Switzerland before and after SwissDRG-Implementation in 2012 in 2012: an observational study in two tertiary university centers. Swiss Med Wkly. 2014;144:w13972.
- 17. Zander B, Dobler, L., Busse, R. The introduction of DRG funding and hospital nurses' changing perceptions of their practice environment, quality of care and satisfaction: Comparison of cross-sectional surveys over a 10-year period. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2013;50(2):219-29.

- 18. Braun B, Klinke S, Müller R, & , Rosenbrock R. Einfluss der DRGs auf Arbeitsbedingungen und Versorgungsqualität von Pflegekräften im Krankenhaus: Ergebnisse einer bundesweiten schriftlichen Befragung repräsentativer Stichproben von Pflegekräften an Akutkrankenhäusern in den Jahren 2003, 2006 und 2008:. (artec). 2011;artec-paper 173.
- 19. Busato A, von Below G. The implementation of DRG-based hospital reimbursement in Switzerland: A population-based perspective. Health research policy and systems / BioMed Central. 2010;8:31.
- Weissenberger N, Thommen D, Schuetz P, Mueller B, Reemts C, Holler T, Schifferli JA, Gerber M, Hug BL. Head-to-head comparison of fee-for-service and diagnosis related groups in two tertiary referral hospitals in Switzerland: an observational study. Swiss Med Wkly. 2013;143:w13790.
- 21. Stauber IA, Angst F, Meier J, Lehmann S, Aeschlimann A, Michel B. Swiss Diagnosis Related Groups: a prospective study in rehabilitation comparing outcome before and after its introduction into acute health care. Swiss Med Wkly. 2014;144:w14004.
- 22. Fässler M, Wild V, Clarinval C, Tschopp A, Faehnrich JA, Biller-Andorno N. Impact of the DRG-based reimbursement system on patient care and professional practise: perspectives of Swiss hospital physicians. Swiss Med Wkly. 2015;145:w14080.
- 23. Leu A, Gächter T, Elger B. Führt SwissDRG zu einer Minderversorgung vulnerabler Patientengruppen? Pflegerecht. 2015;1/15.
- 24. Donaldson L. The Contingency Theory of Organizations: SAGE Publications, Inc; 2001.
- 25. Donabedian A. Evaluating the quality of medical care. The Milbank Memorial Fund quarterly. 1966;44(3):Suppl:166-206.
- 26. Kollberg B, Dahlgaard JJ, Brehmer P-O. Measuring lean initiatives in health care services: issues and findings. International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management. 2006;56(1):7-24.
- 27. Smith PC, Mossialos E, Papanicolas I, Leatherman S. Performance Measurement for Health System Improvement: Experiences, Challenges and Prospects. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2009.
- 28. Sochalski J, Aiken LH, Fagin CM. Hospital restructuring in the United States, Canada, and Western Europe: an outcomes research agenda. Medical care. 1997;35(10 Suppl):OS13-25.
- 29. Aiken LH, Sloane DM, Bruyneel L, Van den Heede K, Griffiths P, Busse R, Diomidous M, Kinnunen J, Kozka M, Lesaffre E, McHugh MD, Moreno-Casbas MT, Rafferty AM, Schwendimann R, Scott PA, Tishelman C, van Achterberg T, Sermeus W,RN4Cast Consortium. Nurse staffing and education and hospital mortality in nine European countries: a retrospective observational study. Lancet. 2014;383(9931):1824-30.
- 30. Griffiths P, Ball J, Drennan J, DallOra C, Jones J, Maruotti A, Poe C,Saucedo AR, Simon M. Nurse staffing and patient outcomes: strengths and limitations of the evidence to inform policy and practice. A review and discussion paper based on evidence reviewed for the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence Safe Staffing guideline development. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2015.
- 31. Dubois CA, D'Amour D, Tchouaket E, Clarke S, Rivard M, Blais R. Associations of patient safety outcomes with models of nursing care organization at unit level in hospitals. Int J Qual Health Care. 2013;25(2):110-7.
- 32. Jackson TL. Mapping Clinical Value Streams. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2013.

- 33. Ausserhofer D, Zander B, Busse R, Schubert M, De Geest S, Rafferty AM, Ball, J, Scott A, Kinnunen J, Heinen M, Sjetne IS, Moreno-Casbas T, Kozka M, Lindqvist R, Diomidous M, Bruyneel L, Sermeus W, Aiken LH, Schwendimann R, RN4Cast consortium. Prevalence, patterns and predictors of nursing care left undone in European hospitals: results from the multicountry cross-sectional RN4CAST study. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(2):126-35.
- 34. Huang DT, Clermont G, Kong L, Weissfeld LA, Sexton JB, Rowan KM, Angus DC. Intensive care unit safety culture and outcomes: a US multicenter study. Int J Qual Health Care. 2010;22(3):151-61.
- 35. Weiner BJ. A theory of organizational readiness for change. Implement Sci. 2009;4:67.
- 36. Lake ET, Friese CR. Variations in nursing practice environments: relation to staffing and hospital characteristics. Nurs Res. 2006;55(1):1-9.
- 37. Griffiths P, Ball J, Drennan J, Dall'Ora C, Jones J, Maruotti A, Poe C, Saucedo AR, Simon, M. The association between patient safety outcomes and nurse/healthcare assistant skill mix and staffing levels & factors that may influence staffing requirements UK. NICE; 2014.
- 38. Aiken LH, Clarke SP, Sloane DM, Sochalski J, Silber JH. Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. JAMA. 2002;288(16):1987-93.
- 39. Simon M, Muller BH, Hasselhorn HM. Leaving the organization or the profession a multilevel analysis of nurses' intentions. J Adv Nurs. 2010;66(3):616-26.
- 40. Sermeus W, Aiken LH, Van den Heede K, Rafferty AM, Griffiths P, Moreno-Casbas MT, Busse R, Lindqvist R, Scott AP, Bruyneel L, Brzostek T, Kinnunen J, Schubert M, Schoonhoven L, Zikos D, RN4Cast consortium. Nurse forecasting in Europe (RN4CAST): Rationale, design and methodology. BMC Nurs. 2011;10:6.
- 41. Kane RL, Shamliyan T, Mueller C, Duval S, Wilt TJ. Nurse staffing and quality of patient care. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep). 2007(151):1-115.
- 42. Ausserhofer D, Schubert M, Engberg S, Blegen M, De G, Schwendimann R. Nurse-reported patient safety climate in Swiss hospitals: a descriptive-explorative substudy of the Swiss RN4CAST study. Swiss Med Wkly. 2012;142:w13501.
- 43. Lake ET. Development of the practice environment scale of the Nursing Work Index. Res Nurs Health. 2002;25(3):176-88.
- 44. Blegen MA, Gearhart S, O'Brien R, Sehgal NL, Alldredge BK. AHRQ's hospital survey on patient safety culture: psychometric analyses. J Patient Saf. 2009;5(3):139-44.
- 45. Vogus TJ, Sutcliffe KM. The Safety Organizing Scale: development and validation of a behavioral measure of safety culture in hospital nursing units. Medical care. 2007;45(1):46-54.
- 46. Sexton JB, Helmreich RL, Neilands TB, Rowan K, Vella K, Boyden J, Roberts PR, Thomas EJ. The Safety Attitudes Questionnaire: psychometric properties, benchmarking data, and emerging research. BMC Health Serv Res. 2006;6:44.
- 47. CAHPS Hospital Survey (H-CAHPS) [Internet]. Available from: https://www.cahps.ahrq.gov/.
- 48. Jha AK, Orav EJ, Zheng J, Epstein AM. Patients' perception of hospital care in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(18):1921-31.
- 49. Sjetne IS, Bjertnaes OA, Olsen RV, Iversen HH, Bukholm G. The Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS-PEQ): identification of core items from a survey in Norway. BMC Health Serv Res. 2011;11:88.

- 50. EuroQol Research Foundation. http://www.euroqol.org/
- 51. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. Medical care. 1998;36(1):8-27.
- 52. Januel JM. Développement déindicateurs de la sécurité des soins (PSI) à partir des bases de données médico-administratives hospitaliéres. Rapport final. Direction de la recherche, des átudes, de lévaluation et des statistiques (DREES); 2011.
- 53. Jones PS, Lee JW, Phillips LR, Zhang XE, Jaceldo KB. An adaptation of Brislin's translation model for cross-cultural research. Nurs Res. 2001;50(5):300-4.
- 54. Greenland, Sander. An introduction to instrumental variables for epidemiologists. International Journal of Epidemiology. 2000;29(4):722-9.
- 55. Sekhon JS. Multivariate and Propensity Score Matching Software with Automated Balance Optimization: The Matching package for R. Journal of Statistical Software. 2011;42(7):1-52.
- 56. Rosenbaum PR. Observational studies: Springer; 2002.
- 57. Snijders TAB, Bosker RJ. Multilevel analysis: an introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling. London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi: Sage; 1999.
- Schwartz M, Ash AS. Estimating teh Effect of an Intervention from Observational Data. In: Iezzoni LI, editor. Risk Adjustment for Measuring Health Care Outcomes.
  Chicago: Health Administration Press; 2013. p. 301-34.
- 59. Deverka PA, Lavallee DC, Desai PJ, Esmail LC, Ramsey SD, Veenstra DL, Tunis SR. Stakeholder participation in comparative effectiveness research: defining a framework for effective engagement. J Comp Eff Res. 2012;1(2):181-94.
- 60. Craig P, Cooper C, Gunnell D. Using Natural Experiments to Evaluate Population Health Interventions. Glasgow, UK: Medical Research Council; 2011.

## Chapter 4

# Patient-Centered Care, Nurse Work Environment and Implicit Rationing of Nursing Care in Swiss Acute Care Hospitals: a cross-sectional multi-center study

Stefanie Bachnick<sup>1</sup> MSN, RN; Dietmar Ausserhofer<sup>1,2</sup> PhD, RN; Marianne Baernholdt<sup>3</sup> PhD, RN; Michael Simon<sup>1,4</sup> PhD, RN

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Nursing Sciences, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

- $^2$ Claudiana College of Health-Care Professions, Bolzano, Italy
- <sup>3</sup> School of Nursing, Virginia Commonwealth University, Virginia, US
- <sup>4</sup> Inselspital Bern University Hospital, Nursing Research Unit, Bern, Switzerland

On behalf of the  $Match^{RN}$  study group

Published in International Journal of Nursing Studies 2017. 81: p. 98-106. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.11.007

## 4.1 Abstract

**Background:** Patient-centered care is a key element of high-quality healthcare and determined by individual, structural and process factors. Patient-centered care is associated with improved patient-reported, clinical and economic outcomes. However, while hospital-level characteristics influence patient-centered care, little evidence is available on the association of patient-centered care with characteristic such as the nurse work environment or implicit rationing of nursing care.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to describe patient-centered care in Swiss acute care hospitals and to explore the associations with nurse work environment factors and implicit rationing of nursing care.

**Design:** This is a sub-study of the cross-sectional multi-center "Matching Registered Nurse Services with Changing Care Demands" study.

**Setting:** We included 123 units in 23 acute care hospitals from all three of Switzerlands language regions.

**Participants:** The sample consisted of 2073 patients, hospitalized for at least 24 h and  $\geq 18$  years of age. From the same hospital units, 1810 registered nurses working in direct patient care were also included.

**Methods:** Patients perceptions of patient-centered care were assessed using four items from the Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire. Nurses completed questionnaires assessing perceived staffing and resource adequacy, adjusted staffing, leadership ability and level of implicit rationing of nursing care. We applied a Generalized Linear Mixed Models for analysis including individual-level patient and nurse data aggregated to the unit level.

**Results:** Patients reported high levels of patient-centered care: 90% easily understood nurses, 91% felt the treatment and care were adapted for their situation, 82% received sufficient information, and 70% felt involved in treatment and care decisions. Higher staffing and resource adequacy was associated with higher levels of patient-centered care, e.g., sufficient information ( $\beta$  0.638 [95%-CI: 0.30–0.98]). Higher leadership ratings were associated with sufficient information ( $\beta$  0.403 [95%-CI: 0.03–0.77) and adapted treatment and care ( $\beta$  0.462 [95%-CI: 0.04–0.88]). Furthermore, higher levels of implicit rationing of nursing care were associated with lower levels of patient-centered care, e.g., adapted treatment and care ( $\beta$  -0.912 [95%-CI: -1.50–0.33]).

**Conclusion:** Our study shows a negative association between implicit rationing of nursing care and patient-centered care: i.e. the lower the level of implicit rationing of nursing care, the better patients understood nurses, felt sufficiently informed and recognized that they were receiving highly individualized treatment. To improve patient-centered care, the nurse work environment and the level of implicit rationing of nursing care should be taken into consideration.

## 4.2 Introduction

In recent decades patient-centered care (PCC) has gained increasing emphasis from policy makers, researchers and clinicians [1] because of its association with improved patient-reported, clinical and economic outcomes. PCC is recognizing as one of the six key elements of healthcare quality, National Academy of Medicine (NAM, former Institute of Medicine (IOM)) defined PCC as 'care that is respectful of and responsive to individual patient preferences, needs, and values and ensuring that patients' values guide all clinical decisions" [2, p.3]. Also known as individualized or negotiated care [3], PCC is a multifaceted construct involving various systems of operationalization, conceptualization, and terminology.

Based on the NAM definition, PCC's two most basic dimensions involve concerted efforts among healthcare teams 'to see and treat the patient as a unique person' (the "unique person" dimension) and to involve the patient in their care determined by their decisions' (the "involvement in treatment and care" dimension) [4-6]. Both demand a cultural shift from the traditional paternalistic approach to a partnership between clinician and patient. In services, including healthcare services, partnership is also termed coproduction [7], as "patients and professionals interact as participants within a healthcare system in society" [7, p.3], with each participating equally [8]. Normann distinguishes the coproduction roles of business professionals between 'relieving' services and 'enabling' services [9]. This distinction can be transferred to healthcare services, where healthcare professionals both relieve and enable patients. Which of these is appropriate and desired by both patient and professional is context-dependent; however, the patient needs to be involved in all care-related actions and decisions [10]. Optimally, the patient receives clear and understandable information on all relevant care options and decides accordingly. However, in clinical contexts, the involved professionals need to clarify and adjust the levels both of involvement and of information to match the patient's specific needs, capacities, and preferences.

Based on the NAM definition of PCC and in line with previous research [11], in addition to PCCs two fundamental dimensions ((1)"unique person" and (2)"involvement in treatment and care"), two further dimensions, (3)"patient information" and (4)"clinical-patient communication" complete the PCC construct [12] (see Figure 4.1). In order to be involved in decisions regarding their treatment and care, patients need information about the best available evidence [13]. Furthermore, the communication of the information has to be tailored according to the patients needs and situation.

While PCC has a strong relationship with patient satisfaction with care, PCC is clearly not driven by patient satisfaction [14], rather, extensive research using a range of measurements has shown that providing PCC increases patient satisfaction [15-17]. However, PCC also improves other patient-reported outcomes such as patient self-care [18, 19], sense of autonomy [17, 20], self-efficacy [21] and health-related quality of life [20]. Alongside patient-reported outcomes, PCC enhances clinical and economic outcomes: studies have highlighted a growing need for health policy makers and managers to embrace PCC as a key concept of care quality. One retrospective, non-experimental comparison study analyses patients' lengths of stay and care costs between medical and surgical units providing PCC (consisting of 10 core components e.g., human interaction, patient and family education) in comparison to those providing care as usual [22]. Units providing PCC reduced patients length of stay by 0.25 days. Furthermore, a five-year cost-per-case analysis confirmed a cost reduction between \$1600 and \$3000 per case in units providing PCC compared to units with usual care [22]. Other studies revealed a strong association between PCC and reduced demand for laboratory and diagnostic tests, decreased readmission rates and fewer total inpatient days [23, 24].

As a construct, PCC is influenced by structural (hospital characteristic and work environment) and process factors (implicit rationing of nursing care) (Figure 4.1). For

instance, implicit rationing of nursing is considered errors of omission in the care processes. It is defined as "the withholding of or failure to carry out necessary nursing measures for patients due to a lack of nursing resources (staffing, skill mix, time)" [25]. Although few studies have investigated the influence of structural factors on how patients rated PCC, one from Finland reported that higher numbers of beds per unit, more units per hospital and more nursing personnel reduced patients' ratings of PCC. However, no association was found between hospital type and patients' perceptions of PCC [26]. Other studies found associations between nurse work environment factors and patient outcomes [27-29]. For example, strong leadership and adequate staffing and resource adequacy are related to increased patient satisfaction [30-32] and reductions in adverse patient outcomes [30, 32, 33]. Furthermore, inadequacies in the nurse work environment increase the potential of rationing of nursing care [34-36] lower levels of rationing of nursing care have been linked to more positive patient outcomes [37, 38]. However, no studies have investigated patients perception on PCC and the associations with the nurse work environment and rationing of nursing care. With this study, we aim (1) to describe the levels of PCC in Swiss acute care hospitals and (2) to explore the association between PCC and the nurse work environment as well as implicit rationing of nursing care.



Figure 4.1: Factors influencing PCC

## 4.3 Methods

#### 4.3.1 Design

This is a substudy of the "Matching Registered Nurse services with changing care demands" (Match<sup>RN</sup>) study. Match<sup>RN</sup> is a cross-sectional multi-center study that examines how patient safety indicators and nursing care processes and structures have changed since the introduction in 2012 of Swiss Diagnosis-Related Groups (SwissDRGs) [39]. Match<sup>RN</sup> is a natural experiment using survey data before and after the introduction of the SwissDRGs, but this cross-sectional substudy only use survey data after the introduction of SwissDRGs.

#### 4.3.2 Setting and sample

Switzerland's health care system is based on a statutory health insurance system including public mandatory but private insurance [40]. It is a high performing health care system where patients can select providers (e.g. general practitioners and specialists) almost without constraints [41].

In the Match<sup>RN</sup> study, nurses and patients from 124 units of 23 hospitals from Switzerland's three language regions (German, French and Italian) were surveyed with self-rated questionnaires. The same hospitals and units participated in the Swiss arm of the RN4CAST study [42] in 2010 and delivered data before the introduction of DRGs. In the RN4CAST study, a quota sampling strategy was applied in Switzerland resulting in a final sample of 132 units from 35 hospitals [43]. For Match<sup>RN</sup>, all of these units were invited for participation. More details about the sampling strategy and the survey methodology used in Match<sup>RN</sup> are reported elsewhere [39].

This substudy contains data from the original Match<sup>RN</sup> sample of 2073 patients on 123 general medical, surgical and mixed units. Patient recruitment was conducted by nurses of the respective units. Patients with  $\geq 18$  years of age, able to respond to the survey and who were hospitalized for at least 24 h were included. If necessary patients were supported filling out questionnaires by nursing staff or relatives. Furthermore, survey data included 1810 registered nurses working on those units.

#### 4.3.3 Variables and measurement

We collected data from three sources: (1) patient questionnaires assessing PCC; (2) nurse questionnaires assessing the nurse work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care; and (3) publically available administrative documents from Switzerland's Federal Statistical Office cataloguing hospital characteristics (e.g., ownership status, size). For an overview of the variables influencing levels of PCC, see Figure 4.1 (above).

In addition to established scales, the patient and nurse questionnaires used self-developed items revised and adopted from those used by the  $Match^{RN}$  study team. All scales not already available in German, French and Italian were first translated into German using the World Health Organization's systematic translation process, consisting of forward translation and expert panel back-translation. As a second step, again including forward-backward translation, the French and Italian versions were translated based on the German version. An expert panel review consisting of clinical and research nurses with bilingual skills in the target language reviewed all questions for cultural appropriateness.

#### 4.3.4 Outcome variable–patient experiences

We asked patients about their views on patient centeredness of care using four items corresponding to the four PCC dimensions. The items were from the Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS–PEQ) [44]. Using a five-point Likert scale (range: 0/"not at all" to 4/"to a very large extent", with the additional answer option of "I do not know") patients indicated their responses to the following questions: (1) "Did you perceive the treatment and care as adapted to your situation?" (dimension: Patient as a unique person); (2) "Did the nurses talk to you in a way that was easy to understand?" (dimension: Clinician-patient communication); (3) "Did you receive sufficient information about your diagnosis/afflictions?" (dimension: Patient and care?" (dimension: Patient involvement in care). Because the data showed no linear distribution but was skewed, we dichotomized the responses as either sufficient (to a large extent and to a very large extent) or not sufficient (to a moderate extent, to a small extent, and not at all).

## 4.3.5 Predictor variables: nurses work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care

Work environment: leadership, staffing and resource adequacy, and adjusted staffing We assessed the nurse work environment using two subscales of the Practice Environment Scale–Nursing working Index (PES–NWI) [45]: (1) "Nurse manager ability, leadership, and support of nurses" (i.e., leadership) was assessed with four items: a) whether a supervisory staff is supportive of the nurses; b) whether a nurse manager is a good manager and leader; c) whether nurses receive praise and recognition for a job well done and d) whether the nurse manager backs up the nursing staff in decision making, even if the conflict is with a physician; (2) "Staffing and resource adequacy" was assessed with four items: a) whether there was enough time to discuss patient care problems; b) whether enough registered nurses were working on each shift; and c) whether overall staff and d) support personnel were sufficient to complete all necessary tasks. All items were rated on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree) with a neutral midpoint of 2.5 [45]. For the analysis, we aggregated the data for both scales to the unit level using mean values. In the Match<sup>RN</sup>-study, the Cronbach's alphas were 0.83 [95%-CI: 0.82–0.84] for the staffing and resource adequacy scale and 0.79 [95%-CI: 0.78–0.81] for the leadership scale, indicating good internal consistency for both.

Furthermore, additional to nurses' perceptions on staffing and resource adequacy (PES–NWI), we assessed a more objective measure (a standardized staffing measure). First, the nurse staffing level was calculated as the ratio between the total number of patients and the total number of registered nurses (patients-to- registered nurse ratio) in the unit during their most recent shift. Second, we used a mixed effect model and adjusted the nurse staffing level for the following variables: a) shift (morning, afternoon, or night); b) the number of patients each nurse was directly responsible for per shift (subdivided into the number of patients requiring assistance with all activities of daily living and those requiring monitoring or treatment once per hour or more than once per hour respectively); and c) skill mix as a percentage (calculated as the number of registered nurses divided number of registered nurses plus nursing care staff in total). For the analysis we used the random effects resulting from this model as standardized staffing measure.

#### Implicit rationing of nursing care

We used the 30-item revised version of the Basel Extent of Rationing of Nursing Care (BERNCA) instrument [25] to assess implicit rationing of nursing care over the preceding seven days, regarding, e.g., supporting activities of daily living, dressing changes, conversations with the patient and relatives, including instruction and training, and documentation. Answer options were provided on a 4-point Likert scale (range: 0/"never" to 3/"often"), with additional answer options of "activity was not necessary" or "not my assignment". Psychometric analysis yielded a Cronbach's alpha of 0.88 [95%-CI: 0.87–0.88], indicating good internal consistency. For the analysis, we summed the scores for all items and aggregated the data to the unit level using mean values.

## 4.3.6 Control variables: Patient characteristics and hospital characteristics

#### Patient characteristics

Patients were asked to assess their functional health status. To do so, we focused on the five dimensions of the EQ-5D-3L scale: mobility, selfcare, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression [46]. With one item representing each domain, the patient could self-rate each with 0= "no problem", 1= "some problems" or 2= "extreme problems". In addition, we collected demographic data: gender (male/female), age (years) and level of educational (range: 0/ "no school graduation" to 4/ "university degree").

#### Hospital characteristics

We assessed four hospital characteristics, i.e., language region (German, French, Italian), hospital size (small:<100, medium: 100–300, large: 301–600, extra large:>600), ownership status (for-profit, not-for-profit, public), and the hospital type (university hospital, general hospital, district hospital).

## 4.4 Data collection and management

Between September 2015 and January 2016 the participating units received the paper questionnaires and decided which collection period (four weeks) suited best their organization. The patient survey data collection took place on two randomly selected working days; however, the nurses could choose any day during the four-week collection period to complete their survey. Additional details on this studys data collection and management procedures are described elsewhere [39]. The chief nursing officers of all participating units' hospitals provided written consent for participation in Match<sup>RN</sup>. Filling out and returning patient and nurse questionnaires were considered informed consent. An external data entry service entered the data into a database, which was then checked for consistency and plausibility by the study team. Since both the patient and nurse surveys were conducted anonymously, the Match<sup>RN</sup> study received exempt status from all cantonal ethical committees responsible for the participating hospitals (EKNZ UBE 15/59).

## 4.5 Data analysis / Statistical methods

Descriptive statistics and frequency distributions were computed for sample characteristics and all variables under study. We used a generalized linear mixed model to explore any associations between work environment, implicit rationing of nursing care and perceived level of PCC. We computed the multi-level analyses with patients on level 1 and random intercepts at the unit level (level 2). We constructed separate models for each of the four outcome variables and provided p-values and 95% confidence intervals for the non-standardized estimates. To ensure comparable results among participating hospital units, we controlled for patient characteristics (age, gender, functional status, levels of education).

We conducted sensitivity analyses to evaluate the robustness of all models. First, we tested for hospital characteristics (size, ownership status, type) with no changes in the results. Second, we calculated a three-level model with random intercepts on the hospital level (level 3). Because the main variance occurs on the unit level (level 2), the threelevel model with hospitals (level 3) showed no differences regarding associations. Third, we analyzed each model with the listwise deletion data set, which confirmed our decision to model using multiple imputation data Supplementary 1).

#### Missing data

Depending on the variable, between 4.4% and 11.7% of data were missing from the patient survey data Supplementary 2). Missing values are challenging the validity of data analyses [47]. To avoid the reduction of statistical power and to minimize potential bias when using listwise deletion, we applied multiple imputation by chained equations (MICE) [47] for patient survey variables (age, gender, level of education, functional health status, PCC outcome variables). In all, 1535 of 2073 patient questionnaires (74%) were complete regarding all variables of interest prior to imputation. Considering combinations of available and missing data as well as patterns and correlations between missing data within variables Supplementary 3), we specified a MICE model for the patient questionnaire. The imputation was conducted on 30 imputed data sets using R statistical software [48] Version 3.3.2 for Mac OS X using the "mice" [47] version 2.23 and "devtools" [49] version 1.12.0 packages to construct the multi-level model. Because we used the aggregated means of predictor variables from the nurse survey, missing values for these aggregate measures were dropped. Therefore, the nurse surveys contained no missing data, making data imputation unnecessary.

## 4.6 Results

## 4.6.1 Sample description

This substudy used a sample of 2073 patients. The patients mean response rate across all units was 72%, varying between 17% and 100%. Of the 2073 participating patients, 1131 were male, with a mean age of 65.5 (SD 16.62) years (range: 18–97 years). Slightly more than half (54%) were from the German speaking part of Switzerland. Table 4.1 summarizes patient characteristics including levels of education and self-rated functional health status.

The mean response rate of nurses was 78% (range: 30-100%). Altogether, 1810 registered nurses completed the questionnaire. The majority were female (88%); their mean age was 35 years (SD 10.62) and half (51%) worked in the German-speaking region. On average, the nurses had 11 years (SD 10.09) of professional experience. The 23 participating hospitals included 18 that were public; the mean number of beds was 362. Details can be found in Table 4.2. Of the 123 participating units, 62 were medical (50.4%), 54 surgical (43.9%) and 7 mixed medical/surgical (5.7%). The majority (56.9%) had 20–30 beds (n=70), followed by 28.5% with fewer than 20 beds (n=35) and 12.2% with between 31 and 40 beds (n=15). Only 2.4% (n=3) had more than 40 beds.

		n	%	mean	$\mathbf{SD}$
Language					
	German	1119	(54.0)		
	French	322	(15.5)		
	Italian	632	(30.5)		
Gender					
	Male	1132	(54.6)		
Education			· /		
	No graduation	54	(2.6)		
	Secondary school	446	(21.5)		
	Further education/training	866	(41.8)		
	Higher education	475	(22.9)		
	University degree	232	(11.2)		
Age (years)		2073	(100)	65.53	16.62
Self-rated fu	nctional status		. ,		
	Problems with mobility	1095	(52.8)		
	Problems with self-care	769	(37.1)		
	Problems with, usual, activities	1169	(56.4)		
	Feel pain/discomfort	1399	(67.5)		
	Feel anxiety/depression	777	(37.5)		

Table 4.1: Patient characteristics (n=2073)

## 4.6.2 Variable result description

#### Frequency of PCC - Outcomes data

Overall, patients' perceptions of PCC were positive. Eighty-nine percent of surveyed patients' [95% CI: 0.89-0.912] found their nurses talked to them in a way that was easy to understand; 91.2% [0.90-0.92] felt their treatment and care were adapted to their situation. Two-thirds (69.5% [0.67-0.72]) felt involved in decisions to a large extent and four-fifths (81.7% [0.80-0.83]) felt they had received sufficient information about their diagnoses/afflictions (see Table 4.3).

#### Summaries of PCC predictor variables

Aggregated results show that nurses rated adequate staffing and resources at the neutral midpoint (mean: 2.53) and felt strongly they were supported by leadership (mean: 3.05). Further, their mean rating for implicit rationing of nursing care was low at 0.90 (never-rarely) (Table 4.2).

		Valid n	%	Min.	Mean	Max.	$\mathbf{SD}$
Hospital level (n=23)							
No of hospitals							
	German	15	65.2				
	French	4	17.4				
	Italian	4	17.4				
$\mathbf{Type}$							
	University hospital	4	17.4				
	General hospital	16	69.6				
	District hospital	3	13.0				
Ownership status hosp	bital						
	For-profit	3	13.0				
	Not-for-profit	2	8.7				
	Public	18	78.3				
Hospital no of beds							
	<100 beds	3	13.1				
	100-300 beds	10	43.5				
	301-600 beds	5	21.7				
	>600 beds	5	21.7				
Unit level (n=123)							
Work environment (ra	nge of answer options)						
	Staffing & resource			1 55	253	3 38	0.43
	adequacy $(1-4)^a$			1.00	2.00	0.00	0.40
	Leadership $(1-4)^a$			1.70	3.05	3.79	0.39
	Adjusted staffing level			-0.33	0	0.38	0.12
	$(\text{standardized})^b$			0.00	0	0.00	0.12
	Patient-nurse ratio morning				5.9		
	Patient-nurse ratio afternoon				7.3		
	Patient-nurse ratio night				14.2		
	Skill Mix in $\%$			35.6	59.6	96.4	0.09
Implicit rationing of n							
	BERNCA ( $0$ =never, $1$ =rarely,			0.31	0.90	1.68	0.03
	2=sometimes, $3=$ often)			0.91	0.30	1.00	0.00

Table 4 2	Hospital	and	predictor	variable	characteristics
Table 4.2.	nospitai	anu	predictor	variable	citatacteristics

Min. = Minimum; Max. = Maximum; SD = Standard Deviation

<sup>a</sup> 1 = strongly disagree; 2 = somewhat disagree; 3 = somewhat agree, 4 = strongly agree

 $^{b}$  standardized by intercepts

Table 4.3: Frequency of perceived patient centered care

	Not at all	To a small extent	To a moderate extent	To a large extent	To a very large extent	Not available	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Easy to understand	13(0.7)	32(1.6)	148(7.5)	851 (43.0)	937 (47.3)	92(4.4)	
Sufficient information	34(1.7)	72(3.7)	251 (12.9)	722 (37.1)	869 (44.6)	125(6.0)	
Treatment & care adapted	15(0.8)	33(1.7)	123(6.3)	761 (38.9)	1022 (52.3)	119(5.7)	
Involved in decisions	86(4.7)	$146 \ (8.0)$	$326\ (17.8)$	695 (38.0)	577 (31.5)	243 (11.7)	

Table 4.4: Factors related to PCC

	Easy to understand		Sufficient information		Involved in decisions		Treatment & care adaped	
	Beta (CI)	SE	Beta (CI)	SE	Beta (CI)	SE	Beta (CI)	SE
Work environment								
Staffing & resource adequacy	$\begin{array}{c} 0.486 \ * \\ (0.06 - 0.91) \end{array}$	0.215	$0.638^{stst} \ (0.30-0.98)$	0.175	$0.351^{st} \ (0.03 - 0.67)$	0.162	$0.456^{st} \ (0.04-0.87)$	0.211
Leadership	0.405 (-0.04 - 0.85)	0.227	$0.403^{*}$ (0.03 - 0.77)	0.188	0.303 (-0.03 - 0.64)	0.169	$0.462^{*}$ ( $0.04 - 0.88$ )	0.215
Adjusted staffing	-0.301 (-1.83 - 1.23)	0.780	-0.910 (-2.13 - 0.31)	0.624	-0.127 (-1.22 - 0.97)	0.558	-1.256 (-2.68 - 0.17)	0.725
Implicit rationing of nursing care	-0.781* (-1.410.15)	0.321	$-0.764^{**}$ (-1.270.26)	0.259	-0.451 (-0.91 - 0.01)	0.234	-0.912** (-1.500.33)	0.299

CI = 95%-Confidence interval

All models controlled for patient characteristics (age, gender, language, levels of education) \*p<.05; \*\*p<.01; \*\*\*p<.001

#### Factors related to PCC

Implicit rationing of nursing care and two of the three work environment factors were associated with PCC (Table 4.4). High nurse ratings regarding staffing and resource adequacy were strongly associated with higher patient ratings across all PCC dimensions. The units with highest staffing and resource adequacy ratings had 15% more patients with favorable 'received sufficient information' ratings compared to the units with the lowest staffing and resource ratings.

Higher levels of nurses ratings of support from leadership also increased the probability that patients reported that they had received sufficient information. Finally, compared to the units with the lowest leadership support ratings by nurses, in the units with the highest ratings, 9.5% more patients felt their treatment and care had been adapted to their situation. However, adjusted staffing was not associated with any of the PCC dimensions. Furthermore, lower nurse ratings for implicit rationing of nursing care correlated with higher patient ratings for three PCC dimensions: easy to understand, sufficient information and treatment and care adapted. These results are similar to results using listwise deletion method. With multiple imputation, the standard error was slightly smaller across all models (about 3.3%, see Supplementary 1).

#### 4.7 Discussion

This study provides new insights into the provision of PCC in acute care hospitals and its association with structural and process factors. The Swiss healthcare system provides high quality of care in at least two ways. First, in general, compared with their counterparts in other European countries, nurses in Swiss hospitals have to care for fewer patients per shift [28]. Second, alongside this high nurse-to-patient-ratio, studies on patient experiences with care in Swiss hospitals show positive evaluations [28, 41, 50, 51].

In line with previous national and international studies, our study results support the findings of high quality nurse work environments in Swiss hospitals [28, 52] and low levels of implicit rationing of nursing care [36, 53]. However, there is room for improvement. For example, we found that more than a third of participating patients did not feel sufficiently involved in their own treatment and care decisions. This result is in line with findings from a Swedish survey where 39% of patients reported that they would have preferred more involvement in nursing care decisions than experienced [54]. Patient involvement in treatment and care decisions is a key element of PCC [6, 11, 55] and is associated with other indicators of quality of care. For example, a 2015 systematic review noted that, while many of the reviewed studies reported improvements in affective-cognitive outcomes, e.g., increased patient satisfaction and reduced concern/anxiety about illness [56], most of the studies measured the association of shared decision making and patient outcomes cross-sectionally, with few patient-clinician interactions. Even where opportunities for patient involvement arise, fruitful participation in decision making is rooted in sufficient information, which relies on adequate communication [57, 58]. Nearly 20% of the surveyed patients did not feel sufficiently informed about their diagnoses/conditions. Of all health professionals, nurses spend the most time with patients [58, 59]. This gives nurses the responsibility and opportunity to provide patients with necessary information in order they can be part of the decisions about the nursing care provided.

Nurse reported staffing and resource adequacy and PCC are strongly associated. However, depending on the staffing measure, we found major differences in the results. All four PCC dimensions showed moderate to strong associations with perceived staffing and resource adequacy, whereas adjusted staffing (the adjusted patient to registered nurse ratio) was not associated with any PCC dimension. Previous research has established that nurses' perceptions of staffing and resources rely on more factors than simply the number and skill mix of personnel [60, 61]. In contrast to adjusted staffing, perceived staffing on each respondent's subjective assessment of whether both human and time resources are sufficient to provide high quality care. Human resources involve not only whether the nurse is a registered nurse but also the nurses' education, experiences, and perhaps willingness to work together in a team. Nurses evaluate the entire range of care staff and support services (i.e transport services, unit administration and secretarial support) that enable nurses to care for their patients. Our analyses link nurses' perceptions of staffing and resource adequacy with patients' ratings of PCC. Although extensive research has explored the association between staffing and patient satisfaction [28, 29, 62], these findings show the importance of nurses' perception of the same factors in a hospital that sets out to implement PCC.

Additionally, to provide a healthy work environment, supportive leadership is crucial [63] which increases nurses' engagement and performance [32]. Leadership is positively linked both to nurses' motivation to perform and to patient care outcomes, i.e., increased patient satisfaction [28, 29, 62] and reduced restraint use [32]. Furthermore, effective nurse leadership is a building block for healthcare changes [64] such as creating a culture with processes that supports PCC. Our study adds to these previous findings by showing the correlation between effective leadership and patient perceptions of two essential PCC components: the adequacy of the information provided to patients and the adaptation of treatment and care to suit their needs.

Not surprisingly, perceived adequate staffing levels effects quality of care by reducing the levels of implicit rationing of nursing care [36]. Furthermore, previous studies noted not only that patients quickly recognized when nursing care was missed [65, 66], but that even minor omissions diminished patients' overall opinions of the care they received [65, 66]. Conversely, minimizing implicit rationing of nursing care/missed care leads to increased patient satisfaction [29, 38, 53, 67]. Our study adds to the international evidence regarding patient experiences and shows the negative association between implicit rationing of nursing care and PCC. The lower the level of implicit rationing of nursing care, the better patients understood their nurses, felt sufficiently informed and recognized that they were receiving highly individualized treatment.

#### 4.7.1 Strengths and limitations

This study has several notable strengths. To our knowledge it is the first study in a national sample of acute care hospitals to evaluate patient perceptions of PCC and their relations with the nurse work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care. Moreover, the patient and nurse surveys had large sample sizes and high response rates. However, our study also has several limitations. First, it is an observational study design using cross-sectional survey methodology and allows no conclusions regarding causality. Second, our findings are only generalizable for the Swiss acute care setting. Third, while the sample consists of 20% of all acute care hospitals in Switzerland, participation was voluntary, potentially leading to selection bias. Fourth, we used only two of the five nurse work environment subscales, because the primary study included only these two. Using all 5 subscales and the composite scores may have produced other results. Fifth, the patient surveys had an overall data omission rate of 26% across all variables, which required multiple imputation and consideration of inter-variable dependencies. We minimized biases by conserving the sample size, which also increases the statistical power. Although the differences between findings using multiple imputation and listwise deletion were quite small, the analyses of missing data and the underlying missing mechanisms are essential to identify potential bias and therefore false inferences [47, 68]. Sixth, some patients were supported by nursing staff when answering the questionnaire, which might have influenced some of the responses therefore introducing bias. Finally, as in other patient experience studies, we encountered ceiling effects and limited variation between provider ratings [51],

raising the question of how a sufficient and sensitive patient experience measure should look like. Nevertheless, despite its limitations, our study highlights the importance of PCC implementation in Swiss acute care hospitals, and its association with nurses' work environment factors on the provision of PCC. Clinicians and managers can use these findings to start or improve PCC.

## 4.8 Conclusion

This is the first study to examine the complex associations between the nurse work environment, implicit rationing of nursing care, and PCC in the setting of Swiss acute care hospitals. Even though patients reported high PCC levels, the need for optimization is evident regarding patient involvement in decisions of care and treatment. Nursing care is central to PCC provision. Involving patients in decisions requires that everyone 'lives a PCC culture', which is one where patients both receive enough knowledge and are part of the decisions regarding their care and treatment [69]. In this coproduction healthcare model, involved professionals need to evaluate each patients values and needs in terms not only of usual care but also of the PCC dimensions of involvement and information.

Despite the slight variations between the participating Swiss hospitals, we were able to identify work environment factors associated with PCC. For a successful shift from paternalistic healthcare to PCC, hospital managers need to ensure that every employee with patient contact is trained in patient-centered communication. Prerequisite for this shift towards PCC is of course allowing time to do so in the daily provision of care. Therefore, beside training employees in how to provide patient-centered care, hospital managers need to develop nurse work environments which enable nurses the time for example to provide patient-centered communication. Clinicians will need to reflect on their communication with patients, i.e., if the information each patient receives is adequate and understandable. Furthermore, to optimize the patient-professional partnership, a minimum set of general conditions must be put in place, including an adequate work environment, continuing training and education, and interprofessional teamwork. At the levels of the CEO, department and unit, leadership training must be provided to develop competent and supportive leaders who will enable and promote a healthy work environment [32, 70]. This work environment should include explicit, high-priority attention to nurses perceptions of staffing and resource needs. The overall target is that well-led, engaged staff will accept, embrace, and live a PCC culture. Future needs for PCC research will include the identification and development of instruments to distinguish meaningfully between hospitals providing PCC, as well as to assess the relative values of various PCC component mixes in specific contexts.

## 4.9 Funding

The study was funded by the participating hospitals.

## 4.10 Conflict of interests

No conflict of interest has been declared by the authors.

#### 4.11 Ethical approval

The study was proved from all ethics committees responsible for the 23 participating hospitals and received exempt status approval. Because the study is observational and

surveys were conducted anonymously, it does not require ethical approval according to Swiss Federal Law.

## 4.12 References

- 1. Zill JM, Scholl I, Harter M, Dirmaier J. Evaluation of dimensions and measurement scales in patient-centeredness. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2013;7:345-51.
- 2. Institute of Medicine. Improving the 21st-century Health Care System. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A new Health System for the 21st Century. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.2001. p. 39-54.
- 3. Wolf DM, Lehman L, Quinlin R, Zullo T, Hoffman L. Effect of patient-centered care on patient satisfaction and quality of care. J Nurs Care Qual. 2008;23(4):316-21.
- 4. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Patientcentred care: Improving quality and safety through partnerships with patients and consumers. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2011.
- 5. Gerteis M, Edgman-Levitan, Daley J, Delbanco TL. Introduction: Medicine and Health from the Patient's Persperctive. Through the Patient's Eyes: understanding and promoting Patient-Centered Care. San Francisco: Jossy-Bass Publishers; 1991. p. 1-13.
- 6. Kitson A, Marshall A, Bassett K, Zeitz K. What are the core elements of patient-centred care? A narrative review and synthesis of the literature from health policy, medicine and nursing. J Adv Nurs. 2013;69(1):4-15.
- 7. Batalden M, Batalden P, Margolis P, Seid M, Armstrong G, Opipari-Arrigan L, Hartung H. Coproduction of healthcare service. BMJ Qual Saf. 2016;25(7):509-17.
- 8. The challange of co-production: How equal partnerships between professionals and the public are crucial to improving public services [Internet]. 2009.
- 9. Normann R. Reconfiguring the Value Space. Reframing Business: When the Map Changes the Landscape. England: John Wiley & Sons, LTD; 2001. p. 26-36.
- 10. Larsson IE, Sahlsten MJ, Segesten K, Plos KA. Patients' perceptions of nurses' behaviour that influence patient participation in nursing care: a critical incident study. Nurs Res Pract. 2011;2011:534060.
- Zill JM, Scholl I, Harter M, Dirmaier J. Which Dimensions of Patient-Centeredness Matter? - Results of a Web-Based Expert Delphi Survey. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0141978.
- 12. Institute of Medicine. Patient-Centered Communication and Shared Decision Making. In: Levit L, Balogh E, Nass S, Ganz PA, editors. Delivering High-Quality Cancer Care: Charting a New Course for a System in Crisis. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2013. p. 91-151.
- 13. Legare F, Stacey D, Turcotte S, Cossi MJ, Kryworuchko J, Graham ID, Lyddiatt A, Politi MC, Thomson R, Elwyn G, Donner-Banzhoff N. Interventions for improving the adoption of shared decision making by healthcare professionals. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014(9):CD006732.
- 14. Suhonen R, Papastavrou E, Efstathiou G, Tsangari H, Jarosova D, Leino-Kilpi H, Patiraki E, Karlou C, Balogh Z, Merkouris A. Patient satisfaction as an outcome of individualised nursing care. Scand J Caring Sci. 2012;26(2):372-80.
- 15. Dwamena F, Holmes-Rovner M, Gaulden CM, Jorgenson S, Sadigh G, Sikorskii A, Lewin S, Smith RC, Coffey J, Olomu A. Interventions for providers to promote a patient-centred approach in clinical consultations. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;12:CD003267.

- 16. McMillan SS, Kendall E, Sav A, King MA, Whitty JA, Kelly F, Wheeler AJ. Patient-centered approaches to health care: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Med Care Res Rev. 2013;70(6):567-96.
- 17. Rathert C, Wyrwich MD, Boren SA. Patient-centered care and outcomes: a systematic review of the literature. Med Care Res Rev. 2013;70(4):351-79.
- 18. Poochikian-Sarkissian S, Sidani S, Ferguson-Pare M, Doran D. Examining the relationship between patient-centred care and outcomes. Can J Neurosci Nurs. 2010;32(4):14-21.
- 19. Sidani S. Effects of patient-centered care on patient outcomes: an evaluation. Res Theory Nurs Pract. 2008;22(1):24-37.
- Suhonen R, Valimaki M, Katajisto J, Leino-Kilpi H. Provision of individualised care improves hospital patient outcomes: an explanatory model using LISREL. Int J Nurs Stud. 2007;44(2):197-207.
- 21. Pirhonen L, Olofsson EH, Fors A, Ekman I, Bolin K. Effects of person-centred care on health outcomes-A randomized controlled trial in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Health Policy. 2017;121(2):169-79.
- 22. Stone S. A retrospective evaluation of the impact of the Planetree patient-centered model of care on inpatient quality outcomes. HERD. 2008;1(4):55-69.
- 23. Bertakis KD, Azari R. Patient-centered care is associated with decreased health care utilization. J Am Board Fam Med. 2011;24(3):229-39.
- 24. Sweeney L, Halpert A, Waranoff J. Patient-centered management of complex patients can reduce costs without shortening life. Am J Manag Care. 2007;13(2):84-92.
- 25. Schubert M, Glass TR, Clarke SP, Schaffert-Witvliet B, De Geest S. Validation of the Basel Extent of Rationing of Nursing Care instrument. Nurs Res. 2007;56(6):416-24.
- Suhonen R, Valimaki M, Katajisto J, Leino-Kilpi H. Hospitals' organizational variables and patients' perceptions of individualized nursing care in Finland. J Nurs Manag. 2007;15(2):197-206.
- Aiken LH, Clarke SP, Sloane DM, Lake ET, Cheney T. Effects of hospital care environment on patient mortality and nurse outcomes. J Nurs Adm. 2009;39(7-8 Suppl):S45-51.
- 28. Aiken LH, Sermeus W, Van den Heede K, Sloane DM, Busse R, McKee M, Bruyneel L, Rafferty AM, Griffiths P, Moreno-Casbas M T, Tishelman C, Scott A, Brzostek T, Kinnunen J, Schwendimann R, Heinen M, Zikos D, Sjetne IS, Smith HL, Kutney-Lee A. Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. BMJ. 2012;344:e1717.
- 29. Bruyneel L, Li B, Ausserhofer D, Lesaffre E, Dumitrescu I, Smith HL, Sloane DM, Aiken LH, Sermeus W. Organization of Hospital Nursing, Provision of Nursing Care, and Patient Experiences With Care in Europe. Med Care Res Rev. 2015;72(6):643-64.
- Kane R, Shamliyan T, Mueller C, Duval S, Witt T. Nursing Staffing and Quality of Patient Care. In: 07-E005 Ap, editor. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Quality and Research; 2007.
- McGillis Hall L, Doran D, Baker GR, Pink GH, Sidani S, O'Brien-Pallas L, Donner GJ. Nurse staffing models as predictors of patient outcomes. Med Care. 2003;41(9):1096-109.
- 32. Wong CA, Cummings GG, Ducharme L. The relationship between nursing leadership and patient outcomes: a systematic review update. J Nurs Manag. 2013;21(5):709-24.

- 33. Needleman J, Buerhaus P, Mattke S, Stewart M, Zelevinsky K. Nurse-staffing levels and the quality of care in hospitals. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(22):1715-22.
- 34. Aiken LH, Sloane DM, Bruyneel L, Van den Heede K, Sermeus W, Consortium RN4CAST. Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):143-53.
- 35. Ausserhofer D, Zander B, Busse R, Schubert M, De Geest S, Rafferty AM, Ball, J, Scott A, Kinnunen J, Heinen M, Sjetne IS, Moreno-Casbas T, Kozka M, Lindqvist R, Diomidous M, Bruyneel L, Sermeus W, Aiken LH, Schwendimann R, RN4Cast consortium. Prevalence, patterns and predictors of nursing care left undone in European hospitals: results from the multicountry cross-sectional RN4CAST study. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(2):126-35.
- 36. Schubert M, Ausserhofer D, Desmedt M, Schwendimann R, Lesaffre E, Li B, De Geest S. Levels and correlates of implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals–a cross sectional study. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):230-9.
- 37. Papastavrou E, Andreou P, Efstathiou G. Rationing of nursing care and nurse-patient outcomes: a systematic review of quantitative studies. Int J Health Plann Manage. 2014;29(1):3-25.
- 38. Schubert M, Glass TR, Clarke SP, Aiken LH, Schaffert-Witvliet B, Sloane DM, De Geest S. Rationing of nursing care and its relationship to patient outcomes: the Swiss extension of the International Hospital Outcomes Study. Int J Qual Health Care. 2008;20(4):227-37.
- 39. Bachnick S, Ausserhofer D, Januel JM, Schubert M, Schwendimann R, De Geest S, Simon M. Matching Registered Nurse services with changing care demands (Match<sup>RN</sup>): study protocol of a natural experiment multi-centre study. J Adv Nurs. 2017;73(7):1735-46.
- 40. Camenzind P. The Swiss Health Care System, 2015. In: Mossialos E, Wenzl M, editors. 2015 International Profiles of Health Care Systems. Washington, DC: The Commonwealth Fund; 2016. p. 161-9.
- 41. OECD/WHO. OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Switzerland. OECD Publishing; 2011.
- 42. Sermeus W, Aiken LH, Van den Heede K, Rafferty AM, Griffiths P, Moreno-Casbas MT, Busse R, Lindqvist R, Scott AP, Bruyneel L, Brzostek T, Kinnunen J, Schubert M, Schoonhoven L, Zikos D, RN4Cast consortium. Nurse forecasting in Europe (RN4CAST): Rationale, design and methodology. BMC Nurs. 2011;10:6.
- 43. Ausserhofer D, Schubert M, Engberg S, Blegen M, De G, Schwendimann R. Nurse-reported patient safety climate in Swiss hospitals: a descriptive-explorative substudy of the Swiss RN4CAST study. Swiss Med Wkly. 2012;142:w13501.
- 44. Sjetne IS, Bjertnaes OA, Olsen RV, Iversen HH, Bukholm G. The Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS-PEQ): identification of core items from a survey in Norway. BMC Health Serv Res. 2011;11:88.
- 45. Lake ET. Development of the practice environment scale of the Nursing Work Index. Res Nurs Health. 2002;25(3):176-88.
- 46. EuroQol Research Foundation. http://www.euroqol.org/
- 47. van Buuren S, Groothuis-Oudshoorn K. mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. Journal of Statistical Software. 2011;45(3):1-67.
- 48. R Development Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. 2017().
- 49. devtools: Tools to Make Developing R Packages Easier [Internet]. 2016. Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/package=devtools.

- 50. Larrabee JH. Emerging model of quality. Image J Nurs Sch. 1996;28(4):353-8.
- 51. Radwin LE. Cancer patients' demographic characteristics and ratings of patient-centered nursing care. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2003;35(4):365-70.
- 52. Desmedt M, De Geest S, Schubert M, Schwendimann R, Ausserhofer D. A multi-method study on the quality of the nurse work environment in acute-care hospitals: positioning Switzerland in the Magnet hospital research. Swiss Med Wkly. 2012;142:w13733.
- 53. Ausserhofer D, Schubert M, Desmedt M, Blegen MA, De Geest S, Schwendimann R. The association of patient safety climate and nurse-related organizational factors with selected patient outcomes: a cross-sectional survey. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):240-52.
- 54. Florin J, Ehrenberg A, Ehnfors M. Patient participation in clinical decision-making in nursing: A comparative study of nurses' and patients' perceptions. J Clin Nurs. 2006;15(12):1498-508.
- 55. Barry MJ, Edgman-Levitan S. Shared decision making–pinnacle of patient-centered care. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(9):780-1.
- 56. Shay LA, Lafata JE. Where is the evidence? A systematic review of shared decision making and patient outcomes. Med Decis Making. 2015;35(1):114-31.
- 57. Tobiano G, Marshall A, Bucknall T, Chaboyer W. Patient participation in nursing care on medical wards: An integrative review. Int J Nurs Stud. 2015;52(6):1107-20.
- 58. Wellard S, Lillibridge J, Beanland C, Lewis M. Consumer participation in acute care settings: an Australian experience. Int J Nurs Pract. 2003;9(4):255-60.
- Delucia PR, Ott T, Palmiere PA. Performance in Nursing. In: Durso F, editor. Reviews of Human Factors and Ergonomics. 5: Human Factors and Ergonomics Society; 2009. p. 1-40.
- Kalisch BJ, Friese CR, Choi SH, Rochman M. Hospital nurse staffing: choice of measure matters. Med Care. 2011;49(8):775-9.
- 61. Mark BA, Salyer J, Harless DW. What explains nurses' perceptions of staffing adequacy? J Nurs Adm. 2002;32(5):234-42.
- Kutney-Lee A, McHugh MD, Sloane DM, Cimiotti JP, Flynn L, Neff DF, Aiken LH. Nursing: a key to patient satisfaction. Health Aff (Millwood). 2009;28(4):w669-77.
- 63. Pearson A, Laschinger H, Porritt K, Jordan Z, Tucker D, Long L. Comprehensive systematic review of evidence on developing and sustaining nursing leadership that fosters a healthy work environment in healthcare. Int J Evid Based Healthc. 2007;5(2):208-53.
- 64. Fine BA, Golden B, Hannam R, Morra D. Leading Lean: a Canadian healthcare leader's guide. Healthc Q. 2009;12(3):32-41.
- 65. Cho SH, Mark BA, Knafl G, Chang HE, Yoon HJ. Relationships Between Nurse Staffing and Patients' Experiences, and the Mediating Effects of Missed Nursing Care. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2017.
- Kalisch BJ, McLaughlin M, Dabney BW. Patient perceptions of missed nursing care. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf. 2012;38(4):161-7.
- 67. Lake ET, Germack HD, Viscardi MK. Missed nursing care is linked to patient satisfaction: a cross-sectional study of US hospitals. BMJ Qual Saf. 2016;25(7):535-43.
- 68. Carpenter JR, Kenward MG, White IR. Sensitivity analysis after multiple imputation under missing at random: a weighting approach. Stat Methods Med Res. 2007;16(3):259-75.

- 69. Thompson AG. The meaning of patient involvement and participation in health care consultations: a taxonomy. Soc Sci Med. 2007;64(6):1297-310.
- 70. Shaller D. Patient-centered care: what does it take? In: Fund TC, editor. 2007.

## Chapter 5

# Insufficient variance between providers with patient experience surveys: methodological considerations and findings from a Swiss multicenter study

Stefanie Bachnick<sup>1</sup> MSN, RN; Dietmar Ausserhofer<sup>1</sup>,<sup>2</sup> PhD, RN; Marianne Baernholdt<sup>3</sup> PhD, RN; Michael Simon<sup>1</sup>,<sup>4</sup> PhD, RN

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Nursing Sciences, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

- <sup>2</sup> Claudiana College of Health-Care Professions, Bolzano, Italy
- <sup>3</sup> School of Nursing, Virginia Commonwealth University, Virginia, US
- <sup>4</sup> Inselspital Bern University Hospital, Nursing Research Unit, Bern, Switzerland

On behalf of the  $Match^{RN}$  study group

To be submitted to Medical care

## 5.1 Abstract

**Background.** Provider profiling is measuring performance (e.g., of hospitals and units) with quality indicators to compare and categorize providers regarding their health care quality. It is used as policy instrument and steering mechanism for care quality improvement. However, measurement is influenced by uncertainty, e.g., high levels of random variation (intra-class correlation 1 = ICC1) and measurement error (due to noise, intra-class correlation 2 = ICC2). One purpose of provider profiling methods is to filter out data that obscure the 'true' variability between providers. In this paper, we discuss the need for ICCs as the prerequisites for provider profiling. We also describe ICC computation and its application to evaluate quality indicators.

Methods. To apply provider profiling, we used patient survey data from a cross-sectional multi-center study of 23 Swiss hospitals with 123 units. The patient experience survey includes various questions regarding the hospital stay drawn from the Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems survey and the Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire. To explore variations between providers and reliability of the profiling methods, we used mixed effects models to calculate ICC1 and ICC2 at the unit and hospital levels. Additionally, for the calculation of the ICC1, we used further analytical tools (e.g., plots, permutation tests, a 95% Confidence Interval of ICC1) to evaluate the variances.

**Results.** Depending on the item measured, 1716–1863 patients completed questionnaires. The ICC1 values ranged from 0.013 to 0.059 (mean: 0.031) at the unit level, and from 0.009 to 0.035 (mean 0.023) at the hospital level, indicating no to small between-provider variability. ICC2 values ranged from 0.62 to 0.885 (mean 0.691) at the unit level, and from 0.176 to 0.454 (mean 0.345) at the hospital level, indicating moderate to good unit level reliability, and no to fair hospital level reliability. However, further analytical approaches ,e.g., plotted results, showed no to very small variance between providers.

**Conclusions.** In our example, few items reached satisfactory ICCs. However, further analytical approaches revealed no notable between-provider differences for any item. Provider profiling demands the capacity first to confirm that sufficient variance exists for reliable measurement, then to assess variance accurately enough to identify positive or negative deviations. The entire process requires all analytical approaches, including calculated and visualized results, to be assessed and interoperated to examine items ability for provider profiling. Additionally, our analyses indicated that ranking providers reliably enough would require stronger between provider variance of patient experience items than our sample provided. The use of patient experience as quality indicators is not advisable without sufficient ICCs. We could recommend none of the examined items for use in provider profiling.
## 5.2 Introduction

Provider profiling is a performance measure used as a policy instrument and steering mechanism to improve the quality of health care across similar institutional settings [1-3]. For stakeholder groups such as health care policy makers, this helps gauge the efficiency of hospital structures and processes in relation to quality of care [4]. For patients, provider profiling offers relevant information regarding hospitals services, allowing them to compare hospitals for the purpose of selecting a provider.

Profiling can be applied at three levels. The first is the individual, i.e., for comparison between persons, e.g., clinicians [5]. The second level is the unit or ward level, comprised of groups of individuals formed according to particular functional areas, e.g., surgical versus medical [6]. The third level refers to entire institutions, e.g., hospitals [7, 8]. Because sample sizes influence the reliability of provider profiling results [9], group level profiling (e.g., hospital units) is popular [10]. Beyond that, in the U.S., for example, hospital-level profiling results are commonly used to decide on distributions of funds from payment programs [11]. Therefore, given the significant impact of provider profiling on policy, practice and funding, an effective, valid and reliable approach that considers methodological challenges is necessary.

The purpose of provider profiling is often to compare between providers via quality indicators such as patient safety indicators, e.g., adverse events, or patient experiences with their hospital stay, assessed via questionnaire surveys. Based on these data, providers can be categorized as positive or negative deviants, i.e., high- (positive) or low- (negative) performing providers. For instance, benchmarking can identify positive deviants, which can be used to provide and foster opportunities for lower-ranked hospitals to improve [12, 13]. However, for 'positive deviant' systems to work, measures have to have not only enough sensitivity to reliably identify high-performing units or institutions, but also enough specificity to identify low-performing ones. The problem that arises here is that comparison is only useful where the relevant differences are visible and measurable. With no quantifiable differences between providers, no stimulus exists for quality improvement of hospitals, making the value and applicability of the measure questionable. In the best case, no variation indicates a consistent level of care quality across institutions; in the worst, it indicates that the measure is not sensitive enough to differentiate meaningfully between variations in quality of care.

While both the validity and reliability of questionnaire instruments are often well established, then, what is often not established is those instruments', their scales' or single items' capacity to detect relevant differences between providers being profiled. In Switzerland, for example, national patient experience measurements appear to have plateaued at very high levels, with few differences evident in provider performance [14]. Rather than indicating consistently high quality, though, the available values may simply reflect the principle that rewarding positive measurements and penalizing negative ones discourages accurate reporting. Given the clear conflict of interest this creates, the results have little credibility as a steering mechanism. However, that possibility is beyond the scope of this study.

Even with high sensitivity and specificity (minimizing the chances of Type I and II errors), reliable results demand sufficient between-provider variance to distinguish them from 'noise'- also referred to as statistical uncertainty, chance or random variation. Also, even where accurate measurements can be assured, very low levels of between-provider variability can result in inaccurate ranking and classification [3, 16].

Determining the degree of variance between providers beyond chance is one major function of intra-class correlations 1 and 2 (ICC1 and ICC2) [15]. By accounting for the noise, the ICC1 helps clarify variance between providers. Adjusting for that noise, the intra-class correlation 2 (ICC2) – also known as the signal-to-noise-ratio – indicates the measurement's reliability and the degree to which it is influenced by measurement errors.

Therefore, to achieve a truer depiction of the variability between hospitals, provider profiling should employ ICC1 and ICC2 calculations. Here too, though, low variation levels can result in the misclassification of providers [17]. I.e., where quality measurement instruments lack the capacity to identify the degree of variance between providers – especially where measurement errors and biases are likely – provider profiling is unreliable.

To improve health care patient experience assessment is a useful tool [21-24]. Regardless of the cluster level, patient experience data have become a common basis for provider profiling [18-20]. Several methods of comparing providers based on patient experiences ensure more or less robust assessments of "true" variability, with minimal noise effects.

The most common compensatory approach is the risk adjustment method, which allows the researcher or statistician to account for confounding variables (e.g., hospital and patient characteristics) that can influence provider profiling results [25-27]. For example, the fact that university hospitals are often larger and care for more severely ill patients than general or district hospitals [28] can influence not only clinical outcomes, e.g., mortality rates [29], but also patient reported outcomes, e.g., satisfaction with hospital stay [30]. Applying the risk adjustment method for patient (e.g., gender, age, health status) and hospital (e.g., size, teaching status) characteristics, minimizes measurement errors due to differences in hospital and patient characteristics. Using crude (unadjusted) data, university hospitals would very likely receive lower ratings based not on the quality of their care, but on their patient populations [31].

Internationally, diverse patient experience measures match the approaches, settings and target populations of the areas where they are used. In the U.S., possibly the most popular survey instrument assessing patient experiences with hospital care is the "Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems" (HCAHPS) [32]; in the U.K. the National Health Service (NHS) Adult Inpatient Survey [33] is widely popular. The latter was developed based on the Picker Patient Experience Questionnaire (PPE-15) [34-36]. In Switzerland, patient experience surveys mostly contain questions from the HCAHPS and PPE-15 [37-40]. Notwithstanding the three surveys' differences regarding their conceptual frameworks and numbers of questions, all three assess patient experiences regarding hospital care with a focus on (i) communication, (ii) information, (iii) education and involvement, (vi) pain management, and (v) courteous and respectful treatment.

Unfortunately, however, studies that use these questionnaires for provider profiling do not typically provide complete information regarding between and within-provider variances. In fact, to our knowledge, no articles, either national or international, using either the HCAHPS or the NHS survey, have reported either variance between and within providers (ICC1) or the degree of the resulting profiles' reliability (ICC2). For the PPE-15 survey, one study examined the ICC1, but without sufficient variation between clusters (e.g., units or hospitals) [41]. Another assessed patient hospital stay experiences using the PPE-15 and benchmarking in a sample of Swiss hospitals [31]. In that case, although the researchers reported the variance among patient responses explainable by patient characteristics, they did not assess the PPE-15 items' between-hospital variance and therefore did not confirm whether those items were appropriate for profiling purposes. Also, in studies of the HCAHPS and NHS surveys, authors reported ceiling effects and skewed profiling results [42]. In Switzerland a Swiss Academy of Medical Sciences (SAMS) checklist offers recommendations for publication of medical outcome data such as patient experiences [43]. It also recommends the assessment of validity and reliability, and the application of risk adjustment for patient characteristics, as well as detailed explanations of the benchmarking process. However, it does not recommend calculation of ICC1 and ICC2 values for profiling outcomes.

Patient experience surveys are commonly used both for quality monitoring and for provider profiling. However, high ceiling effects are consistently reported, leading to low between-provider variability. Additionally, researchers often employ overly simple statistical approaches to analyze these patient-reported outcomes, then limit their results further via their use of underdeveloped methodological considerations.

In this paper, we discuss the need to calculate and assess ICC1 and ICC2 as prerequisites for provider profiling based on patient experience survey data. Specifically, we pursued three main goals: 1) to describe the calculation of the two types of the intra-class correlation (ICC1 and 2) for assessment of inter-provider variability and reliability; 2) to calculate both intra-class correlation types in an empirical example of patient experience data from a national sample of Swiss acute care hospitals and 3) to evaluate the appropriateness of several items in an empirical example.

## 5.3 Materials and methods

As the starting point of a robust approach for provider profiling, we first calculate the ICC1 and the ICC2 to describe the uncertainty of the measurements.

#### 5.3.1 Intra-class correlation 1 (variance)

The ICC1, also known as the variance partitioning coefficient, describes provider variability, accounting for differences occurring due to random variation [15]. The ICC1 ranges from 0–1, whereby the lower the value, the higher the chance that the observed differences are influenced by random variation. In U.S. data from army trainers and school teachers, ICC1 values typically range from 0.05 to 0.20 [44], whereas in ecology and evolution, values above 0.20 are more common [45]. In health services research, in the few cases where ICC1 values are reported, values above 0.2 are rare. For some authors the ICC1 is conceptualized as the extent to which membership in an organization (e.g., a hospital) accounts for the variance of any given outcome variable reported by that organizations members. For values below 0.05 we would conclude that the variation between providers is too small to be meaningful and to identify the differences producing this coefficient as random. In this case, a comparison between providers would not be recommended, as it could not produce reliable results. On the other hand, values above 0.05 would indicate sufficient between-provider variation to differentiate between positive and negative deviants.

The Intraclass correlation 1 is determined by

$$ICC = \frac{between \ provider \ variance}{between \ provider \ variance + within \ provider \ variance} = \frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_u^2 \ + \ \sigma_e^2} \ ,$$

where  $\sigma_u^2$  is the between provider variance and  $\sigma_e^2$  is the within provider variance [49].

Variance estimates are usually derived from random intercept models in a mixed model framework. The  $\sigma_u^2$  and  $\sigma_e^2$  can be estimated directly from a linear mixed model. In a generalized linear mixed model, e.g., for logistic or Poisson distributed outcome variables the  $(\sigma_e^2)$  must be approximated most often by  $pi^2/3$  [46].

#### 5.3.2 Intra-class correlation 2 (reliability)

The ICC2, which also ranges from 0–1, determines the level of measurement error. With 1 signifying perfect reliability [47] and values  $\geq 0.8$  are desirable [48]. Lower levels make detection of between-provider differences more difficult [17]. To achieve adequate ICC2 values (high reliability), sufficient between-provider variances (adequate ICC1 values) are necessary [49]. In this way the ICC2 is closely linked to the ICC1, as both rely on the

between- and within-provider variances. However, because the number of providers of the sample influences the reliability, the ICC2 also considers the number of clusters (k) (e.g., the number of hospitals). The ICC2 [49] is accordingly

$$ICC2 = \frac{between \ provider \ variance}{between \ provider \ variance + (within \ provider \ variance/n)} = \frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_u^2 + \sigma_e^2/k} \ ,$$

where  $\sigma_e^2$  the between-provider variance,  $\sigma_e^2$  the within -provider variance and k the sample size on the cluster level.

#### 5.3.3 Risk adjustment

In addition to measures of between-provider variability (ICC1) and reliability (ICC2), profiling should include a risk adjustment process. As noted above, differences between patient and hospital characteristics can disadvantage certain providers, as differences in performance scores might be driven partially by differences in patient characteristics rather than performance. The effects of patient characteristics are well documented, e.g., a systematic review of empirical HCAHPS studies found that older patients and those with poorer health status tended to report lower levels of satisfaction [27]. The capacity to identify and correct for such factors makes risk assessment particularly useful in provider profiling. However, which patient characteristics influence ratings in which way is not consistently reported. For example, contradicting Mazurenko et al., Bruyneel et al. observed that younger age influenced patient rating negatively [50]. Still, HCAHPS measures are adjusted for specific patient characteristics, e.g., age, education and language [32]. Also, in NHS trusts in England, patient reports of their experiences with hospital care are influenced by characteristics such as patient age, gender and self-rated health status [36].

Further, rural hospitals outside of London were rated more positively than London hospitals [36]. Alongside regional characteristics, profit status influences patients perceptions. For example, a study in Germany found that patients considered not-for-profit hospitals more trustful and warm but less competent than for-profit ones [52]. Findings of earlier U.S. studies support the influence of ownership status on patient ratings: there, patients give lower ratings to teaching hospitals [53], large institutions [27, 53], and those that include intensive care units [53]. Because of the often unexpected influences patient and hospital characteristics exert on provider rankings, risk assessment adds a level of consistency not available via other means.

#### 5.3.4 Material

#### 5.3.5 Design

This sub-study used patient survey data from the cross-sectional multicenter *Matching Registered Nurse Services with Changing Care Demands* (Match<sup>RN</sup>) study. That study's overall aim was to examine how patient safety indicators and nursing care processes and structures have changed since the 2012 introduction of Swiss Diagnosis-Related Groups. More details of the Match<sup>RN</sup> study have been published elsewhere [54].

#### 5.3.6 Data source and study population

For the application of provider profiling methods in our empirical Match<sup>RN</sup> example, we used patient survey data from 123 units of 23 acute care hospitals from the German, French and Italian language regions of Switzerland. To be included in Match<sup>RN</sup>, patients had to be at least 18 years old, hospitalized for at least 24 h and able to respond to the survey [54].

### 5.3.7 Outcome variables for provider profiling

Based on the Match<sup>RN</sup> patient survey, we assessed various questions regarding patients' perceptions of their hospital stays. We used the HCAHPS survey and the Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS-PEQ) [55] because they were included in the primary Match<sup>RN</sup> study [56]. For this analysis, we focused on four GS-PEQ items: (a) *Did the nurses talk to you in a way that was easy to understand?* (dimension: communication); (b) *Did you receive sufficient information about your diagnosis/afflictions?* (dimension: information); (c) *Did you perceive the treatment and care as adapted to your situation?* (dimension: respectful treatment),; and (d) *Were you involved in the decisions regarding your treatment and care?* (dimension: involvement). The responses were marked on a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from "not at all" to "to a very large extent". As the responses were only 5-point scaled and heavily skewed, we dichotomized the responses as positive (to a large extent and to a very large extent, 1) or negative (to a moderate extent, to a small extent, and not at all, 0). The additionally answer option "I do not know" was coded as missing. More information about the GS-PEQ items can be found elsewhere [54].

In addition to the items from the GS-PEQ, we included several from the HCAHPS questionnaire: (e) During this hospital stay, how often did nurses listen carefully to you? (dimension: communication); (f) During this hospital stay, how often did nurses explain things in a way you could understand? (dimension: communication); (g) During this hospital stay, how often did nurses treat you with courtesy and respect? (dimension: respectful treatment). Answers were marked on a 4-point Likert-type scale ranging from "always" to "never". We also dichotomized these answer options – this time into "always" (1) versus "usually", "sometimes" and "never" (0). Additionally, we included two further questions from the HCAHPS providing a global hospital stay rating (h) Using any number from 0 to 10, where 0 is the worst hospital possible and 10 is the best hospital possible. what number would you use to rate this hospital during your stay? (response options: 0 to 10); and (i) Would you recommend this hospital to family and friends? (respond options: "definitely no"; "probably no"; "probably yes"; and "definitely yes"). As is common practice in analyzing these items, we dichotomized item (h) into 0 (0-8) and 1 (9 and 10) and item (i) into 0 (definitely no, probably no, and probably yes) and 1 (definitely yes) [7, 8, 57-59].

#### 5.3.8 Control variables for risk adjustment

#### Patient characteristics

Along with patient questionnaire data, we examined patient demographics, i.e., age (years), gender (male/female), education level (range: 0 ("no school graduation") to 4 ("university degree")) and health status using the EQ-5D-3L scale [60]. Patients could self-rate the five dimensions of the EQ-5D-3L ("mobility", "self-care", "usual activities", "pain/discomfort" and "anxiety/depression") with three answer options: "no problem", "some problems", or "extreme problems". For analysis, we calculated a sum score for the five dimensions ("no problems" = 0; "some problems" = 0.5, "extreme problems" = 1) with a minimum possible sum score of 0 (no problems in any of the five dimension) and a maximum of 5 (extreme problems in each of the five dimensions).

#### Hospital characteristics

Using public data provided by Switzerlands Federal Statistical Office, we included hospital characteristics such as size (small:<100, medium: 100–300, large: 301–600, extra large: >600, ownership status (private, non-profit, public), and type (university hospital, general hospital, district hospital). Furthermore, we calculated all patient response rates at the unit and hospital level.

## 5.3.9 Ethical Considerations

The Match<sup>RN</sup> study was exempted from ethical review by all Swiss cantonal ethical committees responsible for the participating hospitals (EKNZ UBE 15/59). The patient surveys were conducted anonymously; completing and returning the form were considered informed consent.

### 5.3.10 Analyses

Due to missing data, sample sizes varied depending on the outcome variable. At the unit and hospital levels, we calculated the ICC1 to assess variance between providers and the ICC2 to assess reliability for the nine patient experience items, i.e., the four GS-PEQ and five HCAHPS items. Applying a two-level model for each ICC, we constructed 72 models (36 models for the ICC1 and ICC2, i.e., two for each of the nine outcome variables at the hospital level, and two more at the unit level, using adjusted and unadjusted models) using R statistical software [61], Version 3.3.2 for Mac OS X using the "rptR" package version 0.9.2. [45].

As recommended, we used mixed effects models, applying the log-link function for binominal data and using the models link scale to determine ICC1 and ICC2 [46]. We also calculated risk-adjusted ICC1, as well as ICC2 estimates including risk adjustments for the four selected patient characteristics (age, sex, education, self-rated health status) and three hospital characteristics (size, type, ownership status). Following the methodology from economics and evolution research [45], we further evaluated the analytical approaches. To test whether the ICC1 was zero, we used the permutation test with 1000 permutations as suggested by Stoffel et al. (2017). Where permutations are p<.05, estimates are considered to be above zero. To describe the uncertainty of the estimates we also provide 95% confidence intervals (CI). Because, as shown above, the ICC2 is basically the ICC1 incorporating k, we did not provide the permutation test results for the ICC2, as they would not differ from those for the ICC1.

Additionally, to evaluate the ICCs fully, we produced histograms of all ICC1 estimates with their 95% -CIs and caterpillar plots of empirical Bayes of the same models. These plots were useful for the ICC calculations, as they allowed us both to visualize the uncertainty of the estimates and to show how calculated results effected hospital benchmarking by reliably identifying positive or negative deviants.

## 5.4 Results

#### 5.4.1 Sample describtion

Due to missing data and depending on the variable, we included between 1716 and 1859 questionnaires from 2073 patients in our analyses (see Table 5.1). The overall response rate was 72% (range: 17% and 100% per unit). The number of completed questionnaires per hospital varied from 14 to 215 and per unit from 4 to 39. The majority of participants were male (55%); mean age was 65 years. Table 5.1 summarizes patient characteristics including levels of education and self-rated functional health status sum score.

## 5.4.2 Variance and reliability for unadjusted and adjusted models

To assess the ICCs of the nine outcome variables we calculated both ICC1 and ICC2 on both levels (unit and hospital level) for both models (unadjusted and adjusted). On the unit level, three (variables a, b, f) of the nine outcomes fulfilled the threshold criterion of ICC1  $\geq 0.05$ ; however, for adjusted models, no items fulfilled this criterion Table 5.2. On the hospital level, neither adjusted nor unadjusted models produced ICC1 values  $\geq 0.05$ .

		%	min.	mean	max.	SD
Gender						
	male	55				
Education						
	No graduation	2.5				
	Secondary school	21.4				
	Further education/training	42.0				
	Higher education	22.9				
	University degree	11.3				
Age (years)			18	65	97	16.49
Sum score	self-rated functional status <sup>*</sup>		0	1.35	5	1.07

Table 5.1: Study sample patient characteristics

Min.=Minimum; Max.=Maximum; SD=Standard Deviation

\* 0 = no problems in any of the 5 dimensions; 5 = extreme problems in every of the 5 dimensions; graduation in 0.5 steps

For ICC2 values, a similar pattern was observed. All ICC2 values were lower for the adjusted than the unadjusted models. At the unit cluster level, five (a, b, d, e, f) of the nine items met the threshold for reliability, i.e., ICC2  $\geq 0.8$ . Of the adjusted models, only variable b met the reliability criterion. On the hospital cluster level, no items, using either adjusted or unadjusted models, met the threshold. All ICC1 and ICC2 estimates for all outcome variables can be found in Table 5.2.

Visualization of ICC1 values (excerpt)(All plots can be found in the supplementary materials)



Figure 5.1: caterpillar plot: variable f: "During this hospital stay, how often did nurses listen carefully to you?" (unadjusted unit level)



Figure 5.2: histogram variable f: "During this hospital stay, how often did nurses listen carefully to you?" (unadjusted unit level)

To evaluate the appropriateness of the outcome variables (aim 3), we used calculated and visualized analytical approaches. Of all outcome variables, item f - "During thishospital stay, how often did nurses listen carefully to you?" – shows the most satisfyingresult across all analytical approaches. First, variable f has the highest calculated ICC1

(0.059), indicating sufficient between-provider variance. Second, the permutation test (using a threshold of p<.01) supports the results of the calculated ICC1, i.e., ICC1  $\neq$ 0. Third, the caterpillar plot Figure 5.1 shows the most differences between units (2)of 123 units). The y-axis shows the number of units, i.e., 123. Each line shown on the caterpillar plots represents a hospital unit (n=123); the start and end of each line delineate the 95%-CI, with the blue dot representing the point estimate (intercept). The x-axis shows the range of estimates, and the light grey vertical line represents the grand mean (standardized at 0), which is the mean of all unit estimates. True variability between units is present when their whiskers do not touch the grand mean or their whiskers do not overlap. For variable f, this is the case for two units (the lower one 122 and 123). Fourth, the histogram distribution pattern verifies the trustworthiness of the 95%-CIs Figure 5.2. The histogram describes the uncertainty of the estimated ICC1s based on permutations, with the v-axis showing the number of cases a certain estimate (x-axis) was calculated). The histogram for variable f display a tight 95%-CI, which is in line with the calculated 95%-CI (0.018–0.096). Alongside the consistency between calculated and visualized 95%-CIs, neither the calculated nor the visualized 95%-CI includes 0. A 95%-CI including 0 indicates that the estimate is not significantly different from 0. Fifth, the histogram followed an unskewed bell-shaped distribution. The visualized values are based on calculated values and quantify and illustrate the calculated values. For the other models, no variables yielded a similar combination of sufficient ICC1 values, tight CIs, bell distributions or other desirable analytical results (see supplementary materials).

Source	Item	n		ICC1 [95%-C]	[]			ICC2 [95%-C]	[]	
			unadj	justed	adju	sted	unadj	usted	adju	sted
			unit $level$	hospital level	unit level	hospital level	unit $level$	hospital level	unit level	hospital level
GS-PEQ	(a) Did the nurses talk to you in a way that was easy to understand?	1859	0.051* [0-0.113]	$0.023^{*}$ [0-0.059]	0.018	0	0.868 [0-0.943]	0.353 [0-0.596]	0.69	0
	(b) Did you receive sufficient information about your diagnosis/ afflictions?	1826	$0.054^{**}$ [0.011-0.092]	0.025** [0-0.053]	0.035** [0-0.069]	$0.006^{*}$ [0-0.014]	0.876 [ $0.566-0.930$ ]	0.368 [0-0.598]	0.817 [0-0.895]	0.113 [0-0.241]
	(c) Did you perceive the treatment and care as adapted to your situation?	1828	0.013	0.021	0	0	0.62	$\begin{array}{c} 0.334 \\ [0-0.602] \end{array}$	0	0
	(d) Were you involved in the decisions regarding your treatment and care?	1716	$\begin{array}{c} 0.047^{***} \\ [0.01-0.082] \end{array}$	$0.035^{***}$ [0.005-0.066]	$0.016^{*}$ [0-0.038]	0.007* [0-0.014]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.859 \\ [0.548\text{-}0.921] \end{array}$	0.454 [0.1-0.642]	0.666 [0-0.824]	0.142 [0-0.221]
HCAHPS	(e) During this hospital stay, how often did nurses treat you with courtesy and respect?	1863	0.044* [0-0.089]	$0.021^{**}$ [0-0.05]	0.017 [0-0.048]	0 [0-0.005]	0.85 [0-0.926]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.329 \\ [0-0.541] \end{array}$	0.686 [0-0.865]	0 [0-0.118]
	(f) During this hospital stay, how often did nurses listen carefully to vou?	1851	$0.059^{**}$ [0.018-0.096]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.034^{**} \\ [0.006\text{-}0.063] \end{array}$	0.029** [0-0.053]	$0.012^{**}$ [0-0.019]	0.885 [0.696-0.931]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.445 \\ [0.115\text{-}0.62] \end{array}$	0.785 [0-0.879]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.214 \\ [0-0.304] \end{array}$
	(g) During this hospital stay, how often did nurses explain things in a way you could understand?	1853	0.015 [0-0.041]	0.016** [0-0.38]	0 [0-0.018]	0 [0-0.004]	0.645 [0-0.839]	0.273 [0-0.463]	0 [0-0.702]	0 [0-0.094]
	(h) Using any number from 0 to 10, what number would you use to rate this hospital during your stay?	1853	0.017* [0-0.041]	0.009* [0-0.022]	0.012* [0-0.03]	0.004* [0-0.008]	0.682 [0-0.842]	0.167 [0-0.371]	0.604 [0-0.788]	0.08 [0-0.163]
	(i) Would you recommend this hospital to family and friends?	1828	0.03* [0-0.064	$0.026^{***}$ [0-0.054]	$0.021^{*}$ [0-0.044]	$0.012^{**}$ [0-0.021]	0.793 [0-0.89]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.382 \\ [0.015\text{-}0.562] \end{array}$	0.729 [0-0.85]	0.217 [0-0.293]

 $\frac{81}{2}$ 

permutation test: \*p<0.01; \*\*p<0.05; \*\*\*p<0.001 CI: 95% = confidence interval; ICC1 = Intraclass correlation 1 (variance); ICC2 = Intraclass correlation 2 (reliability)

#### 5.5 Discussion

In this paper we describe fundamental methods to investigate measurement properties for quality assessments, particularly using data on patient experiences with care, for healthcare provider profiling. We also explore likely reasons why provider profiling based on patient experience data often fails to achieve the intended goal: to accurately rank units or institutions based on quality of care. We support our position by assessing both ICCs for four GS-PEQ and five HCAHPS items on the unit and hospital levels. Sufficient between- and within-provider variance and reliability – indicated by satisfactory ICC1 and 2 values – are essential to produce reliable and valid comparisons of providers, e.g., units or hospitals. However, as our example demonstrated, few items yielded satisfactory ICCs: together with plotted results, none of the 9 items tested showed sufficient between-provider differences to allow accurate profiling. Therefore, we would not recommend any of the tested items for provider profiling.

In our example, we describe, examine and assess of several analytical approaches that guide the appraisal of items proposed for provider profiling. The calculated ICC1 is one useful indicator of between-provider variance. However, it remains questionable whether a threshold value is practical, and if so, where that level should be set. Even when the suggested threshold of >0.05 [44] was reached, sufficient between-provider variance was found in only two of the 123 analyzed units. This begs the question of whether it is appropriate to discuss sufficient variance when only 1.6% (2/123) of sample units differed significantly from the grand mean. Furthermore, we discovered that the same principle applied at the institutional level: while  $4 \ (=17.4\%)$  of the 23 included hospitals had been identified as deviants, our calculated ICC1 value indicated insufficient variance to justify such a conclusion. Therefore, instead of a vaguely-defined threshold for the ICC1, we suggest using a percentage value that shows what proportion of providers differ significantly from the grand mean. One possible basis for this assessment is between-provider variation as depicted in the caterpillar plot that quantified the deviants. Based on our example, we would recommend using at least a 10% between-provider difference to indicate meaningful variance and to identify deviants. Because it is critical to distinguish statistically significant and clinically relevant profiling results [29], our findings support both calculating and visualizing (i.e., plotting) variance, as well as abandoning the concept of an ICC1 threshold in favor of a minimum percentage of divergence from the mean to determine meaningful levels of variance.

A caterpillar plot can visualize the calculated ICC1, enabling identification of deviants and providing a visually clear result beyond an abstract number. Furthermore, a histogram verifies between-provider variance in several ways. One is that, based on the reach of a 95%-CI, it indicates at a glance whether that interval includes 0: which is whether the variance depicted is statistically significant. Wider CIs than 95% decrease the uncertainty of the ICC1 results. Similarly, a histogram conveniently shows the distribution of ICC estimates. A normal distribution follows a classic bell shape; a skewed one indicates irregularities regarding ICC estimation, which is particularly a concern in generalized linear mixed models such as logistic or poisson models.

Future research in the field of patient experience measurement for provider profiling would profit from assessment of the outlined analytical approaches, e.g., the use of ICC1 and ICC2 calculations to interpret 95%-CIs and visualize the results (via histograms and caterpillar plots). We recommend exploring all analytical approaches together, as plots often indicate characteristics and relationships not noticeable via other means. However, regardless of which indicators are used to describe between-provider variance, the magnitude of that variance is not considered by provider profiling methods [15]. Therefore, all indicators have to be interpreted with caution and with the understanding that statistical significance does not necessarily equate with clinical relevance.

For this sample of 123 units across 23 hospitals, neither calculated nor plotted

analytical approaches, including for the adjusted models (i.e., those adjusted for patient and hospital confounders) indicated sufficient between-provider variance to allow reliable profiling. Furthermore, the literature shows that confounder variables, lack consistency regarding their influence on profiling results [16, 62]. In order to avoid misinterpretations of methods and results, the Swiss Academy of Medical Sciences (SAMS) recommends describing both crude and risk-adjusted values [43].

To determine measurement error, we calculated ICC2 values for all items. Compared to the unit level (n = 123), no hospital-level item (n=23) reached the threshold of  $\geq 0.80$ . This was likely due to the differences in providers' sample sizes. Especially for cases with extremely large or small samples, the influence on the results is difficult to assess. Thus, it is unclear whether the results reflect actual between-provider differences or simply random effects relating to sample size [47].

Also, particularly in analyses including individuals, less reliable results can result in misclassification [10, 63]. To avoid reductions in reliability due to small hospital-level sample sizes, we also performed provider profiling at the unit level. However, the response rate varied between participating units. It is possible that with larger sample sizes, outcome variable reliability would improve [49].

Although patient experience data are widely used for provider profiling, the results of which are used to select positive or negative deviants, the current conceptualization of the construct of patient experiences requires clarification. For example, experts' disagreement about the content and main dimensions of patient-centered care leaves these concepts prone to ambiguity [64]. The resulting confusion is accompanied by problems with measurement and insufficient between-provider variation – resulting in low ICC1 values.

Furthermore, patient experience assessments need to be up-to-date. Changes in patient attitudes and perceptions also relate to health care settings. For instance, the HCAHPS survey was developed more than 15 years ago. Researchers should consider updating and re-confirming its conceptual foundations.

The lack of variance could also arise at least partly from the phrasing of the questions. In our study, we compared one item of the GS-PEQ questionnaire ((a) Did the nurses talk to you in a way that was easy to understand?) with a similar one from the HCAHPS questionnaire ((g) During this hospital stay, how often did nurses explain things in a way you could understand?). Both items represent the "communication" dimension and are similar regarding content, but differ regarding their wording and answer options. In our example, the GS-PEQ's response scale, with 5 points versus the HCAHPS's 4, provided greater variance between patient responses [65]. The literature regarding the ideal number of answer options is contradictory; however, in this case, more scale points led to more useful information. Additionally, if necessary, scales with more points can easily be recoded into simpler ones [65].

The measurement limitations discussed here – particularly the lack of variance – apply not only to subjective outcomes such as patient experiences, but also to clinical outcomes such as adverse event rates. One good example is van Dishoeck et al.s (2011) study assessing nine outcome variables (including pressure ulcers, hospital readmission) in patients with acute myocardial infarction [15]. Based on their findings, pressure ulcer prevalence and mortality rates were not recommended for provider profiling.

#### Limitations

Along with overall response rates of units and hospitals, response numbers per unit varied in our sample, influencing the reliability of the measures. Further, the small hospital-level sample size limited the statistical power, including the capacity to detect differences between hospitals. Therefore, we also assessed the unit level (n=123), which also indicated very limited between-unit variance. However, we were only checking whether differences existed between providers, not quantifying what differences we noted [15]. Additionally, one could argue that our threshold for ICC2 values ( $\geq 0.8$ ) is too high: other literature suggests lower levels [66]. Accepting a lower ICC2 level would have allowed more variables. However, higher ICC2 values reduce the level of noise in measurements and ensure high reliability, ultimately producing more accurate results [67].

## 5.6 Conclusion

Provider profiling based on patient experience surveys can influence patients' hospital selection, and partly determines the allocation of health care funding, particularly in the U.S. More importantly, considering its potential for improving the quality of care, experts agree on the need for valid and reliable methods to detect, measure and compare between-provider quality variances [49, 67]. Crucially, the capacity to assess between-provider variance allows the identification of positive or negative deviants, accelerating quality development; however, accurate assessment depends on the further capacity to reliably separate statistically relevant 'signal' from confounding 'noise' [49]. Unfortunately, patient experience measures rarely fulfill the criteria for reliable provider profiling. In this study, based on our ICC1 and ICC2 calculations, in spite of using data from 123 units in 23 hospitals, not one of the 9 mentioned questionnaire items provided data that fulfilled the necessary criteria. In order to assess the viability of the measures employed in provider profiling, all methodological approaches for analyses have to be explored. To maximize identification of deviating providers, we recommend augmenting ICC1 results with visualizations including caterpillar plots and histograms. Finally, considering the broad application of patient experience surveys in health services research, further studies are needed to develop and evaluate patient experience measures more suitable for provider profiling.

## 5.7 Acknowledgments

We are grateful for the support of the participating hospitals.

## 5.8 References

- 1. Anhang Price R, Elliott MN, Zaslavsky AM, Hays RD, Lehrman WG, Rybowski L, Edgman-Levitan S, Cleary PD. Examining the role of patient experience surveys in measuring health care quality. Med Care Res Rev. 2014;71(5):522-54.
- Saunders CL, Elliott MN, Lyratzopoulos G, Abel GA. Do Differential Response Rates to Patient Surveys Between Organizations Lead to Unfair Performance Comparisons?: Evidence From the English Cancer Patient Experience Survey. Med Care. 2016;54(1):45-54.
- 3. Ding VY, Hubbard RA, Rutter CM, Simon GE. Assessing the accuracy of profiling methods for identifying top providers: performance of mental health care providers. Health Serv Outcomes Res Methodol. 2013;13(1):1-17.
- 4. Mendelson A, Kondo K, Damberg C, Low A, Motuapuaka M, Freeman M, O'Neil M, Relevo R, Kansagara D. The Effects of Pay-for-Performance Programs on Health, Health Care Use, and Processes of Care: A Systematic Review. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(5):341-53.
- 5. Adams JL, Mehrotra А, Thomas JW, McGlynn EA. Physician  $\cos t$ profiling-reliability risk of misclassification. Ν Engl Med. and J 2010;362(11):1014-21.
- 6. Brunelli A, Rocco G. The comparison of performance between thoracic surgical units. Thorac Surg Clin. 2007;17(3):413-24.

- Shwartz M, Cohen AB, Restuccia JD, Ren ZJ, Labonte A, Theokary C, Kang R, Horwitt J. How well can we identify the high-performing hospital? Med Care Res Rev. 2011;68(3):290-310.
- Sacks GD, Lawson EH, Dawes AJ, Russell MM, Maggard-Gibbons M, Zingmond DS, Ko CY. Relationship Between Hospital Performance on a Patient Satisfaction Survey and Surgical Quality. JAMA Surg. 2015;150(9):858-64.
- 9. Shahian DM, Torchiana DF, Shemin RJ, Rawn JD, Normand SL. Massachusetts cardiac surgery report card: implications of statistical methodology. Ann Thorac Surg. 2005;80(6):2106-13.
- Mehrotra A, Adams JL, Thomas JW, McGlynn EA. Cost profiles: should the focus be on individual physicians or physician groups? Health Aff (Millwood). 2010;29(8):1532-8.
- 11. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. https://www.cms.gov/2015
- 12. Walker LO, Sterling BS, Hoke MM, Dearden KA. Applying the concept of positive deviance to public health data: a tool for reducing health disparities. Public Health Nurs. 2007;24(6):571-6.
- 13. Lawton R, Taylor N, Clay-Williams R, Braithwaite J. Positive deviance: a different approach to achieving patient safety. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(11):880-3.
- 14. Nationaler Verein für Qualitätsentwicklung in Spitälern und Kliniken (ANQ). Patientenzufriedenheit Akutsomatik, Erwachsene Nationaler Vergleichsbericht Messung 2016. Bern; 2017.
- van Dishoeck AM, Lingsma HF, Mackenbach JP, Steyerberg EW. Random variation and rankability of hospitals using outcome indicators. BMJ Qual Saf. 2011;20(10):869-74.
- 16. Abel GA, Saunders CL, Lyratzopoulos G. Cancer patient experience, hospital performance and case mix: evidence from England. Future Oncol. 2014;10(9):1589-98.
- 17. Adams JL. The Reliability of Provider Profiling. Santa Monica: RAND Corporation; 2009.
- 18. Berwick DM, James B, Coye MJ. Connections between quality measurement and improvement. Med Care. 2003;41(1 Suppl):I30-8.
- 19. Baernholdt M, Dunton N, Hughes RG, Stone PW, White KM. Quality Measures: A Stakeholder Analysis. J Nurs Care Qual. 2017.
- 20. Normand S-LT, Glickman ME, Gatsonis CA. Statistical Methods for Profiling Providers of Medical Care: Issues and Applications. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 1997;92(439):803-14.
- 21. Fung CH, Lim YW, Mattke S, Damberg C, Shekelle PG. Systematic review: the evidence that publishing patient care performance data improves quality of care. Ann Intern Med. 2008;148(2):111-23.
- 22. Tsianakas V, Maben J, Wiseman T, Robert G, Richardson A, Madden P, Griffin M, Davies EA. Using patients' experiences to identify priorities for quality improvement in breast cancer care: patient narratives, surveys or both? BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12:271.
- 23. Doyle C, Lennox L, Bell D. A systematic review of evidence on the links between patient experience and clinical safety and effectiveness. BMJ Open. 2013;3(1).
- 24. Elliott MN, Lehrman WG, Goldstein EH, Giordano LA, Beckett MK, Cohea CW, Cleary PD. Hospital survey shows improvements in patient experience. Health Aff (Millwood). 2010;29(11):2061-7.

- 25. Elliott MN, Cohea CW, Lehrman WG, Goldstein EH, Cleary PD, Giordano LA, Beckett MK, Zaslavsky AM. Accelerating Improvement and Narrowing Gaps: Trends in Patients' Experiences with Hospital Care Reflected in HCAHPS Public Reporting. Health Serv Res. 2015;50(6):1850-67.
- 26. Iezzoni LI. Reasons for risk adjustment. In: Iezzoni LI, editor. Risk adjustment for measureing health care outcomes. Four: Health Administration Press; 2012.
- Mazurenko O, Collum T, Ferdinand A, Menachemi N. Predictors of Hospital Patient Satisfaction as Measured by HCAHPS: A Systematic Review. J Healthc Manag. 2017;62(4):272-83.
- 28. Steyerberg EW. Clinical Prediction Models A Practical Approach to Development, Validation, and Updating. Gail M, Krickeberg K, Samet J, Tsiatis A, Wong W, editors. New York, USA: Springer Science+Business Media, LLC; 2009.
- 29. Shahian DM, Normand SL. Autonomy, beneficence, justice, and the limits of provider profiling. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;59(25):2383-6.
- McFarland DC, Shen MJ, Parker P, Meyerson S, Holcombe RF. Does Hospital Size Affect Patient Satisfaction? Qual Manag Health Care. 2017;26(4):205-9.
- 31. Holzer BM, Minder CE. A simple approach to fairer hospital benchmarking using patient experience data. Int J Qual Health Care. 2011;23(5):524-30.
- 32. AHRQ. CAHPS Hospital Survey (H-CAHPS) [Available from: https://www.cahps.ahrq.gov/.
- 33. http://www.nhssurveys.org/
- 34. Jenkinson C, Coulter A, Bruster S. The Picker Patient Experience Questionnaire: development and validation using data from in-patient surveys in five countries. Int J Qual Health Care. 2002;14(5):353-8.
- 35. Leatherman S, Sutherland K. A Quality Chartbook: Patient and Public Experience in the NHS. 2007.
- 36. DeCourcy A, West E, Barron D. The National Adult Inpatient Survey conducted in the English National Health Service from 2002 to 2009: how have the data been used and what do we know as a result? BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12:71.
- 37. Ausserhofer D, Schubert M, Desmedt M, Blegen MA, De Geest S, Schwendimann R. The association of patient safety climate and nurse-related organizational factors with selected patient outcomes: a cross-sectional survey. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):240-52.
- Bachnick S., Ausserhofer D., Baernholdt M., Simon M. Patient-centered care, nurse work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals: A cross-sectional multi-center study. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2018; 81(May 2018):98-106.
- 39. Bovier PA, Charvet A, Cleopas A, Vogt N, Perneger TV. Self-reported management of pain in hospitalized patients: link between process and outcome. Am J Med. 2004;117(8):569-74.
- 40. Francis P, Agoritsas T, Chopard P, Perneger T. Does the patient's inherent rating tendency influence reported satisfaction scores and affect division ranking? Int J Qual Health Care. 2016;28(2):221-6.
- 41. Leonardsen AL, Grondahl VA, Ghanima W, Storeheier E, Schonbeck A, Loken TA, Bakken NCM, Letting GS, Holst R, Jelsness-Jorgensen LP. Evaluating patient experiences in decentralised acute care using the Picker Patient Experience Questionnaire; methodological and clinical findings. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):685.

- 42. Raleigh VS, Frosini F, Sizmur S, Graham C. Do some trusts deliver a consistently better experience for patients? An analysis of patient experience across acute care surveys in English NHS trusts. BMJ Qual Saf. 2012;21(5):381-90.
- Sciences (SAMS). 43. Swiss Academy of Medical Erhebung, Analyse und Veröffentlichung von Daten über die medizinische Behandlungsqualität: Empfehlungen [The collection, analysis and publication of data about quality of medical treatment: recommendations]. Schweizerische Ärztezeitung. . 2009;90(26/27):1044-54.
- 44. Bliese PD. Within-Group Agreement, Non-Independence, and Reliability: Implications for Data Aggregation and Analysis. In: Kozlowski SWJ, Klein KJ, editors. Multilevel Theory, Research, and Methods in Organizations: Foundations, Extensions, and New Directions. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2000. p. 349-81.
- 45. Stoffel M, Nakagawa S, Schielzeth H. rptR: repeatability estimation and variance decomposition by generalized linear mixed-effects models. Methods in Ecology and Evolution. 2017.
- 46. Nakagawa S, Schielzeth H. Repeatability for Gaussian and non-Gaussian data: a practical guide for biologists. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc. 2010;85(4):935-56.
- 47. Dimick JB, Staiger DO, Birkmeyer JD. Ranking hospitals on surgical mortality: the importance of reliability adjustment. Health Serv Res. 2010;45(6 Pt 1):1614-29.
- 48. Snijders TAB, Bosker RJ. Multilevel Analysis: An Introduction to Basic and Advanced Multilevel Modeling second ed. London: Sage Publishers; 2012.
- 49. Saunders CL, Elliott MN, Lyratzopoulos G, Abel GA. Beyond the ecological fallacy: potential problems when studying healthcare organisations. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine. 2016a; 109(3):92-7.
- 50. Bruyneel L, Tambuyzer E, Coeckelberghs E, De Wachter D, Sermeus W, De Ridder D, Ramaekers D, Weeghmans I, Vanhaecht K. New Instrument to Measure Hospital Patient Experiences in Flanders. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14(11).
- 51. Medicare.gov. Hospital Compare Baltimore (MD): Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; [Available from: https://www.medicare.gov/ hospitalcompare/search.html.
- 52. Drevs F, Tscheulin DK, Lindenmeier J. Do Patient Perceptions Vary With Ownership Status? A Study of Nonprofit, For-Profit, and Public Hospital Patients. Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly. 2012;43(1):164-84.
- 53. Wang DE, Tsugawa Y, Figueroa JF, Jha AK. Association Between the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Hospital Star Rating and Patient Outcomes. JAMA Intern Med. 2016;176(6):848-50.
- 54. Bachnick S, Ausserhofer D, Januel JM, Schubert M, Schwendimann R, De Geest S, Simon M, Match<sup>RN</sup> research group. Matching Registered Nurse services with changing care demands (Match<sup>RN</sup>): study protocol of a natural experiment multi-centre study. J Adv Nurs. 2017;73(7):1735-46.
- 55. Sjetne IS, Bjertnaes OA, Olsen RV, Iversen HH, Bukholm G. The Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS-PEQ): identification of core items from a survey in Norway. BMC Health Serv Res. 2011;11:88.
- 56. Bachnick S, Ausserhofer D, Baernholdt M, Simon M, Match<sup>RN</sup> reerach group. Patient-centered care, nurse work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals: A cross-sectional multi-center study. Int J Nurs Stud. 2017;81:98-106.
- 57. Siddiqui ZK, Wu AW, Kurbanova N, Qayyum R. Comparison of Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems patient satisfaction scores for

specialty hospitals and general medical hospitals: confounding effect of survey response rate. J Hosp Med. 2014;9(9):590-3.

- 58. Jha AK, Orav EJ, Zheng J, Epstein AM. Patients' perception of hospital care in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(18):1921-31.
- 59. Kennedy GD, Tevis SE, Kent KC. Is there a relationship between patient satisfaction and favorable outcomes? Ann Surg. 2014;260(4):592-8; discussion 8-600.
- 60. EuroQol Research Foundation. http://www.euroqol.org/
- 61. R Development Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. 2017().
- 62. Orindi BO, Lesaffre E, Sermeus W, Bruyneel L. Impact of Cross-level Measurement Noninvariance on Hospital Rankings Based on Patient Experiences With Care in 7 European Countries. Med Care. 2016.
- 63. Adams JL, Mehrotra A, Thomas JW, McGlynn EA, Adams JL, Mehrotra A, McGlynn EA. Physician Cost Profiling-Reliability and Risk of Misclassification: Detailed Methodology and Sensitivity Analyses. Rand Health Q. 2012;2(1):3.
- 64. International Alliance of Patients' Organizations. What is Patient-Centered Healthcare? A Review of Definitions and Principles. 2007. p. 2-37.
- Krosnick JA, Presser S. Question and Questionnaire Design. In: Wright JD, Marsden PV, editors. Handbook of Survey Research. 2. San Diego, CA: Elsevier; 2009.
- 66. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Memorandum: Results of reliability analysis from Mathematica Policy Research. In: Services UDoHH, editor. Baltimore, MD2012.
- 67. Staggs VS, Cramer E. Can Nursing Units With High Fall Rates Be Identified Using One Year of Data? Reliability of Fall Rates As a Function of the Number of Quarters on Which They Are Based. Res Nurs Health. 2017;40(1):80-7.

## Chapter 6

## Preferences matter when measuring patient experiences with hospital care – A cross-sectional multi-center study

Stefanie Bachnick<sup>1</sup> MSN, RN; Dietmar Ausserhofer<sup>1</sup>,<sup>2</sup> PhD, RN; Marianne Baernholdt<sup>3</sup> PhD, RN; Michael Simon<sup>1</sup>,<sup>4</sup> PhD, RN

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Nursing Sciences, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

<sup>2</sup> Claudiana College of Health-Care Professions, Bolzano, Italy

<sup>3</sup> School of Nursing, Virginia Commonwealth University, Virginia, US

<sup>4</sup> Inselspital Bern University Hospital, Nursing Research Unit, Bern, Switzerland

On behalf of the  $Match^{RN}$  study group

To be submitted to BMJ Quality & Safety

## 6.1 Abstract

**Importance.** How hospital patients' preferences shape their ratings of patient-centered care (PCC), thereby influencing provider profiles and health care funding decisions, has long been the subject of extensive theoretical discussions; however, only limited empirical evidence supports a relationship between patient preferences and PCC ratings. Therefore, this multicenter study had two objectives: to rigorously assess and analyze relationships between patient preferences and PCC levels, then to examine those preferences' values as predictor variables regarding the between-provider variances used in provider profiling.

Design, setting, participants. А cross-sectional multi-center study of 2159adult patients from 142units 25Swiss hospitals. in

**Measurements.** We used a 13-item multiple-choice questionnaire survey to assess patients preferences and their perceptions of key PCC indicators (e.g., clinician-patient communication, patient involvement in care/treatment decisions), as well as gathering comorbidity and demographic data (age, gender, educational level).

**Results.** Of the 2159 patients included, most (87%) were always treated with courtesy and respect; however, only a third (31.4%) always received detailed information about their prescribed medications' side effects. Further, all 13 PCC items indicated an imbalance between patient perceptions of PCC levels and their preferences, i.e. lower perceptions compared to higher preferences. Between-provider variances were predominantly increased in models incorporating patient preferences as predictor variables: of the 13 models developed, the 9 adjusted to test preference variables yielded the highest between-provider variances.

**Conclusions.** In the assessment of perceived PCC levels, patient preferences are an important predictor variable. Therefore, they have to be included in risk adjustment methods when analyzing levels of PCC. Due to improved differentiation between providers, patient preferences are also crucial to institutional profiles.

## 6.2 Introduction

Hospital patient care experience measurements provide snapshots of health care quality, helping administrators monitor and improve patient-centered care (PCC) [1]. Surveys to assess patient care experiences, e.g., the Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) in the US and the National Health Service (NHS) Adult Inpatient Survey in Britain are widely used to evaluate the current situation, detect potential for improvement and define improvement strategies. Mainly, assessments focus on the question of how, given the resources available to them, hospitals can best meet patients' needs.

However, patient experiences are challenging to measure. Current assessments suffer from three interrelated issues. First, measurements suffer from ceiling effects, i.e. a large majority of patients rate their experiences in hospital very positively [2-4]. Currently, the identification of high- and low-performing hospitals (called provider profiling) is unreliable because the commonly used patient experience items fail to detect sufficient between-provider variance [46]. However, consistent provider profiling has far-reaching consequences for stakeholders in health care settings. For health policies to encourage high care quality, for example, pay-for performance decisions must include accurate comparisons: in the US, 25% of total performance scores are based on patient experiences (assessed via the HCAHPS) [5]. In other countries, hospitals' patient care experience ratings are compared and reported publicly [4, 6, 7], allowing patients to base their hospital choices on the results.

In theory, hospitals can also benefit from provider profiling: negative deviants can treat their results as opportunities to receive improvement information from their high-performing peers. However, for this to work in practice, relatively fine between-provider variances have to be identifiable. For clinical outcomes, previous studies have highlighted the importance of sufficient between-provider variance to fair and reliable provider comparisons [8-10]. For patient experience ratings, similar research is lacking, but will represent a first step toward quality improvement in health care.

The second problem is uncertainty about how patient and hospital characteristics influence PCC ratings. While adjustments for patient demographics (age, gender, education, health status) are commonly accepted [6, 7, 11], the current evidence is inconclusive regarding those associations' strength and direction. Furthermore, hospital characteristics such as urban location [12], larger size [13], private ownership [14], a teaching function [15], and even the presence of an intensive care unit [15] can all negatively influence patient experience ratings.

Furthermore, comparing providers regarding quality of care, the literature shows little consistency regarding confounder variables (e.g., patient demographics) and their influence on profiling results based on patient ratings [10, 16, 17]. Such inconsistency makes it impossible to determine a core set of patient and hospital characteristics to include or adjust for in risk adjustment and provider profiling. However, reliable measurement and analyses of patient experiences certainly requires consideration of patient preferences.

The third underlying problem involves the definition of key concepts. For example, patient-centered care (PCC) is defined as "care that is respectful of and responsive to individual patients' preferences, needs, and values and ensuring that patients values guide all decisions" [18 p. 3]. Providing care according to this definition begins with assessment of patient preferences. For example, while some patients prefer to be fully involved in decisions regarding their treatment and care, others expect clinicians to make all treatment and care decisions. In either case, the patient's care rating will reflect how well their expectations are met.

For research purposes, then, patient preference is likely a predictor variable for perceived PCC levels. Although the influence of preferences on patient perceptions of care

quality has been discussed theoretically [19-21], empirical examination of this topic has been weak to date. Even where studies assess patient preferences or expectations regarding care, they are mainly cross-sectional, single-center works [22, 23], very lengthy [24], subject to high missing rates [20, 22] or developed and applied in contexts not fully comparable with OECD countries [25, 26]. Other studies assess patient preferences but associate them with demographics rather than care experiences [23, 27, 28]. Furthermore, as studies assessing preferences with single items [20] lack any focus on specific care aspects, they offer little opportunity to improve either clinical practice or resource deployment.

Therefore, this study has 4 aims: (1) to accurately assess levels of PCC in Swiss acute care hospitals; (2) to assess patient preferences regarding specific care aspects in Swiss acute care hospitals; (3) to examine associations between patients' preferences and their ratings of the PCC they experience, controlling for patient and hospital characteristics; and (4) to examine between-provider variance regarding patients' experiences with PCC by controlling for patient preferences and patient and hospital characteristics.

#### 6.3 Methods

#### 6.3.1 Design

This is an analysis of patient survey data from the "Matching Registered Nurse services with changing care demands" (Match<sup>RN</sup>) study. A cross-sectional, multi-center study, Match<sup>RN</sup> uses its two datasets (collected in 2015/2016 and 2017/2018) to examine changes in nursing care structures, processes, and patient safety indicators since the 2012 introduction of Swiss Diagnosis-Related Groups [29]. The current study uses only data from the 2017/2018 collection period because only that collection assess pateit preferences.

#### 6.3.2 Setting and sample

The 2017/2018 Match<sup>*RN*</sup> study included 160 units from one rehabilitation hospital and 30 acute care hospitals across Switzerland's German, French and Italian regions. Patient survey questionnaires were distributed in participating institutions, where patients  $\geq 18$  years and hospitalized  $\geq 24$  hours were invited to complete the survey. Further details of the Match<sup>*RN*</sup> survey methodology are reported elsewhere [29]. For this study's analyses we included 142 units from 24 acute care hospitals and one rehabilitation hospital, excluding seven pediatric units because the patients were all minors, and two others because patient data collection was not approved.

#### 6.3.3 Variables and measurement

In addition to patient survey data we used publicly available Swiss Federal Statistical Office records on hospital type and size.

The patient questionnaire included 13 variables assessing patient preferences and experiences with PCC during their current hospital stay. The questionnaire used items from established scales, as well as adopted and self-developed items. Where necessary, scales were translated as appropriate to the patient group. All translations used the World Health Organization's systematic process of forward and back-translation. Before inclusion in the questionnaire, all questions were reviewed for cultural appropriateness by an expert panel of bilingual nurses, then pre-tested on patients.

## 6.3.4 Outcome variable: Patient perceptions of PCC levels

To ensure adequate assessment of patients' perceptions across PCC's five main dimensions, we allocated and adapted questions from the Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS-PEQ) [30]. Using a five-point Likert scale (range: 1 [never] to 5 [always]), patients indicated their responses to 13 questions. For details, see Table 6.2.

### 6.3.5 Explanatory variables: Patient preferences

Alongside patients' perceptions of PCC levels, we assessed their care preferences. For each item regarding PCC, patient preferences were determined with the answer options "very important" or "not so important". While various definitions, conceptualizations and strategies exist to determine patient preferences, expectations and attitudes [21, 24, 26], this generic method of user feedback originated in Ulwick's business theory of outcome-driven innovation [31]. Assessing and considering patient preferences and needs is a key component of PCC. We hypothesized that differentiating these preferences according to their importance would help distinguish the relative values of patients experiences and perceptions, thereby increasing their variability; and increasing response variability would magnify between-provider variance.

#### 6.3.6 Control variables: patient and hospital characteristics

#### Patient characteristics

For an overview of our patient sample, we included questions concerning demographics (gender [male/female]), age in years, educational level (0/"no school graduation" to 4/"university degree") and health status. For the latter, we used the Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire (SCQ) [32]. Each of the SCQ's 13 items assess three aspects of comorbidity: (1) the presence of a disease; (2) whether the patient receives / has received treatment for this disease; and (3) whether the patient feels limited due to the disease. Summing the relevant aspect scores indicates the number of comorbidities ("comorbidity score") and whether the patient feels limited as a result ("disability score"). Each of these scores ranges from 0 to 13 (e.g., 0 – 13 comorbidities, 0 – 13 of which limit(s) activity). To increase readability, we summarized the descriptive presentation in Table 6.1 to include "5 or more comorbidities" and "3 or more limitations".

#### Hospital characteristics

We assessed and controlled for three hospital characteristics: language region (German, French or Italian); size (small: <100, medium: 100–300, large: 301–600, extra large: >600); and type (university, general or regional acute care or rehabilitation).

## 6.4 Data collection and management

For each unit, a contact person received paper questionnaires to distribute to all consenting eligible patients. For details, see Section "Sample description" below. Data collection followed a census approach: over a four-week data collection period, each unit defined 2–3 dates for questionnaire distribution. Overall, data collection ran from October 2017 until March 2018. Based on a dataset provided by an external data entry service, the study team checked all returned questionnaires for consistency and plausibility.

## 6.5 Analyses

For all included sample characteristics and variables, we determined descriptive statistics and frequency distributions. Next, controlling for patient and hospital characteristics via Linear Mixed-Effects Modeling separately for each outcome variable, we explored associations between patient perceptions of PCC and patient preferences. To ensure reliable interpretation of methods and results, we followed the Swiss Academy of Medical Sciences (SAMS) guidelines regarding both crude and risk-adjusted values [11]. To examine how patient preferences influence between-provider variance, we calculated the Intra-class correlation 1 (ICC1). We did this for every 13 items in (i) an unadjusted model, (ii) a model adjusted only for the patient preference variable, and (iii) a model adjusted for the preference variable as well as all patient and hospital characteristic variables (gender, age, education, comorbidity score, disability score, and hospital size and type). A between-provider variance value of >0.05 was considered sufficient [33].

Following various analytical approaches [46], we calculated and visualized the between-provider variance to evaluate the level of variance between hospital units. To do so, we began by calculating the ICC1 according to the following formula

$$ICC1 = \frac{between \ provider \ variance}{between \ provider \ variance + within \ provider \ variance} = \frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_u^2 \ + \ \sigma_e^2} \ ,$$

where the between provider variance  $(\sigma_u^2)$  is estimated by the level II variance estimate of an unconditional mixed model divided by the between provider variance plus the within provider variance  $(\sigma_e^2)$ , which is the level I variance.

We have provided 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the estimates, along with histograms of the ICC1 estimates. To evaluate the ICC1s' stability, we produced caterpillar plots of the empirical Bayes estimates for the same models. Concerning the caterpillar plots, we also depicted the estimates' uncertainty graphically to identify positive and negative deviants. Missing data were dealt with via listwise deletion.

## 6.6 Results

#### 6.6.1 Sample description

This study includes a sample of 2159 patients. The mean response rate across all units was 73.3% (range: 11.8% and 100%). Slightly more than half of participating patients were male (51.0%); the mean age was 64 years (range: 18 to 103 years). Almost one-third [29.9%) of patients self-reported no comorbidities; slightly more than half (56.2%) reported no limitations in their daily activities. Detailed information about our samples comorbidities can be found in Table 6.1.

Of the 25 participating institutions, 19 were general hospitals; the mean number of beds was 306 (range: 40 to 974). The majority (68%) of participating institutions were from the German speaking part of Switzerland.

#### 6.6.2 Descriptive analysis

#### Patients' perceptions of PCC levels

Patients reported generally high PCC levels, with an overall mean "always" response rate of 57.7% (range: 43.1 to 87.3%) across the 5 main dimensions. For the first main dimension, "unique person", 87.3% of patients responded "always". The other four main dimensions' mean "always" ratings were 43.1% for "patient information" (range: 31.4% to 49.1%), 61.3% for "patient-clinician communication" (range: 48.8% to 67.5%), 46.8% for "patient involvement" (range: 36.7% to 61.0%) and 51.0% for "patient empowerment" (range: 44.7% to 57.3%). The frequency of missing data ranged from 5.7% (C1) to 27.6% (C9) (mean 15.3%). See Table 6.2 for detailed information.

	n	%	NA n	NA %	mean	SD
Language						
German	1162	53.8				
French	340	15.8				
Italian	657	30.4				
Gender			108	5.0		
Male	1046	51.0				
Education			156	7.2		
No graduation	48	2.4				
Secondary school	373	18.6				
Further education/training	863	43.1				
Higher education	474	23.7				
University degree	245	12.2				
Age (years)	2051	95	108	5.0	64.12	17.57
Comorbidity/ies			-	-		
no	646	29.9				
1	470	21.8				
2	382	17.7				
3	278	12.9				
4	176	8.2				
5 and more	207	9.6				
Comorbidity/ies limited patien	t		-	-		
no	1213	56.2				
1	463	21.4				
2	225	10.4				
3 and more	258	11.9				

Table 6.1: Patient characteristics

NA= Not Available; SD=Standard Deviation

#### Predictor variables: summary of care aspect preference ratings

Patients' preferences regarding the various dimensions varied widely. For example, almost all considered it highly important that the RNs treated them with courtesy and respect (96.7%) and that the information they received was easy to understand (96.3%). However, only two-thirds (70.5%) considered it important to involve the family in treatment/care. A large majority of surveyed patients rated each item as "very important" (range: 70.5% to 96.7%, mean 86.7%). The frequency of missing data for the preference variable ranged from 20.3% to 37.8%, with a mean of 29.6% (see Table 6.2).

## Associations between patient experience, patient preferences, and patient and hospital characteristics

Patient preferences were strongly associated with all variables assessing PCC levels. To be precise, all models showed associations between patient perceptions of PCC levels and patient preferences. However, individual characteristics such as gender (C11) and disability score (C8) also played roles, along with comorbidity scores in two models (C7, C9). Additionally, hospital size and type played roles respectively in six (C1, C9, C5, C10, C13, C14) and four models (C5, C10, C13, C14). Neither age nor education had any significant relationship in any model. See supplementary file 1 for detailed information.

For every one of the 13 variables, the ratings for overall patient preference were higher than the perceived PCC levels. For example, while only one-third of patients always received detailed information about the side effects of prescribed medications, 87% considered it important. This imbalance between patient preferences and patient perceptions of PCC levels ranged from 9.4% (C1) to 55.6% (C12) (mean 34.4%).

	Patients perceived PCC				Patient preferences				
			Some-			Not	Very	Not so	Not
Dimension	Never	Seldom	$\mathbf{times}$	Often	Always	available	important	important	available
Item	$\mathbf{n}$	$\mathbf{n}$	$\mathbf{n}$	$\mathbf{n}$	n	n	n	n	n
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
(1) Unique person									
(C1) The RNs treated me with courtesy	9	4	10	236	1776	124	1665	56	438
and respect.	(0.4)	(0.2)	(0.5)	(11.6)	(87.3)	(5.7)	(96.7)	(3.3)	(20.3)
(2) Patient information									
(C7) I have received written, oral or online	288	98	158	394	905	316	1246	260	653
information about my treatment / care.	(15.6)	(5.3)	(8.6)	(21.4)	(49.1)	(14.6)	(82.7)	(17.3)	(30.2)
(C9) I have received written, oral or online	338	104	149	261	712	595	1001	342	816
information about my discharge.	(21.6)	(6.6)	(9.5)	(16.7)	(45.5)	(27.6)	(74.5)	(25.5)	(37.8)
(C11) I have received detailed information	151	140	275	437	873	283	1357	171	631
about the effects of my medication.	(8.0)	(7.5)	(14.7)	(23.3)	(46.5)	(13.1)	(88.8)	(11.2)	(29.2)
(C12) I have received detailed information	371	251	299	340	576	322	1294	194	671
about the side effects of prescribed medications.	(20.2)	(13.7)	(16.3)	(18.5)	(31.4)	(14.9)	(87.0)	(13.0)	(31.1)
(3) Patient-clinician communication									
(C3) There were opportunities to ask	46	49	136	415	1342	171	1556	80	523
questions about my treatment and diagnosis.	(2.3)	(2.5)	(6.8)	(20.9)	(67.5)	(7.9)	(95.1)	(4.9)	(24.2)
(C4) The information given to me was	7	13	140	544	1293	162	1558	60	541
easy to understand.	(0.4)	(0.7)	(7.0)	(27.2)	(64.7)	(7.5)	(96.3)	(3.7)	(25.1)
(C8) The RNs talked to me about being	187	101	188	371	808	504	1117	292	750
discharged from the hospital well in advance.	(11.3)	(6.1)	(11.4)	(22.4)	(48.8)	(23.3)	(79.3)	(20.7)	(34.7)
(4) Patient involvement	· · ·		· /	· · · ·	· /				
(C5) I was included in the decision-making	19	26	137	569	1174	234	1405	165	589
process regarding my treatment and care.	(1.0)	(1.4)	(7.1)	(29.6)	(61.0)	(10.8)	(89.5)	(10.5)	(27.3)
(C6) Different treatment options were	286	159	261	419	651	383	1258	232	669
discussed with me.	(16.1)	(8.9)	(14.7)	(23.6)	(36.7)	(17.3)	(84.4)	(15.6)	(31.0)
(C10) My family was involved in my	443	137	172	291	780	336	1048	439	672
treatment/care.	(24.3)	(7.5)	(9.4)	(16.0)	(42.8)	(15.6)	(70.5)	(29.5)	(31.1)
(5) Patient empowerment		~ /				× ,	· · · ·	· · ·	
(C13) I have received detailed information	148	82	180	350	1021	378	1364	105	690
about the reasons behind my disease/diagnosis.	(0.8)	(4.6)	(10.1)	(19.7)	(57.3)	(17.5)	(92.9)	(7.1)	(32.0)
(C14) I know methods to minimize the	189	107	$221^{'}$	401	748	493	1254	140	765
impact of my health problems.	(11.3)	(6.4)	(13.3)	(24.1)	(44.9)	(22.8)	(90.0)	(10.0)	(35.4)

Table 6.2: Patient perceived PCC levels and patient preferences

*ICC1 of unit-level outcome variables for one unadjusted and the two adjusted models* To assess the variance between the units, we calculated the ICC1 of the unadjusted model, the adjusted model with the preferences variable only and the adjusted model for all co-variables (preference variable, patient and hospital characteristics). Of the 13 models, 9 models met the ICC1 threshold of >0.05 (C7, C9, C11, C12, C3, C8, C6, C10, C14). For 6 of the 9 models met the threshold, the variance increased with predictor variable patient preferences (C7, C9, C11, C12, C3, C8). See Table 6.3 for detail information.

#### Visualization of ICC1 values

For the 13 variables, we visualized ICC1s for both adjusted and unadjusted models by plotting empirical Bayes estimates (supplementary file 2). Of the 13 variables, 11 showed variances between hospital units (range: 1 to 13 outlying units). However, the comparison between ICC1 and empirical Bayes Estimates was inconclusive. On the one hand, models with low ICC1 values showed differences when plotted; on the other, plotting highlighted no differences in models with sufficiently large calculated ICC1 values  $\geq 0.05$ . For example, the adjusted preference model for variable C14 indicated a sufficient ICC1; however, its plot showed no outlying units. Additionally, calculated ICC1 values in the three different models revealed no clear trend in the plotted ICC1 values. I.e., even if the unadjusted model showed lower ICC1 values than did the adjusted ones, the visualization showed more between-unit variances than did the adjusted model.

		ICC1 [95%-CI]	
Variable	Unadjusted model <sup>a</sup>	Adjusted preference model <sup>b</sup>	Adjusted all model <sup>c</sup>
(C1) The RNs treated me with courtesy and respect.	0.006 [0 to 0.023]	0.011 [0 to 0.033]	0.002 [0 to 0.023]
(C7) I have received written, oral or online information about my treatment / care.	0.079 [0.044 to 0.114]	0.088 [0.048 to 0.131]	0.075 [0.037 to 0.114]
(C9) I have received written, oral or online information about my discharge.	0.074 [0.043 to 0.112]	0.096 [0.052 to 0.143]	0.068 [0.026 to 0.113]
(C11) I have received detailed information about the effects of my medication.	$\begin{array}{c} 0.043 \\ [0.02 \text{ to } 0.07] \end{array}$	0.066 [0.032 to 0.103]	0.058 $[0.026  ext{ to } 0.098]$
(C12) I have received detailed information about the side effects of prescribed medications.	0.062 [0.032 to 0.095]	0.068 [0.033 to 0.108]	0.065 [0.031 to 0.105]
(C3) There were opportunities to ask questions about my treatment and diagnosis.	0.061 [0.033 to 0.093]	0.072 [0.037 to 0.109]	0.063 [0.029 to 0.101]
(C4) The information given to me was easy to understand.	0.026 [0.006 to 0.048]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.037\\ [0.011 \text{ to } 0.066]\end{array}$	0.025 [0 to 0.057]
(C8) The RNs talked to me about being discharged from the hospital well in advance.	0.119 [0.079 to 0.164]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.121 \\ [0.074 \text{ to } 0.167] \end{array}$	0.102 [0.056 to 0.152]
(C5) I was included in the decision-making process regarding my treatment and care.	0.018 [0 to 0.04]	0.028 [0.001 to 0.056]	0.017 [0 to 0.046]
(C6) Different treatment options were discussed with me.	0.082 [0.048 to 0.116]	0.076 [0.042 to 0.118]	$0.066$ $[0.031  ext{ to } 0.107]$
(C10) My family was involved in my treatment/care.	0.052 [0.024 to 0.084]	0.033 [0.006 to 0.063]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.031 \\ [0.004 \text{ to } 0.066] \end{array}$
(C13) I have received detailed information about the reasons behind my disease/diagnosis.	0.046 [0.02 to 0.077]	0.040 [0.009 - 0.076]	$\begin{array}{c} 0.033\\ [0.004 \text{ to } 0.069] \end{array}$
(C14) I know methods to minimize the impact of my health problems.	0.063 [0.031 to 0.098]	$0.055$ $[0.02  ext{ to } 0.09]$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.037\\ [0.008 \text{ to } 0.074]\end{array}$

Table 6.3: Calculated ICC1 with 95%-CI for unadjusted and adjusted models on unit level

 $^{a}\,$  Unadjusted model with outcome variable only

 $^{b}$  Adjusted preference model was controlled for patient preferences

 $^{c}$  Adjusted all model was controlled for patient preferences and patient demographics (i.e., gender, age, education, comorbidity score, disability sum score, hospital size and type)

## 6.7 Discussion

In this study, we assessed patient preferences by analyzing patient importance ratings for the studied aspects of PCC. Almost unanimously (97%), participants considered courteous and respectful treatment very important, and two-thirds thought the same of family involvement. Comparison between these preference ratings and the corresponding experience scores allowed us to identify potential for improvement. For example, while over 90% of patients preferred to know the reasoning behind their diagnoses and methods to minimize the impact of their health problems, i.e., to be empowered via access to relevant information, only about half felt they had received such information. Evidence of such imbalances invites the development of PCC improvement initiatives, e.g., to increase patient knowledge of their medication and treatment plans. Furthermore, fulfilling one of this study's primary objectives, the inclusion of patient preferences in risk adjustment methodology in order to improve measurement of provider profiling by identify between-provider variance, allowing fairer and more useful comparisons. Many instruments assess PCC or their levels of satisfaction. The two concepts are not interchangeable [34]: the latter is an outcome of the former [35, 36]. In either case, though, the results are at best questionable. Besides their lack of clear conceptualization and standardized measurement regarding patient experiences, these measures are subject to severe ceiling effects [2]. The results-overwhelmingly positive patient ratings-provoke the question of whether assessments are even necessary. In fact, measurement bias issues have already led U.S. researchers to abandon some quality measures, such as those for smoking cessation counseling [37, 38]. Any suggestion, based on patient assessments, that care levels leave little room for improvement certainly requires close examination. It is far more likely that such results are limited by measurement problems.

Patient reported experience measures (PREMs, e.g., the HCAHPS and NHS survey) have been developed and implemented for performance assessment, provider profiling and quality improvement [39]. Although their development relied on patient input, though, none of the most widely-used patient experience with care instruments were developed specifically as PREMs; therefore, they measure patient PCC experience from the perspective of clinicians and researchers, not patients. Of course, even measures designed from the ground up as PREMs are always designed by clinicians and researchers. Unfortunately, patient involvement is often dispensed with entirely: a recent scoping review of the topic found that, of nearly 190 included studies, over a quarter featured no patient involvement whatever [40]; and not one involved patients in determining which outcomes should be measured [40]. This supports the argument that outcome assessments such as the NHS survey and the HCAHPS either undervalue or entirely ignore patients' points of view.

A primary PCC aim is to meet patient preferences and needs. However, as early as 2002, in a systematic review, R. Crow et al. noted critically that only 20% of their included studies on patient satisfaction also assessed patient expectations [41]. Our finding that PCC ratings offer, at best, a nebulous image of care quality, and less still of whether patient preferences are met, supports indications that these factor warrant separate assessment [34]. Still, to our knowledge, this is the first multi-center study to assess how patient preferences correlate with their PCC perceptions.

One major barrier to previous research was that satisfaction surveys' ceiling effects virtually eliminates between-provider variances. To expand those variances, we applied Ulwick's contemporary business theory of outcome-driven innovation [31], beginning with an assessment of patient preferences, with the aim of identifying opportunities for improvement. By weighing patients' preferences against their perceptions of specific aspects of PCC they received, we tackled different measurement challenges and strengthened our study in numerous ways.

First, even if patients' PCC ratings were also high and showed little variance, we

clearly determined which care aspects did not fit well with their preferences and needs. For each of the 13 variables, the perceived level of PCC was lower than the corresponding patient preference. That indicated that patient needs were not actually being met. Therefore, almost every care aspect can be seen as an improvement opportunity in Swiss acute care hospitals. Future research should assess the state of the art in other countries, while investigating reasons for the imbalance between patient preferences and perceived PCC levels. Identifying and exploring structures and processes impeding clinicians from meeting patient needs can yield successful quality improvement strategies.

Second, our analyses highlighted the statistical influence patients' preferences had on their PCC ratings. As noted above, ceiling effects distorted our view of patients' experiences; so we cannot make general recommendations regarding the inclusion of patient demographics in similar analyses. However, our results indicate that, in the analyses of perceived PCC levels, patient preferences are a vital co-variable. Additionally, considering the inconsistency of the evidence regarding patient demographics' effects on experience ratings [12, 13, 42] and risk adjustment methods for provider profiling [10, 17], the question can be raised as to which co-variables matter most regarding patients' experiences with hospital care. To avoid misinterpretation, then, both unadjusted and adjusted models should be reported [11]. As current adjustments usually include only patient demographics and hospital characteristics [6, 7, 11], this group should be expanded to include patient preferences.

Third, recognizing that patient preferences are a key element of PCC [18] their assessment should be standard not only in the analyses of perceived PCC levels but also in everyday health care practice. Based on the observed imbalances between patients preferences and their perceptions of PCC, growth targets can be defined and improvement initiatives designed accordingly. Likewise, resources can be optimized to develop and implement improvement strategies where they are most needed.

Fourth, inclusion of patient preferences in ICC1 calculation improve measurement of provider profiling by assessing between-provider variances to usable levels. More than half of the models showed highest ICC1 values in the model adjusted for patient preference only, indicating a non-negligible influence of patient preferences on perceived PCC levels. Increasing variance by adding an additional predictor has been described elsewhere [43]. With increased provider differentiation, provider profiling can be used as intended: to clearly identify high and low-performing providers. Previous studies' use of ICC1 values for clinical quality indicators such as mortality and hospital readmission rates supported the crucial need for between-provider variance [8, 9, 44]. However, health care policymakers who use provider profiling to make funding decisions will need to start including patient preferences as a predictor variable in their risk adjustment.

This study has certain notable limitations. First, no conclusions regarding causality are possible due to the observational study design and cross-sectional survey methodology. Second, the study had a high rate of missing data (5.7% to 37.8%), especially regarding preference ratings but also in perceived PCC levels. Complicated wording, an overly long questionnaire or respondent (dis)satisfaction with hospital care are all possible reasons. However, because we currently cannot simulate clustering effects in multiple imputations, multiple imputation by chained equations could not be used to compensate for missing values. Third, although the study included hospitals from all three Swiss language regions, voluntary participation may have led to selection bias.

In conclusion, regarding the assessment of perceived levels of PCC, patient preferences are a vital predictor variable that must be considered in risk adjustment calculations. For hospital administrators and health care policymakers, the findings reported above underpin the need to include patient preferences in the comparison of PCC performance as a component of provider profiling. **Funding** This study was funded by the participating hospitals, who had no role in data analysis and interpretation.

**Ethical approval** The survey was conducted anonymously. The Match<sup>RN</sup> study received exempt status from all cantonal ethics committees responsible for the participating hospitals (EKNZ UBE 15/59). Informed consent by the patient was implied by filling out and returning the questionnaire.

## 6.8 References

- 1. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. What Is Patient Experience? Rockville, MD2016 [updated March 2017. Available from: http://www.ahrq.gov/cahps/about-cahps/patient-experience/index.html.
- Neuburger J, Cromwell DA, Hutchings A, Black N, van der Meulen JH. Funnel plots for comparing provider performance based on patient-reported outcome measures. BMJ Qual Saf. 2011;20(12):1020-6.
- 3. Raleigh V, Sizmur S, Tian Y, Thompson J. Impact of case-mix on comparisons of patient-reported experience in NHS acute hospital trusts in England. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2015;20(2):92-9.
- 4. Nationaler Verein für Qualitätsentwicklung in Spitälern und Kliniken (ANQ). Patientenzufriedenheit Akutsomatik, Erwachsene Nationaler Vergleichsbericht Messung 2016. Bern; 2017.
- 5. Medicare.gov. Hospital Compare Baltimore (MD): Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; [Available from: https://www.medicare.gov/ hospitalcompare/search.html.
- 6. NHS England Analytical Team (Medical and Nursing Analytical Unit). Statistical bulletin: Overall Patient Experience Scores; 2016 Adult Inpatient Survey Update. 2017. p. https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/2017/05/31/overall-patient-experience-scores-6-adult-inpatient-survey-update/.
- HCAHPS Initiative. HCAHPS Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems [01.02.2016]. Available from: http://www.hcahpsonline. org/.
- 8. Hofstede SN, Ceyisakar IE, Lingsma HF, Kringos DS, Marang-van de Mheen PJ. Ranking hospitals: do we gain reliability by using composite rather than individual indicators? BMJ Qual Saf. 2018.
- 9. van Dishoeck AM, Lingsma HF, Mackenbach JP, Steyerberg EW. Random variation and rankability of hospitals using outcome indicators. BMJ Qual Saf. 2011;20(10):869-74.
- Abel GA, Saunders CL, Lyratzopoulos G. Cancer patient experience, hospital performance and case mix: evidence from England. Future oncology (London, England). 2014;10(9):1589-98.
- 11. Swiss Academy of Medical Sciences (SAMS). Erhebung, Analyse und Veröffentlichung von Daten über die medizinische Behandlungsqualität: Empfehlungen [The collection, analysis and publication of data about quality of medical treatment: recommendations]. Schweizerische ärztezeitung. 2009;90(26/27):1044-54.
- Mazurenko O, Collum T, Ferdinand A, Menachemi N. Predictors of Hospital Patient Satisfaction as Measured by HCAHPS: A Systematic Review. J Healthc Manag. 2017;62(4):272-83.

- 13. Suhonen R, Land L, Valimaki M, Berg A, Idvall E, Kalafati M, Lemonidou C, Schmidt LA, Leino-Kilpi H. Impact of patient characteristics on orthopaedic and trauma patients' perceptions of individualised nursing care. Int J Evid Based Healthc. 2010;8(4):259-67.
- 14. Suhonen R, Valimaki M, Katajisto J, Leino-Kilpi H. Patient characteristics in relation to perceptions of how individualized care is delivered–research into the sensitivity of the Individualized Care Scale. J Prof Nurs. 2006;22(4):253-61.
- 15. Bruyneel L, Tambuyzer E, Coeckelberghs E, De Wachter D, Sermeus W, De Ridder D, Ramaekers D, Weeghmans I, Vanhaecht K. New Instrument to Measure Hospital Patient Experiences in Flanders. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14(11).
- 16. DeCourcy A, West E, Barron D. The National Adult Inpatient Survey conducted in the English National Health Service from 2002 to 2009: how have the data been used and what do we know as a result? BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12:71.
- Wang DE, Tsugawa Y, Figueroa JF, Jha AK. Association Between the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Hospital Star Rating and Patient Outcomes. JAMA Intern Med. 2016;176(6):848-50.
- 18. Hargraves JL, Wilson IB, Zaslavsky A, James C, Walker JD, Rogers G, Cleary PD. Adjusting for patient characteristics when analyzing reports from patients about hospital care. Med Care. 2001;39(6):635-41.
- Orindi BO, Lesaffre E, Sermeus W, Bruyneel L. Impact of Cross-level Measurement Noninvariance on Hospital Rankings Based on Patient Experiences With Care in 7 European Countries. Med Care. 2016.
- 20. Institute of Medicine. Improving the 21st-century Health Care System. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A new Health System for the 21st Century. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.2001. p. 39-54.
- 21. Sofaer S, Firminger K. Patient perceptions of the quality of health services. Annu Rev Public Health. 2005;26:513-59.
- 22. Bjertnaes OA, Sjetne IS, Iversen HH. Overall patient satisfaction with hospitals: effects of patient-reported experiences and fulfilment of expectations. BMJ Qual Saf. 2012;21(1):39-46.
- 23. Crow H, Gage H, Hampson S, Hart J, Kimber A, Storey L, Thomas H. Measurement of satisfaction with health care: Implications for practice from a systematic review of the literature. Health technology assessment. 2002.
- 24. González-Valentin A, Padin-López S, de Ramón-Garrido E. Patient satisfaction with nursing care in a regional university hospital in southern Spain. Journal of Nursing Care Quality. 2005;20(1):63-72.
- 25. Köberich S, Feuchtinger J, Farin E. Factors influencing hospitalized patients' perception of individualized nursing care: a cross-sectional study. BMC nursing. 2016;15(1):14.
- 26. Rowe G. Psychometric properties of the new Patients' Expectations Questionnaire. Patient Experience Journal. 2014;1(1):111-30.
- 27. Shawa E, Omondi L, Mbakaya BC. Examining Surgical Patients' Expectations of Nursing Care at Kenyatta National Hospital in Nairobi, Kenya. European Scientific Journal, ESJ. 2017;13(24).
- 28. Berhane A, Enquselassie F. Patient expectations and their satisfaction in the context of public hospitals. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2016;10:1919-28.
- 29. Smoliner A, Hantikainen V, Mayer H, Ponocny-Seliger E, Them C. Präferenzen und Erleben von Patienten zur Beteiligung an pflegerischen Entscheidungen

im Akutspital–Eine Analyse der Übereinstimmung von Präferenz und Erleben sowie der Einflussfaktoren bezogen auf verschiedene Entscheidungstypen. Pflege. 2009;22(6):411-9.

- 30. Oztunç G, Köse I. An Investigation of Patients' Perceptions of Nursing Care: Case of Intensive Care. International Journal of Caring Sciences. 2015;8(2):412.
- 31. Ulwick AW. What Customers Want: Using Outcome-Driven Innovation to Create Breakthrough Products and Services. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2005.
- 32. Crow R, Gage H, Hampson S, Hart J, Kimber A, Storey L, Thomas H. The measurement of satisfaction with healthcare: implications for practice from a systematic review of the literature. Health Technol Assess. 2002;6(32):1-244.
- 33. Bachnick S, Ausserhofer D, Januel JM, Schubert M, Schwendimann R, De Geest S, Simon M. Matching Registered Nurse services with changing care demands (Match<sup>RN</sup>): study protocol of a natural experiment multi-centre study. J Adv Nurs. 2017;73(7):1735-46.
- 34. Sjetne IS, Bjertnaes OA, Olsen RV, Iversen HH, Bukholm G. The Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS-PEQ): identification of core items from a survey in Norway. BMC Health Serv Res. 2011;11:88.
- 35. Sangha O, Stucki G, Liang MH, Fossel AH, Katz JN. The Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire: a new method to assess comorbidity for clinical and health services research. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;49(2):156-63.
- 36. Bliese PD. Within-Group Agreement, Non-Independence, and Reliability: Implications for Data Aggregation and Analysis. In: Kozlowski SWJ, Klein KJ, editors. Multilevel Theory, Research, and Methods in Organizations: Foundations, Extensions, and New Directions. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2000. p. 349-81.
- 37. Kupfer JM, Bond EU. Patient satisfaction and patient-centered care: necessary but not equal. JAMA. 2012;308(2):139-40.
- 38. Wolf DM, Lehman L, Quinlin R, Zullo T, Hoffman L. Effect of patient-centered care on patient satisfaction and quality of care. J Nurs Care Qual. 2008;23(4):316-21.
- 39. Goldfarb MJ, Bibas L, Bartlett V, Jones H, Khan N. Outcomes of Patientand Family-Centered Care Interventions in the ICU: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Crit Care Med. 2017;45(10):1751-61.
- 40. Fiore MC, Goplerud E, Schroeder SA. The Joint Commission's new tobacco-cessation measures–will hospitals do the right thing? N Engl J Med. 2012;366(13):1172-4.
- 41. Needleman J, Kurtzman ET, Kizer WT. Performance measurement of nursing care. In: Kominski GF, editor. Changing the US Health Care System: Key Issues in Health Services Policy and Management. 4. San Francisco: John Wiley & Sons; 2014.
- 42. Glenngard AH, Anell A. Process measures or patient reported experience measures (PREMs) for comparing performance across providers? A study of measures related to access and continuity in Swedish primary care. Prim Health Care Res Dev. 2018;19(1):23-32.
- 43. Wiering B, de Boer D, Delnoij D. Patient involvement in the development of patient-reported outcome measures: a scoping review. Health Expect. 2017;20(1):11-23.
- 44. Gelman A, Hill J. Understanding and summarizing the fitted models. Data Analysis Using Regression and Multilevel/Hierarchical Models. First Edition. Washington, DC: Champman & Hall/CRC; 2006. p. 25.

- 45. Dimick JB, Staiger DO, Osborne NH, Nicholas LH, Birkmeyer JD. Composite measures for rating hospital quality with major surgery. Health services research. 2012;47(5):1861-79.
- 46. Bachnick S., Ausserhofer D., Baernholdt M., & Simon M. (2018). Insufficient variance between providers with patient experience surveys: methodological considerations and findings from a Swiss multicenter study. To be submitted to Medical care

Chapter 7

# Synthesis and discussion

## 7.1 Synthesis of key findings

The overall goal of this dissertation was to assess PCC in Swiss acute care hospitals and identify structures and processes associated with it. Further aims were to use advanced statistical methods to identify potential differences in PCC provision between units and hospitals and to explore opportunities to improve PCC data collection by tackling measurement challenges. First, the associations between hospital unit- and process-related factors and patient experiences with PCC were examined. The findings suggest links between hospital units' work environment factors and patients' PPC perceptions. To be precise, leadership, staffing and resource adequacy and implicit rationing of nursing care are clearly associated with PCC and should be considered when improving it (see Chapter 4). The results indicate quality improvement following Berwick's pathway of change [1] (see Figure 1.2, Chapter 1).

In a second step, potential between-unit and between-hospital differences in PCC delivery were identified via various advanced statistical methods, e.g., ICC1 and empirical Bayes estimates. The results showed low between-provider variance at both the hospital and unit level regarding PCC provision (Chapter 5). Possible explanations include ceiling effects in the measurement of PCC due to generic wording, or simply focussing on aspects of care that are unimportant to patients. As described in Chapter 1, in addition to the change pathway, quality-based selection theoretically offers a second pathway to quality improvement [1]. However, this study provides compelling evidence that, while PCC may improve through pathway selection, currently available patient experience surveys do not reliably identify differences between providers (see Chapter 5).

Third, based on the results of this dissertation' first two studies, an approach from business literature was applied to the hospital setting. That approach involves comparing patient preferences with their ratings of perceived levels of PCC. Where patient preferences outweigh ratings of PCC levels, opportunities exist for improvement. Applying this approach was assumed to resolve the issue of insufficient between-provider variance, as it led to stronger differentiation between high- and low-performing hospitals and units. Using this new way of depicting patient experiences with PCC highlighted significant gaps between patients' preferences and their perceptions of PCC levels. With increases in ICC1 values, differentiation between providers moved into a more reliable range, i.e., low- and high-performing hospitals could readily be identified. This study highlighted the crucial impact of patient preferences on measurements and analyses of their perceptions of PCC to identify areas for improvement and therefore to facilitate provider profiling. The findings demonstrate differences in hospital care providers' PCC performance levels, revealing a clear potential for quality improvement through selection.

Overall, this dissertation adds to the literature on PCC in acute care hospitals in light of the discussed pathways of quality improvement and the challenges in its measurement. Applying an idea from business literature, the dissertation offers a possible method of tackling assessment issues and makes suggestions to make PCC-linked provider profiling both more reliable and more usable. By examining imbalances between patients' preferences and their perceptions of the care they actually receive, this method helps identify areas for possible improvement. Using this as a starting point, bearing in mind the influences of the hospital structures and processes identified in the first study (Chapter 1), future work could tackle the improvement of PCC in Swiss and international hospitals.

#### 7.1.1 Discussion of key findings

#### Definition, conceptualisation and measurement of PCC

For more than 20 years, researchers and clinicians have been discussing the concept of PCC. The need to acknowledge patients' authority regarding their own care is undisputed. In 1991, supported by NAM [2] a research team headed by Margaret Gerteis [3] developed

a broad conceptual definition focusing on two key elements: (1) every patient has personal demands; and (2) these demands are central to the entire caring process. However, how this definition can effectively be applied to daily practice remains uncertain: defining specific core PCC processes have turned out to be very difficult [4-6]. Considering the many health care systems subscribing to PCC principles, and the heterogeneity of their cultures, contexts, funding systems, settings, populations, structures and processes, no single widely accepted conceptualization exists for PCC practice.

In fact, while most models reviewed included at least two core dimensions of PCC–most commonly treating patients as unique individuals and ensuring that patients' values guide all decisions–virtually none included any measurement of patient preferences. Rather than attempting to unify or replace the many conceptualizations of PCC, this dissertation both acknowledges that patient preference data are an essential but virtually unmeasured component of nursing research, and suggests how to include them in the assessment process.

In line with Gerteis's original concept of PCC, both clinical practice and research demand the assessment and observance of patient preferences. This may result in counterintuitive practices. For example, some patients prefer involvement as partners in decisions regarding their treatment and care; others do not. From the point of view of PCC delivery, then, clinicians should comply as fully as is feasible (e.g., regarding informed consent) with these preferences. In research, particularly analyses of perceived PCC levels, this dissertation supports the consideration of patient preference as a predictor variable. Therefore, especially regarding the value of patient preferences, it contributes to the existing knowledge of PCC measurement.

#### Structures, processes and PCC

While a growing number of studies are exploring the micro-level associations between interpersonal factors and patient perceptions of PCC [7, 8], little is known regarding meso-level factors. For example, it is plausible that hospital- and unit-level structures and processes influence PCC provision. First, PCC implementation requires a culture change from a traditionally paternalistic view to partnerships between healthcare providers and patients [9, 10]; second, unit- and hospital-level factors may enable or hinder the provision of PCC [11]. This possibility is confirmed in Chapter 4, which reports the findings of a large Swiss multi-centre study exploring the associations between work environment factors and PCC [11].

That study indicated that the three most consistent factors to be significantly associated with PCC were perceived staffing and resource adequacy, implicit rationing of nursing care and nurse leadership. Regarding the latter of these, numerous previous studies agree that leadership is a key influencer of PCC provision [12-16].

To establish a culture of PCC, leaders need to create a shared vision and to cultivate an individual and collective sense of purpose regarding its provision [17, 18]. By focusing team members' energy, maintaining their enthusiasm [19] and encouraging positive engagement and performance [20, 21], this leads to increased satisfaction both of nurses and of patients [17]. As elements of leadership, a consistent approach, an open communication style and respectful interactions all help shape organizational values and requirements in creating a PCC culture [17, 20, 22].

The necessary leadership skills can be promoted and learned through education and training. For example, a clinical leadership programme in Switzerland demonstrated improvements within a 6-month follow up in leadership competencies in topics titled "inspire a shared vision", "challenge the processes", "enable others to act" and "encouragement" [23]. Still, cohesion between PCC's principles and its practice is only successful with the inclusion of all stakeholders involved in provision: both clinicians and patients must participate [13, 17, 24]. This dissertation found that PCC's strongest meso-level associations were with staffing and resource adequacy. Previous research has indicated the need for adequate staffing and resources not only to increase patients' satisfaction [25, 26] but to ensure their safety [27-29]. Similarly, applying PCC principles and fully supporting a culture of PCC, i.e., treating each patient as an individual with tailored communication, sufficient information to make informed decisions and involving them in their care needs, requires adequate resources.

The study results described in Chapter 4 included no association between objective staffing measurement and PCC, indicating a mismatch between perceived staffing adequacy and actual resources. This disconnect between objective and perceived staffing is a fertile basis for future research, e.g., to determine under which conditions nurses feel unsupported and how their perceptions might change with different staffing levels. As additional work environment factors including teamwork and interprofessional collaboration completed the construct of work environment, they need to be assessed in relation to improving PCC.

While previous studies have clearly associated interprofessional collaboration and teamwork with patient satisfaction [30-32], it remains to be seen whether they are similarly associated with PCC. Further, the nurse work environment in normal Swiss acute care hospitals is comparable with those of U.S. magnet hospitals [33]. Generally positive work environments may partly explain the high level of PCC in Switzerland. Changes to the work environment can influence the incidence of negative unit processes, e.g., implicit rationing of nursing care. In stress situations where resources are perceived as inadequate, Aiken et al. found that nursing care activities are rationed or omitted [34-36]. In a multi-centre study across 12 European countries, the most frequent care activities left undone were communication with the patient, followed by documentation and patent education [35]. This pattern was also found in US hospitals [37] and is supported by a recent review including 54 studies [38].

The effects of rationing and omission of care are far-reaching. Evidence clearly shows that care left undone undermines psychosocial care, i.e., carer-patient interaction, which is a key principle of PCC. This study's results (Chapter 4) and previous Swiss studies have demonstrated the negative associations between patient experiences – including their perceptions of PCC – and rationing of nursing care [11, 36].

Conversely, when nurses feel they have adequate staffing and resources, as well as supportive leadership, levels of rationing and omission of nursing care tasks fall, while patient perceptions of PCC rise. As both staffing and resource adequacy and leadership are hospital-level considerations, while care rationing and omission are unit-level processes, this example indicates how meso-level structures and processes can influence patients' perceptions of PCC quality.

#### Profiling hospitals based on PCC provision

Provider profiling, i.e., performance assessment and ranking, is used in health care both as a policy instrument and as a steering mechanism to improve the quality of health care across similar institutional settings [83-85]. The results offer are of interest to various stakeholder groups. They offer patients relevant information regarding hospital services, allowing them to compare and select care providers. Health care policy makers use them to assess the efficiency of hospital structures and processes in relation to quality of care [86]. In the US and the UK, profiling results depend significantly on performance measurement via, respectively, the HCAHPS and NHS surveys [39, 40]. However, due to a lack of between-provider variance and insufficient risk adjustment, the fairness and reliability of the comparisons they facilitate is questionable. This is true not only in the U.S and U.K. but also in Switzerland.

A consequence of reliance on these measures arose when Swiss researchers tried to use
2015 Match<sup>*RN*</sup> study data on PCC to benchmark the participating Swiss hospitals (see Chapter 3). The classification of low- and high-performing hospitals (respectively negative and positive deviants) failed due to detected insufficient variance between providers Chapter 5. Different analytical approaches such as calculation of ICC1 and plotting of empirical Bayes estimates to detect the adequacy of between-provider variance for benchmarking purposes have not been applied to PCC data. In a related study Chapter 5 low ICC1 values and broad confidence intervals including 0 were determined and described. Additionally, visualisation via Empirical Bayes estimates, i.e., to graphically illustrate between-provider ranges, and uncertainty of the estimates gave a more complete picture.

Whichever approach is used, though, the results clearly showed that provider profiling with commonly used PCC items is unsuitable due to lack of the psychometric properties to distinguish between hospitals [82]. Considering the available evidence in the field of benchmarking with patient experiences, the majority of studies assess validity and reliability of their patient experience instruments [41, 42], but do not measure their ability of detect differences between providers [82]. However, this capacity is essential for an instrument intended to identify differences between providers. Moreover, the presence of ceiling effects in national and international studies in patient experience assessment [43, 44] should be seen as a signal that variance levels are critically low.

Still, provider profiling based on these or similar instruments is used for pay-for-performance calculations and hospital accreditation [45-48]. This makes the findings reported in Chapter 5 doubly alarming: they call into question not only profile-based funding, but also any accreditation processes for health care quality improvement based on similar data.

Regarding the question of whether benchmarking and accreditation improve patient and organizational outcomes [47, 49], this study provides evidence as to why they might be less effective than thought. As current provider profiling practice does not achieve its aim of reliably differentiating between low- and high-performing hospitals, it cannot be considered fair. A vast amount of the human and financial resources used for data collection, analyses, and reporting can be put to more productive use if measurement is fundamentally improved to identify areas for improvement.

Aside from the problem of distinguishing low- from high-performing providers, a further question exists regarding the influence of patient and provider characteristics in relation to risk adjustment in provider profiling (50, 51). Existing guidelines for risk adjustment recommend reporting both crude and adjusted values [40, 52, 53]. However, the same guidelines need to be applied consistently in studies using risk adjustment.

For example, a 2014 study reviewed 142 provider profiling reports (for 115 hospitals and 27 physicians) and assessed whether each report specified the comparison methods used [54]. Although only six of the 142 included no information regarding their assessment method, the level of detail varied widely, e.g., regarding the designation of the risk adjustment methods used [54]. To increase transparency, reliability and overall credibility, methods should be stated clearly, with a particular focus on between-provider variance [54]. This value impacts rankability. As it indicates "what part of the variation between the crude hospital [or physician] effects is due to unexplained differences as opposed to uncertainty" [55], it should always be indicated in provider profiling.

Additionally, the current measurement system, which typically yields very positive results, indicating virtually no differences between providers, undermines quality improvement. This study provides evidence that such low variance results not from uniformly high performance, but from insufficient sensitivity to detect differences between providers.

When performance and quality of care cannot be accurately assessed, indicators for quality improvement remain hidden. This dissertation does not entirely solve the problem of low between-provider variance in PCC-related performance assessments, but draws attention to the problem, which is serious. With the application of various advanced analytical approaches, i.e., calculating ICC1 values and visualizing empirical Bayes Estimates, as well as providing calculated and visualized 95% confidence intervals, the lack of between-provider variance and the resulting uncertainty of any calculations based on them becomes clear. Until more efficient techniques can be found for indicating provider profiling results, these analytical tools have to be the new default.

#### Patient preferences as predictor variable

To differentiate more clearly between low- and high-performing providers, while incorporating patient preference information in the assessment process, a concept originally designed to simplify user feedback and spur innovation in business contexts was adapted. The result, a two-point scale (range: 0 (not so important) to 1 (very important)), alloweding to include each patient preference as a predictor variable. This provided two major benefits: crucial information regarding imbalances between patients' preferences and their perceptions of the care they received; and useful between-provider variances.

Including patient preferences as predictors in analyses indicated how fully clinicians were actually observing PCC's central concepts, i.e., providing care in consideration not only of patients' needs, but of their preferences. Moving away from the tradition of approaching patients with some variation of "What is the matter with you?" clinicians can adopt the motto, "What matters to you?" [56, 57]. This new perspective invites partnerships where, depending on their preferences, patients can play more or less active roles in their care while receiving coaching from the clinicians [56].

For research, this motto can be implemented in two ways. The first is by combining patient ratings of PCC with their preferences for all relevant care aspects. Regarding the concept of patient satisfaction, a 2002 systematic review noted critically that only 20% of studies assessing patient satisfaction also include data on patient expectations [58]. Similar claims can be made for PCC surveys: no commonly used instruments assess patient preferences. As noted above, to the best of the knowledge, this was the first multi-center study to assess the relationship between patient preferences and PCC perceptions. By identifying gaps between the two, it raises concerns as to how fully hospital PCC practices actually meet patient requirements. Furthermore, with some refinements, the method used to identify the differences offers a clear reflection of improvement potential on hospital units.

The second way to address the motto of "what matters to you?" is focussed on the survey development process. The key is the inclusion of the patient throughout the entire development process. For example, focus groups with patients, either using a storytelling approach or fictive case studies, are sources of valuable information. At the moment, patient reported experience measures (PREMs) (e.g., the HCAHPS and NHS surveys) are commonly used to assess patient related outcomes from the patient perspective. While not yet designed to measure PCC, these have been implemented in practice for performance assessment, provider profiling and quality improvement [59].

However, PREMs are currently developed and designed entirely by clinicians and researchers, with little or no patient involvement. A recent scoping review noted that in over one-fourth of its nearly 190 included studies, no patients were involved in the development of patient-reported outcome measures [60]. Nearly 60% of the studies involved patients in item development, most often in focus groups and interviews [60]. To test for comprehensibility, only half of the included studies used cognitive interviews or other methods involving patients [60]. Still, the review noted that not a single included study involved patients in determining which outcome should be measured [60]. This supports the position that outcome assessments such as the HCAHPS and the NHS survey do not address elements important to patients.

## 7.2 Strenghts and limitations of methods

This dissertation has three notable strengths:

The Match<sup>RN</sup> study allowed a stable setting for refined measurement, making it possible to revise and improve measurements, as well as to examine the success of new components within the same setting and sample. In addition, a high response rate from Match<sup>RN</sup>'s large national sample, which represented all three Swiss language regions, provided a large and robust sample.

The application of state-of-the-art analytical approaches benefited this dissertation tremendously. To produce a detailed depiction, the multi-level structure was an obvious but useful choice. Generalized linear mixed models facilitated examination of the associations between variables (Chapter 4 and Chapter 6) on various levels. Also, mixed effect models were used in Chapter 5 to determine ICC1 and ICC2 values. Comparison of these and visualized empirical Bayes Estimates allowed a comprehensive evaluation of the between-provider variance. Finally, methodological flexibility allowed the adaptation and extremely effective use of techniques originating in economics and evolutionary biology.

However,  $Match^{RN}$  and this dissertation share four limitations regarding design, methodology and analyses. First, even with two time points for data collection,  $Match^{RN}$  remains a time-series cross-sectional study, because individual results cannot be followed; this precludes causal inferences. While rather broad generic measurements were appropriate for this study's bird's-eye-view perspective, assessments of specific phenomena also lack the detail necessary to be considered comprehensive. For example, to assess work environment factors more comprehensively, the assessment of teamwork and interprofessional collaboration could be done. Third, although the questionnaire was tested in all three language versions and adopted following feedback from patients, health literacy was not examined, resulting in unanswered survey questions. As is common in patient experience surveys, this study had a somewhat high rate of missing responses [61-63]. In addition to the provision of detailed instructions to the respondents, the use of simpler language in the survey questionnaire, with the aim of matching lower patient literacy levels, would likely have reduced the incidence of omissions [61]. Fourth, PCC must be developed as a cooperative effort between hospital staff and patients [64, 65]. Arguably, this research did not focus adequately on this co-operative aspect.

### 7.3 Implications for practise

Because PCC is a multidimensional construct provided in culturally and contextually diverse health care settings for heterogeneous patient groups, its measurement is challenging [6, 13]. Despite the recent emphasis on providing PCC, few hospital managers, practitioners and researchers evidently have fully recognized the complexity of its provision. For example, before attempting to implement PCC, factors on the micro and meso levels involving both leaders and care team members [9, 66] must be adjusted. This requires the full support of all relevant policy makers (i.e., macro-level actors).

When it is finally implemented on the micro level, care teams need to understand and respond to their patients' preferences regarding all relevant aspects of care. Regarding communication, for example, not only a lack of clear communication, but the provision of information not attuned to a patient's needs and preferences represents a failure of PCC [7, 66, 67]. Correcting such knowledge gaps requires a multi-step approach. First, hospital staff have to be trained in PCC communication and delivery of information, as well as patient engagement, involvement and empowerment. This preparation has to be included in the standard undergraduate training of health care professionals including nurses, physicians, therapeutic and rehabilitation practitioners, then regularly refreshed with continuing education [13].

Of primary importance, PCC demands forming a partnership with the patient, beginning with the question, "What matters to you?" [10, 56, 57]. This places the clinicians in a coaching role intended both to support cooperation between patients and their care teams and to engage them, in accordance with their preferences, in their own care [10, 56, 65]. Putting this principle into practice is a challenging goal. Engagement includes (1) providing all relevant information to the patient; (2) involving the patient in care processes by asking for their preferences and needs; and (3) building a partnership with the patient with shared leadership regarding treatment and care decisions [68].

As noted above, improvements to micro-level practices often require changes to meso-level structures, i.e., micro-level needs often drive meso-level changes. For example, to provide a high level of knowledge regarding PCC tools such as patient-centred communication or relationship building skills for health professionals, hospital managers can offer continuous education opportunities. Further, to enable health professionals to work with their patients in the context of a PCC culture, meso-level work environment factors need to be considered – in this case, strong leadership and adequate staffing and resources [11, 13, 15, 16]. Regarding resource and staffing adequacy, both objective measures, i.e., nurse-patient ratios, and subjective factors, i.e., nurse perceptions of sufficient resources, have to be adequate [11].

Further, to systematically identify patients' preferences and needs throughout their hospital stay, researchers from Sweden's Centre for Person-Centred Care in Gothenburg have suggested establishing individual narratives [69]. This would involve nurses working with patients individually to fill out daily joint bedside shift reports. As well as offering an opportunity to examine and discuss patient needs, this would encourage discussion of any new issues. Another possibility would be a coaching approach. Considering the importance of teamwork to the provision of PCC, Korner et al.'s study of the concept of team coaching highlighted its usefulness [70]. Naturally, technological pathways are also available to assist in PCC implementation. It might be argued, for example, that recognizing patients as full partners in their care processes would include giving them joint access to their electronic health records. This should be feasible in all health care systems. The discussion of Jane Barnsteiner et al. support giving patients not only the opportunity to monitor their care but also the sense that their understanding and participation are valued [12]. Wherever PCC is provided, though, its provision demands that all involved stakeholders have adequate levels of resources, training and commitment. This includes macro-level actors, many of whose decisions and policies currently depend on provider However, as this dissertation shows, owing to methodological weaknesses, profiling. profiling is unreliable, showing few or no significant differences in actual PCC delivery.

Rather than confirming an actual lack of significant differences between providers, then, this dissertation's findings indicate that the measurement instruments and data analyses currently used in provider profiling lack the sensitivity to distinguish meaningful differences in care provision. Therefore, pending the implementation of reliable measurement of provider performance regarding PCC, hospital managers, health care policymakers and other stakeholders should regard provider profiling results with extreme caution.

### 7.4 Implications for reserach

While this dissertation project is complete, further research will be necessary in at least two directions: to expand the understanding of PCC's measurement, especially regarding the inclusion of patient preferences in analyses of delivery levels; and to explore the possibility of its continuous improvement via Berwick's proposed pathways of change and selection. Several research considerations are recommended. First, given the diversity and complexity of health care systems [71], gathering input at every step from all relevant stakeholders via a mixture of both qualitative and quantitative methods is desirable. For example, at the stage of data collection, questionnaire surveys deliver more generalized (and generalizable) information compared to direct personal comments; focus groups yield more detailed statements, enabling a more comprehensive view. Both approaches will be necessary to address issues in PCC measurement, e.g., ceiling effects. Also, both to ascertain each patient's response to the question of "What matters to you" [57] and to use the results to differentiate between providers' performance, researchers must focus on increasing their instruments' sensitivity, e.g., by making questionnaire items as understandable as possible to all patients.

To deal with the ceiling effects that result from predominantly positive ratings, both strength-orientated and deficit-orientated approaches should be applied to hospital experience assessments. For example, in addition to asking about "what runs well", items could ask "what did not run well". An incremental approach incorporating a combination of methodologies will likely lead to steady improvement in PCC measurement. Another approach to the assessment of "things that run not well" during a hospital stay could be the storytelling approach [72]. Here, the interviewer can ask detailed questions to receive a deeper understanding and capture small but critical observations. Besides the questionnaire's item topics, its answer options can be reworked with the support of patients to increase their sensitivity and assess les pronounced differences.

Overall, the omission of patient preferences from analyses of PCC provision represents a major missed opportunity. The influence of these preferences as PCC predictor variables requires further investigation. To fulfill the basic requirements of PCC, patient preferences and needs have to be first requested, then assessed in ways that avoid guesswork or potential misconceptions [2]. As many patients may have trouble articulating these points, in-depth interviews or patient stories offer insights into both preferences and their potential associations.

Assuming the inclusion of patient preferences in the assessment of PCC, those preferences also need to be included in the analyses, i.e., in risk adjustment processes. Further studies will be necessary to tackle uncertainties regarding which predictor variables are actually significant to the assessment of PCC levels and to analyses of inter-provider differences [73-76]. To avoid misinterpretations of methods and results, reports should comply with reporting guidelines, which recommend supplying both crude and risk-adjusted values [40, 52, 53]. This includes the most common hospital (size, ownership status, types of hospital) and patient characteristics (age, gender, educational level); however, Chapter 6 clearly indicates the tremendous influence of patient preferences as an additional predictor variable. Another central issue regarding PCC measurement is provider profiling and its capacity to distinguish fairly between providers. To ensure fair and reliable comparison between providers in profiling methods, the item validity needs to be examined in relation to profiling purposes in every study dealing with between-provider differentiation. Therefore, the development of provider profiling methods should be further elaborated. The calculation of the between-provider variance should be a standard step in any analyses of items' suitability for provider profiling. As described in Chapter 5, this would allow constant quality improvement via the selection pathway.

To enable quality improvement through selection, though, research first needs to focus on the change quality improvement pathway. This demands the assessment of hospital and unit factors (e.g., staffing and resource adequacy, teamwork, interprofessional collaboration and readiness for change (an important factor for the implementation of any new practise [13, 77]), to examine their associations with patient perceptions of PCC.

Engaging fully in (i.e., "living") PCC culture requires the identification of barriers impeding change commitment on the micro level and change efficacy on the meso level.

Overcoming these allows PCC to be implemented and improved [13]. Once units are ready to develop PCC, teamwork and interprofessional collaboration become the cornerstones of its provision [13, 70, 78]. These correlate positively with patient satisfaction [30-32]. Other enablers and beneficial processes and structures can be examined via focus group interviews with various stakeholders, e.g., health care professionals, hospital administrators and health care policymakers, with the aim of implementing the results in cross-sectional multi-centre surveys. Further exploration of enablers and barriers will facilitate intervention development.

Additionally, a deeper understanding is needed of patient-provider partnerships and how processes have to be structured to enable them. For example, to investigate the influence of nursing rounds or effective discharge planning on PCC levels from the very beginning of admission, survey studies could be conducted in various hospital service lines across a range of patient populations [66, 79]. Direct observations and/or focus group interviews with nurses would disseminate direct care deliverers' insights regarding process of daily care, while providing information about improvement potential and options. Findings could then be confirmed and elaborated via more generalised multi-center questionnaire surveys.

#### 7.5 Implications for policy

As summarized in the previous sections, this dissertation's contents and results focus on three main issues concerning PCC: (a) how structures and processes can be arranged to improve PCC, i.e., improvement through change; (b) how provider profiling methods need to improve to make improvement through selection feasible; and (c) how PCC measurement itself can be improved. The results have several implications for policy.

Although the need for cost savings in health care is indicated, if these involve personnel reductions, they will likely come at the expense of PCC. Care according to PCC principles requires sufficient human resources-meaning not simply recommended nurse to patient ratios but also positive nurse perceptions of staffing adequacy (Chapter 4). In addition, for health care professionals to successfully live the PCC culture, they need training and continuing education. On the micro level, this includes topics such as communication and relationship building; meso level administrators can be trained in leadership for higher positions [13, 80]. And although teamwork and interprofessional collaboration are already covered by training, they require a specific focus and joint education of all involved care professionals. To support and facilitate partnerships, policy can promote information technology applications [80, 81].

Another essential element for full PCC provision is the engagement of patients, who must perceive themselves as equal stakeholders both in research and in their own care. Policy can foster and boost this by defining it as a criterion for allocation of research funding [13, 23]. Micro- and meso-level factors both contribute to macro-level policy outcomes such as benchmarking and accreditation. However, as noted above, due to inadequate between-provider variance, current provider profiling approaches regarding PCC items are limited in their contribution to quality improvement [82]. Lacking sufficient variances, it is impossible to reliably rank providers, increasing the likelihood of allocating false incentives. That is, while the high levels of PCC assessed via current instruments and methods are widely used for the allocation of funding to reward and incentivize quality improvement, data measurement deficits prevent any reliable analysis of patient perceptions in relation to PCC practice. Until this gap is bridged via a reworking of the relevant survey content and methodology, policymakers need to be aware that any incentives based on faulty survey data will motivate hospitals to improve their patient experience scores, not the quality of care they actually provide [76]. Developing meaningful policies that avoid such errors will require policymakers working with researchers in the field to develop a PCC measurement structure reliable and valid enough to fulfil the needs of provider profiling [80].

# 7.6 Conclusion

Patient-centred care is not "nice to have" but a "must". Its core dimensions form a basis for the provision of quality of care and improvement of outcomes at all levels of health care [9, 13]. However, due partly to the complexity of the PCC construct and partly to the heterogeneity of health care settings in which it must be applied, practitioners, hospital administrators and policymakers face challenges in its provision. This dissertation explores opportunities to improve PCC provision both through micro- and meso-level changes and through improvements to measurement methods used in current empirical studies and provider performance comparisons.

At the meso level, nurse work environment shortfalls, especially deficiencies in resources and staffing, contribute to the micro-level outcome of implicit rationing of nursing care. Where this occurs, it correlates negatively with patient perceptions of care quality. Most notably, the analyses of patient hospital care ratings, which commonly play a decisive role in provider profiling and related decisions, a major methodological failure were observed inherent to all widely-used PCC measures, including those most often used for profiling. In the context of the treatment of patients as unique individuals, PCC has to measure not only how competently care tasks are performed, but also how fully those tasks match the patients personal needs and preferences. Nevertheless, none of these instruments include any measurement of patient preferences. Therefore, none can realistically determine how well those preferences are fulfilled.

As it is currently used, then, this indicates that provider profiling is based on unreliable methodology. To correct this problem, further robust study is urgently needed regarding both standard measures and individualized questions formulated to capture specific patients' preferences and needs. One promising framework for such work is Berwick's conceptualization of quality improvement via the two pathways of change and selection. After enacting the necessary macro-, meso- and micro-level changes, a two-scale PCC instrument could be developed to fairly, efficiently and effectively measure both patients' preferences and on their perceptions of the care they received.

To evaluate between-provider variances and to examine the usable of PCC items fully, the combination of calculated (i.e., ICC1 values) and visualised (e.g., plotted empirical Bayes Estimates) approaches offers state of the art results. The comparison of patients' preference data with their perceptions of PCC levels improves measurement of PCC not only by increasing between-provider variance but by providing a reliable reflection of improvement potential, thereby enabling long-term selection-based change.

### 7.7 References

- 1. Berwick DM, James B, Coye MJ. Connections between quality measurement and improvement. Med Care. 2003;41(1 Suppl):I30-8.
- Gerteis M, Edgman-Levitan, Daley J, Delbanco TL. Introduction: Medicine and Health from the Patient's Perspective. Through the Patient's Eyes: understanding and promoting Patient-Centered Care. San Francisco: Jossy-Bass Publishers; 1991. p. 1-13.
- 3. Institute of Medicine. Improving the 21st-century Health Care System. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A new Health System for the 21st Century. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.2001. p. 39-54.
- Zill JM, Scholl I, Harter M, Dirmaier J. Which Dimensions of Patient-Centeredness Matter? - Results of a Web-Based Expert Delphi Survey. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0141978.
- 5. Koberich S, Farin E. A systematic review of instruments measuring patients' perceptions of patient-centred nursing care. Nurs Inq. 2015;22(2):106-20.
- 6. De Silva D. Helping measure person-centred care: A review of evidence about commonly used approaches and tools used to help measure person-centred care. 2014.
- Dwamena F, Holmes-Rovner M, Gaulden CM, Jorgenson S, Sadigh G, Sikorskii A, Lewin S, Smith RC, Coffey J, Olomu A. Interventions for providers to promote a patient-centred approach in clinical consultations. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;12:CD003267.
- McMillan SS, Kendall E, Sav A, King MA, Whitty JA, Kelly F, Wheeler AJ. Patient-centered approaches to health care: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Med Care Res Rev. 2013;70(6):567-96.
- 9. Frampton S, Guastello S, Brady C, Hale M, Horowitz S, Bennett Smith S, Stone S. Patient-Centered Care Improvement Guide. Camden: Picker Institute; 2008.
- Batalden M, Batalden P, Margolis P, Seid M, Armstrong G, Opipari-Arrigan L, Hartung H. Coproduction of healthcare service. BMJ Qual Saf. 2016;25(7):509-17.
- Bachnick S, Ausserhofer D, Baernholdt M, Simon M, Match<sup>RN</sup> reserach roup. Patient-centered care, nurse work environment and implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals: A cross-sectional multi-center study. Int J Nurs Stud. 2017;81:98-106.
- 12. Barnsteiner Jane, Disch Joanne, Walton M. Person and Family Centered Care. Indianapolis; IN, USA: Sigma Theta Tau International; 2014.
- 13. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Patientcentred care: Improving quality and safety through partnerships with patients and consumers. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2011.
- 14. Gabutti I, Mascia D, Cicchetti A. Exploring "patient-centered" hospitals: a systematic review to understand change. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):364.
- 15. Bokhour BG, Fix GM, Mueller NM, Barker AM, Lavela SL, Hill JN, Solomon JL, Lukas CV. How can healthcare organizations implement patient-centered care? Examining a large-scale cultural transformation. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):168.
- Fazio S, Pace D, Flinner J, Kallmyer B. The Fundamentals of Person-Centered Care for Individuals With Dementia. Gerontologist. 2018;58(suppl 1):S10-S9.
- 17. Guastello S, Waxman D. The Role of Leadership in Creating a Culture of Patient and Family-Centered Care. http://www.planetree.org/; 2016.

- 18. NHS. Sharing the vision Healthcare Leadership Model dimensions http://www.leadershipacademy.nhs.uk/.
- 19. Martin J, McCormack B, Fitzsimons D, Spirig R. The importance of inspiring a shared vision. International Practice Development Journal. 2014;4(2).
- 20. Twigg D, McCullough K. Nurse retention: a review of strategies to create and enhance positive practice environments in clinical settings. Int J Nurs Stud. 2014;51(1):85-92.
- 21. Pearson A, Laschinger H, Porritt K, Jordan Z, Tucker D, Long L. Comprehensive systematic review of evidence on developing and sustaining nursing leadership that fosters a healthy work environment in healthcare. Int J Evid Based Healthc. 2007;5(2):208-53.
- 22. McAlearney A. Leadership development in healthcare: a qualitative study. Journal of Organizational Behavior. 2006;27(7).
- 23. Jolly K, Darby M, Price A. Embedding public and patient involvement in research. In: opinion TB, editor. 2018.
- 24. Martin J, McCormack B, Fitzsimons D, Spirig R. Evaluation of a clinical leadership programme for nurse leaders. J Nurs Manag. 2012;20(1):72-80.
- 25. McGillis Hall L, Doran D, Baker GR, Pink GH, Sidani S, O'Brien-Pallas L, Donner GJ. Nurse staffing models as predictors of patient outcomes. Med Care. 2003;41(9):1096-109.
- 26. Wong CA, Cummings GG, Ducharme L. The relationship between nursing leadership and patient outcomes: a systematic review update. J Nurs Manag. 2013;21(5):709-24.
- 27. Smeds Alenius L, Tishelman C, Runesdotter S, Lindqvist R. Staffing and resource adequacy strongly related to RNs' assessment of patient safety: a national study of RNs working in acute-care hospitals in Sweden. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(3):242-9.
- 28. Aiken LH, Clarke SP, Sloane DM, Sochalski J, Silber JH. Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. JAMA. 2002;288(16):1987-93.
- 29. Schubert M, Clarke SP, Aiken LH, de Geest S. Associations between rationing of nursing care and inpatient mortality in Swiss hospitals. Int J Qual Health Care. 2012;24(3):230-8.
- 30. San Martin-Rodriguez L, D'Amour D, Leduc N. Outcomes of interprofessional collaboration for hospitalized cancer patients. Cancer Nurs. 2008;31(2):E18-27.
- 31. Wen J, Schulman KA. Can team-based care improve patient satisfaction? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2014;9(7):e100603.
- 32. Meterko M, Mohr DC, Young GJ. Teamwork culture and patient satisfaction in hospitals. Med Care. 2004;42(5):492-8.
- 33. Desmedt M, De Geest S, Schubert M, Schwendimann R, Ausserhofer D. A multi-method study on the quality of the nurse work environment in acute-care hospitals: positioning Switzerland in the Magnet hospital research. Swiss Med Wkly. 2012;142:w13733.
- 34. Aiken LH, Sloane DM, Bruyneel L, Van den Heede K, Sermeus W, Consortium RC. Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):143-53.
- 35. Ausserhofer D, Zander B, Busse R, Schubert M, De Geest S, Rafferty AM, Ball, J, Scott A, Kinnunen J, Heinen M, Sjetne IS, Moreno-Casbas T, Kozka M, Lindqvist R, Diomidous M, Bruyneel L, Sermeus W, Aiken LH, Schwendimann R, RN4Cast

consortium. Prevalence, patterns and predictors of nursing care left undone in European hospitals: results from the multicountry cross-sectional RN4CAST study. BMJ Qual Saf. 2014;23(2):126-35.

- 36. Schubert M, Ausserhofer D, Desmedt M, Schwendimann R, Lesaffre E, Li B, De Geest S. Levels and correlates of implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals–a cross sectional study. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(2):230-9.
- 37. Carthon JM, Lasater KB, Sloane DM, Kutney-Lee A. The quality of hospital work environments and missed nursing care is linked to heart failure readmissions: a cross-sectional study of US hospitals. BMJ Qual Saf. 2015;24(4):255-63.
- 38. Jones TL, Hamilton P, Murry N. Unfinished nursing care, missed care, and implicitly rationed care: State of the science review. Int J Nurs Stud. 2015;52(6):1121-37.
- HCAHPS Initiative. HCAHPS Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems [01.02.2016]. Available from: http://www.hcahpsonline. org/.
- 40. NHS England Analytical Team (Medical and Nursing Analytical Unit). Statistical bulletin: Overall Patient Experience Scores; 2016 Adult Inpatient Survey Update. 2017. p. https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/2017/05/31/ overall-patient-experience-scores-6-adult-inpatient-survey-update/.
- 41. Beattie M, Murphy DJ, Atherton I, Lauder W. Instruments to measure patient experience of healthcare quality in hospitals: a systematic review. Syst Rev. 2015;4:97.
- 42. Garratt A, Solheim E, Danielsen K. National and Cross-National Surveys of Patient Experiences: A Structured Review. NIPH Methods Resources. Oslo, Norway2008.
- 43. Raleigh V, Sizmur S, Tian Y, Thompson J. Impact of case-mix on comparisons of patient-reported experience in NHS acute hospital trusts in England. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2015;20(2):92-9.
- 44. Nationaler Verein für Qualitätsentwicklung in Spitälern und Kliniken (ANQ). Patientenzufriedenheit Akutsomatik, Erwachsene Nationaler Vergleichsbericht Messung 2016. Bern; 2017.
- 45. Rau J. Medicare Penalizes Group Of 751 Hospitals For Patient Injuries. The Washington Post. 2017;Sect. Health & Science.
- 46. Smith PC, Mossialos E, Papanicolas I, Leatherman S. Principles of performance measurement. In: P. C. Smith, E. Mossialos, I. Papanicolas, Leatherman S, editors. Performance Measurement for Health System Improvement: Experiences, Challenges and Prospects. Cambridge University Press; 2010. p. 3-24.
- 47. Greenfield D, Braithwaite J. Developing the evidence base for accreditation of healthcare organisations: a call for transparency and innovation. Qual Saf Health Care. 2009;18(3):162-3.
- 48. Thurneysen N, Plank T, Boes S. Analysis of costs and benefits of a re-accreditation of a Swiss acute care hospital. BMC Safety in Health. 2016;2(2).
- 49. Brubakk K, Vist GE, Bukholm G, Barach P, Tjomsland O. A systematic review of hospital accreditation: the challenges of measuring complex intervention effects. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015;15:280.
- 50. Abel GA, Saunders CL, Lyratzopoulos G. Cancer patient experience, hospital performance and case mix: evidence from England. Future oncology (London, England). 2014;10(9):1589-98.
- 51. Orindi BO, Lesaffre E, Sermeus W, Bruyneel L. Impact of Cross-level Measurement Noninvariance on Hospital Rankings Based on Patient Experiences With Care in 7 European Countries. Med Care. 2016.

- 52. AHRQ. CAHPS Hospital Survey (H-CAHPS) [Available from: https://www.cahps. ahrq.gov/.
- 53. Swiss Academy of Medical Sciences (SAMS). Erhebung, Analyse und Veröffentlichung von Daten über die medizinische Behandlungsqualität: Empfehlungen [The collection, analysis and publication of data about quality of medical treatment: recommendations]. Schweizerische Arztezeitung. 2009;90(26/27):1044-54.
- 54. Damberg CL, Hyman D, France J. Do public reports of provider performance make their data and methods available and accessible? Med Care Res Rev. 2014;71(5 Suppl):81S-96S.
- 55. van Dishoeck AM, Lingsma HF, Mackenbach JP, Steyerberg EW. Random variation and rankability of hospitals using outcome indicators. BMJ Qual Saf. 2011;20(10):869-74.
- 56. Barry MJ, Edgman-Levitan S. Shared decision making-pinnacle of patient-centered care. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(9):780-1.
- 57. Institute for Health Care Improvement. What Matters. 2018.
- 58. Crow R, Gage H, Hampson S, Hart J, Kimber A, Storey L, Thomas H. The measurement of satisfaction with healthcare: implications for practice from a systematic review of the literature. Health Technol Assess. 2002;6(32):1-244.
- 59. Glenngard AH, Anell A. Process measures or patient reported experience measures (PREMs) for comparing performance across providers? A study of measures related to access and continuity in Swedish primary care. Prim Health Care Res Dev. 2018;19(1):23-32.
- 60. Wiering B, de Boer D, Delnoij D. Patient involvement in the development of patient-reported outcome measures: a scoping review. Health Expect. 2017;20(1):11-23.
- Coulter A, Locock L, Ziebland S, Calabrese J. Collecting data on patient experience is not enough. BMJ. 2014;348(g2225).
- 62. Bryant M. Patient satisfaction survey data undermined by low response rate, study finds. Healthcare Dive2017.
- 63. Sitzia J, Wood N. Response rate in patient satisfaction research: an analysis of 210 published studies. Int J Qual Health Care. 1998;10(4):311-7.
- 64. Institute for Health Care Improvement. Co-Production: A New Lens on Patient-Centered Care. 2016.
- 65. The challenge of co-production: How equal partnerships between professionals and the public are crucial to improving public services [Internet]. 2009.
- 66. Aboumatar HJ, Chang BH, Al Danaf J, Shaear M, Namuyinga R, Elumalai S, Marsteller JA, Pronovost PJ. Promising Practices for Achieving Patient-centered Hospital Care: A National Study of High-performing US Hospitals. Med Care. 2015;53(9):758-67.
- 67. Ferranti DE, Makoul G, Forth VE, Rauworth J, Lee J, Williams MV. Assessing patient perceptions of hospitalist communication skills using the Communication Assessment Tool (CAT). J Hosp Med. 2010;5(9):522-7.
- 68. Carman KL, Workman TA. Engaging patients and consumers in research evidence: Applying the conceptual model of patient and family engagement. Patient Educ Couns. 2017;100(1):25-9.
- 69. Pirhonen L, Olofsson EH, Fors A, Ekman I, Bolin K. Effects of person-centred care on health outcomes-A randomized controlled trial in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Health Policy. 2017;121(2):169-79.

- 70. Korner M, Luzay L, Plewnia A, Becker S, Rundel M, Zimmermann L, Muller C. A cluster-randomized controlled study to evaluate a team coaching concept for improving teamwork and patient-centeredness in rehabilitation teams. PLoS One. 2017;12(7):e0180171.
- 71. Braithwaite J. Changing how we think about healthcare improvement. BMJ. 2018;361:k2014.
- 72. The Health Fundation. The power of storytelling. 2016.
- 73. Elliott MN, Zaslavsky AM, Goldstein E, Lehrman W, Hambarsoomians K, Beckett MK, Giordano L. Effects of survey mode, patient mix, and nonresponse on CAHPS hospital survey scores. Health Serv Res. 2009;44(2 Pt 1):501-18.
- 74. Mazurenko O, Collum T, Ferdinand A, Menachemi N. Predictors of Hospital Patient Satisfaction as Measured by HCAHPS: A Systematic Review. J Healthc Manag. 2017;62(4):272-83.
- 75. Bruyneel L, Tambuyzer E, Coeckelberghs E, De Wachter D, Sermeus W, De Ridder D, Ramaekers D, Weeghmans I, Vanhaecht K. New Instrument to Measure Hospital Patient Experiences in Flanders. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14(11).
- 76. Cleary PD. Evolving Concepts of Patient-Centered Care and the Assessment of Patient Care Experiences: Optimism and Opposition. J Health Polit Policy Law. 2016;41(4):675-96.
- 77. Shea CM, Jacobs SR, Esserman DA, Bruce K, Weiner BJ. Organizational readiness for implementing change: a psychometric assessment of a new measure. Implement Sci. 2014;9:7.
- 78. Leasure EL, Jones RR, Meade LB, Sanger MI, Thomas KG, Tilden VP, Bowen JL, Warm EJ. There is no "i" in teamwork in the patient-centered medical home: defining teamwork competencies for academic practice. Acad Med. 2013;88(5):585-92.
- 79. O'Leary KJ, Killarney A, Hansen LO, Jones S, Malladi M, Marks K, Shah H. Effect of patient-centred bedside rounds on hospitalised patients' decision control, activation and satisfaction with care. BMJ Qual Saf. 2016;25(12):921-8.
- 80. Epstein RM, Fiscella K, Lesser CS, Stange KC. Why the nation needs a policy push on patient-centered health care. Health Aff (Millwood). 2010;29(8):1489-95.
- 81. Fiorio CV, Gorli M, Verzillo S. Evaluating organizational change in health care: the patient-centered hospital model. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):95.
- 82. Bachnick S, Ausserhofer D, Baernholdt M, Simon M. (2018). Insufficient variance between providers with patient experience surveys: methodological considerations and findings from a Swiss multicenter study. To be submitted to Medical care
- 83. Anhang Price R, Elliott MN, Zaslavsky AM, Hays RD, Lehrman WG, Rybowski L, Edgman-Levitan S, Cleary PD. Examining the role of patient experience surveys in measuring health care quality. Med Care Res Rev. 2014;71(5):522-54.
- 84. Saunders CL, Elliott MN, Lyratzopoulos G, Abel GA. Beyond the ecological fallacy: potential problems when studying healthcare organisations. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine. 2016a; 109(3):92-7.
- 85. Ding VY, Hubbard RA, Rutter CM, Simon GE. Assessing the accuracy of profiling methods for identifying top providers: performance of mental health care providers. Health Serv Outcomes Res Methodol. 2013;13(1):1-17.
- 86. Mendelson A, Kondo K, Damberg C, Low A, Motuapuaka M, Freeman M, O'Neil M, Relevo R, Kansagara D. The Effects of Pay-for-Performance Programs on Health, Health Care Use, and Processes of Care: A Systematic Review. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(5):341-53.